C 337



## UNIVERSITATIS OULUENSIS

Jouko Leinonen

# ANALYSIS OF OFDMA RESOURCE ALLOCATION WITH LIMITED FEEDBACK

FACULTY OF TECHNOLOGY, DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL AND INFORMATION ENGINEERING, UNIVERSITY OF OULU



#### ACTA UNIVERSITATIS OULUENSIS C Technica 337

**JOUKO LEINONEN** 

#### ANALYSIS OF OFDMA RESOURCE ALLOCATION WITH LIMITED FEEDBACK

Academic dissertation to be presented with the assent of the Faculty of Technology of the University of Oulu for public defence in Raahensali (Auditorium L10), Linnanmaa, on 2 October 2009, at 12 noon

OULUN YLIOPISTO, OULU 2009

Copyright © 2009 Acta Univ. Oul. C 337, 2009

Supervised by Professor Markku Juntti

Reviewed by Professor Mohamed-Slim Alouini Professor Aria Nosratinia

ISBN 978-951-42-9245-3 (Paperback) ISBN 978-951-42-9246-0 (PDF) http://herkules.oulu.fi/isbn9789514292460/ ISSN 0355-3213 (Printed) ISSN 1796-2226 (Online) http://herkules.oulu.fi/issn03553213/

Cover design Raimo Ahonen

OULU UNIVERSITY PRESS OULU 2009

#### Leinonen, Jouko, Analysis of OFDMA resource allocation with limited feedback.

Faculty of Technology, Department of Electrical and Information Engineering, University of Oulu, P.O.Box 4500, FI-90014 University of Oulu, Finland *Acta Univ. Oul. C 337, 2009* 

Oulu, Finland

#### Abstract

Radio link adaptation, multiple antenna techniques, relaying methods and dynamic radio resource assignment are among the key methods used to improve the performance of wireless communication networks. Opportunistic resource block (RB) allocation in downlink orthogonal frequency division multiple access (OFDMA) with limited feedback is considered. The spectral efficiency analysis of multiuser OFDMA with imperfect feedback path, multiple antenna methods and relaying methods is a particular focus.

The analysis is derived for best-*M* feedback methods and for a RB-wise signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) quantization based feedback strategy. Practical resource fair round robin (RR) allocation is assumed at the RB assignment, i.e., each user gets the same portion of the available RBs. The fading of each RB is modelled to be independent and identically distributed (IID). This assumption enabled a communication theoretic approach for the performance evaluation of OFDMA systems The event probabilities related to the considered OFDMA systems are presented so that the feedback bit error probability (BEP) is a parameter in the expressions. The performance expressions are derived for the BEP in the case of binary phase-shift keying (BPSK) modulation and single antenna methods. Asymptotic BEP behavior is considered for the best-*M* feedback methods when the mean SNR tends to infinity. The system outage capacity and the average system spectral efficiency are investigated in the case of multiple antenna schemes. Antenna selection and space-time block coding (STBC) are considered in multiple antenna schemes when each RB is allocated exclusively to a single user. Simple OFDMA-spatial division multiple access (SDMA) schemes are also analyzed when zero forcing (ZF) detection is assumed at the receiver.

Relay enhanced dynamic OFDMA with single and multiple antennas at each end is considered for fixed infrastructure amplify-and-forward (AF) relaying methods. The average spectral efficiency has been derived for the best-M and RB-wise one bit feedback schemes, antenna selection and STBC methods.

The best choice for a combination of multiple antenna scheme and feedback strategy depends on several system parameters. The proposed analytical tools enable easy evaluation of the performance of the investigated schemes with different system parameters. The fundamental properties of the combinations of feedback and multiple antenna schemes are extensively studied through numerical examples. The results also demonstrate that the analytical results with idealized IID fading assumption are close to those obtained via simulations in a practical frequency selective channel when RBs are selected properly. Dynamic RB allocation is attractive for practical OFDMA systems since significant performance gain over random allocation can be achieved with a practical allocation principle, very low feedback overhead and an imperfect feedback channel.

*Keywords:* bit error probability, capacity, limited feedback, MIMO, OFDMA, resource allocation

To my family

### Preface

The research work presented in this thesis has been carried out at the Centre for Wireless Communications (CWC), University of Oulu, Finland. I want to thank the management of the CWC for the provided opportunity to do research work in an enjoyable and inspiring working environment. Especially, I wish to thank Professor Matti Latva-aho, Dr. Ian Opperman, and Lic. Tech. Ari Pouttu who were the directors of the CWC during my postgraduate studies.

I would like to thank my supervisor Professor Markku Juntti. He supervised my Master thesis and convinced me to continue towards a Doctoral thesis. His invaluable guidance, encouragement and scientific support during postgraduate research are gratefully acknowledged. I was very fortunate when Dr. Jyri Hämäläinen, who is currently a Professor in Helsinki University of Technology, proposed to me an interesting and novel idea to develop analytical expressions for practical multiuser multicarrier systems. Without his ideas, advising and criticism, this thesis would not have been completed, and I wish to thank him for that. I would like to thank the reviewers of the thesis, Professor Mohammed-Slim Alouini from Texas A&M University at Qatar, Qatar, and Professor Aria Nosratinia from The University of Texas at Dallas, the United States. Their comments have significantly improved the quality of the thesis. Samuli Kangaslampi is acknowledged for proofreading the manuscript.

Most of the work related to the postgraduate studies has been carried out in the Future Radio Access (FUTURA) and Packet Access Networks with Flexible Spectrum Use (PANU) projects. I would like to thank the project managers of these projects, Professor Jari Iinatti, Dr. Kari Hooli, Dr. Kimmo Kansanen, and Dr. Pekka Pirinen. The projects were funded by Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation (Tekes), Nokia, Nokia Siemens Networks, Elektrobit, Finnish Defence Forces and they are acknowledged. My postgraduate studies and research were also funded by Infotech Oulu Graduate School and I would like to thank them for this support. My thanks also go to Tekniikan edistämissäätiö and the HPY research foundation for their personal grants.

I express my gratitude to past and present colleagues at the CWC and the Telecommunication laboratory for creating a comfortable working atmosphere. In particular, I would like to address my thanks to Mehdi Bennis, Jarkko Huusko, Juha Karjalainen, Heikki Karvonen, Dr. Esa Kunnari, Dr. Zexian Li, Professor Tadashi Matsumoto, Harri Pennanen, Henri Puska, Mikko Vehkaperä, Dr. Antti Tölli, for being office mate or providing fruitful collaboration and refreshing discussions. I also highly appreciate the administrative support given by, Elina Komminaho, Laila Kuhalampi, Sari Luukkonen, Hanna Saarela, Jari Sillanpää, and Tero Suutari.

Finally, I express my deepest gratitude to my mother Seija and father Pertti for the invaluable love and support they have given me throughout my life. I want to thank my brothers and sisters for their diverse lifelong help and friendship. I thank also my family-in-law for their help in childcare and for the nice moments we have shared. I owe my dearest thanks to my wife Jaana for her unbounded love and support, and to our sons Eljas, Auku and Oliver for joy they have provided to our lives.

Oulu, September 3, 2009

Jouko Leinonen

## Symbols and abbreviations

$(\cdot)!$	factorial of the argument
$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$	set of the available RBs
C	average capacity
$C_{\rm ZYX}$	average capacity for the case abbreviated by XYZ
$C_n^{\text{XYZ}}$	average capacity of the $n$ th best RB for the case abbreviated by
10	XYZ
$C_{P_{out}}$	outage capacity for outage probability $P_{\rm out}$
$E_1$	exponential integral
$f_{\rm XYZ}$	PDF of SNR for the case abbreviated by XYZ
F <sub>XYZ</sub>	CDF of SNR for the case abbreviated by XYZ
$F_{M\pm}^{XYZ}$	CDF of SNR of $N - M$ worst RBs for the case abbreviated by
M +	XYZ
$q(\gamma)$	bit error probability of uncoded BPSK in non-fading AWGN
	channel SNR value $\gamma$
$\mathcal{I}$	integral
k	user index
K	number of users
M	number of indicated RBs in the best- $M$ method
$\mathcal{M}$	performance measure
$\mathcal{M}_{ ext{RB}}$	performance measure of a RB
$\mathcal{M}_n^{ ext{RB}}$	performance measure of the $n$ th best RB
$\mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{Q}}$	performance measure for the quantization
$\mathcal{M}_l^{\mathrm{Q}}$	performance measure for the $l$ th quantization region
$\mathcal{M}_{M+}^{ m XYZ}$	cumulative performance of the $N - M$ worst RBs for the case
·	abbreviated by XYZ
n	index of the $n$ th best RB
N	number of RBs
$N_e$	number of bit errors in the received feedback word
$N_t$	number of transmit antennas
$N_r$	number of receive antennas
$N_b$	number of RBs in sub-block
$p_{ASE}$	probability of antenna selection error
$p_b$	feedback bit error probability
$p_e(N_e)$	probability of $N_e$ bit errors
$p_{\mathrm{E}i}$	probability of the event $Ei$
$p_n(k, p_b)$	probability that the $k$ th user gets the $n$ th best RB when feedback
0	BEP is $p_b$
$p_l^{\sim}$	cumulative of SNR of $l$ th quantization region
$p_{\gamma_1}$	probability that SNR exceeds the threshold $\gamma_1$

$p_{M+}(k)$	probability that the kth user gets the nth best RB and $M < n < N$ .
$p_w$	error probability of best- $M$ feedback word
$P_n(\bar{\gamma})$	BEP of the <i>n</i> th best RB with mean SNR $\bar{\gamma}$
$P_{\rm out}$	outage probability
$P_{ m Q}(ar{\gamma},k)$	BEP for the kth user with $\bar{\gamma}$
$\mathcal{P}_m(x)$	the $m$ th order Poisson distribution
$q(k, p_b)$	probability that the kth user gets a RB which is among the M best RBs when feedback BEP is $p_b$
$q_l(k,p_b)$	probability that the SNR of the allocated channel for the $k$ th user belongs to the $l$ th quantization region when feedback bit error probability is $p_b$
$q^{(R_i)}$	probability that the $i$ th is applied
$q_l^{(R_i)}$	probability that the SNR of the allocated RB belongs to the $l$ th quantization region when the $i$ th is used
$q_l^{(R_i,\mathrm{C})}$	probability that the SNR of allocated RB belongs to the $l$ th quantization region when the $i$ th is used and antenna selection is correct
$q_l^{(R_i, \mathrm{E})}$	probability that the SNR of allocated RB belongs to the $l$ th quantization region when the $i$ th is used and antenna selection is erroneous
$\mathcal{R}$	Root of the polynomial equation
$\mathcal{R}_i$	Root of the polynomial equation in the case that the <i>i</i> th rate is used
$w_i$	correct feedback word indicating the $i{\rm th}$ best RB in the Obest- $M$ scheme
$\hat{w}_i$	received feedback word $w_i$
$\mathcal{W}$	correct feedback word in the Obest- $M$ scheme
$\hat{\mathcal{W}}$	received feedback word $\mathcal{W}$
$\gamma$	instantaneous SNR
$\bar{\gamma}$	mean SNR
$\gamma_{ m AS}$	SNR at the best antenna
$\gamma_l$	th quantization boundary in SNR quantization
$\gamma_{\rm out}(P_{\rm out})$	SING value which provides outage probability $P_{\rm out}$
$\gamma_{\rm T}$	threshold value $CND$ value which provides outcome probability $D$ , on the condition
$\gamma_{\mathrm{out},i}(P_{\mathrm{out}})$	SNR value which provides outage probability $P_{out}$ on the condition
$\Gamma(m)$	Commo function
$\mathbf{L}(x)$	Gamma function for the <i>l</i> th quantization region
ν ¢	normalized threshold value in quantization
ς	normanzeu tillesnolu value ill qualitization
$2\mathrm{G}$	second generation cellular systems

3G	third generation cellular systems
3GPP	Third Generation Partnership Project
AF	amplify-and-forward
AS	antenna selection
ASE	antenna selection error
AWGN	additive white Gaussian noise
BEP	bit error probability
BPSK	binary phase-shift keying
BS	base station
CDF	cumulative distribution function
CP	cyclic prefix
CQI	channel quality indicator
CSI	channel state information
DF	decode-and-forward
DZF	system with diversity transmission and zero forcing detection
EDGE	Enhanced Data Rates for GSM Evolution
$\mathbf{EF}$	estimate-and-forward
ETSI	European Telecommunications Standards Institute
FDD	frequency division duplex
$\mathbf{FFT}$	fast Fourier transform
GPRS	generalized packet radio service
$\operatorname{GSM}$	Global System for Mobile communications
HIPERLAN	High Performance Radio LAN
HSPA	high-speed packet access
IEEE	Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers
IID	independent and identically distributed
IMT-A	international mobile telecommunications-advanced
IP	internet protocol
ISI	inter-symbol interference
ITU	International Telecommunication Union
LAN	local area network
LOS	line-of-sight
LTE	long-term evolution
MIMO	multiple-input multiple-output
MISO	multiple-input single-output
Obest-M	ordered best- $M$
MRC	maximum ratio combining
OFDM	orthogonal frequency division multiplexing
OFDMA	orthogonal frequency division multiple access
PAPR	peak-to-average power ratio
QoS	quality of service
PDF	probability density function
QoS	quality of service

RA	random allocation
RB	resource block
RBAS	resource block-wise antenna selection
RR	Round Robin
$\mathbf{RF}$	radio frequency
SBB-M	sub-block based best- $M$
SDMA	space division multiple access
SINR	signal-to-interference-plus-noise ratio
SIMO	single-input multiple-ouput
SISO	single-input single-ouput
SNR	signal-to-noise ratio
STBC	space-time block coding
TDD	time division duplex
TBAS	threshold based antenna selection
UMTS	universal mobile telecommunication system
VoIP	voice over internet protocol
WiMAX	worldwide interoperability for microwave access
WLAN	wireless local-area network
$\mathbf{ZF}$	zero forcing

## Contents

Preface 7			
Sy	Symbols and abbreviations		
Co	Contents 1		
1	Inti	roduction 15	
	1.1	Background	
		1.1.1 Wireless system development	
		1.1.2 High data rate techniques	
		1.1.3 Opportunistic multi-user communication with limited feedback 19	
		1.1.4 Frequency allocation in OFDMA systems	
	1.2	Motivation and scope of the research	
	1.3	Outline of the thesis	
	1.4	Author's contributions to the publications	
<b>2</b>	$\mathbf{Sys}$	tem model 25	
	2.1	Assumptions	
	2.2	Rate adaptation and performance measures	
	2.3	Feedback strategies	
		2.3.1 Best- <i>M</i> feedback method29	
		2.3.2 SNR quantization	
	2.4	Multiple antenna methods	
		2.4.1 Space-time block coding	
		2.4.2 Antenna selection	
		2.4.3 Space-division multiple access	
3	Ana	alysis for the SNR quantization 35	
	3.1	Probabilities of quantization levels	
	3.2	BEP analysis in SISO systems	
	3.3	Outage capacity analysis	
		3.3.1 Constant rate transmission	
		3.3.2 Variable rate transmission	
		3.3.3 Antenna selection	
	3.4	Average capacity analysis	
		3.4.1 Space-time block coding	
		3.4.2 Antenna selection	
		3.4.3 Space-division multiple access	
	3.5	Numerical examples	
		3.5.1 BEP performance	
		3.5.2 Outage capacity	
		3.5.3 Average spectral efficiency with optimal rate adaptation $\dots 55$	
	3.6	Space division multiple access	
3.7 Summ		Summary	

4	Analysis of the best- <i>M</i> feedback method				
	4.1	Event probabilities	62		
	4.2	BEP analysis in SISO systems	65		
		4.2.1 Asymptotic BEP analysis	66		
	4.3	Outage capacity analysis	.67		
		4.3.1 Constant rate transmission	. 67		
		4.3.2 Variable rate transmission	. 68		
		4.3.3 Antenna selection	70		
	4.4	Average capacity analysis	. 71		
		4.4.1 Space-time block coding	.72		
		4.4.2 Antenna selection	73		
		4.4.3 Space-division multiple access	75		
	4.5	Numerical examples	76		
		4.5.1 SISO communications	. 76		
		4.5.2 Asymptotic BEP analysis	81		
		4.5.3 Multiple antenna methods	. 81		
	4.6	Summary	. 87		
<b>5</b>	Ana	alysis of relay enhanced link	89		
	5.1	System model	89		
	5.2	Resource block wise one bit feedback scheme	.90		
	5.3	Best- $M$ feedback scheme	. 93		
	5.4	Numerical examples	96		
	5.5	Summary	. 98		
6	Cor	nparisons	99		
	6.1	Best- $M$ versus RB-wise one bit SNR quantization	.99		
	6.2	Analysis versus practical fading channel	103		
7	Cor	nclusion 1	.07		
	7.1	Summary	107		
	7.2	Future work 1	109		
Re	References 11				
A	Appendices 117				

## 1 Introduction

Wireless communication networks have globalized rapidly in recent years. In addition to traditional voice services, the fast development of wireless communication has created the opportunity to provide new services through radio devices. The next generation networks should provide a large range of new data and multimedia services with low costs, high reliability and quality. However, the available radio spectrum is scarce, energy consumption is limited and the wireless channel is dispersive by nature. Consequently, system designers have faced challenging problems to meet the frequently increasing expectations of wireless communications. Several sophisticated features have been adopted for the existing networks, but still further development for future wireless systems is needed. This thesis concentrates on the analysis of some key methods developed to improve the spectral efficiency of wireless communications. The analysis of the resource allocation in multiuser orthogonal frequency division multiple access (OFDMA) with practical feedback information is of particular interest. The advanced features of the physical layer such as rate adaptation and multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) techniques as well as relaying methods are included in the studied opportunistic OFDMA systems.

#### 1.1 Background

The background of the technologies and prior work related to the research of thesis are described in this section. Section 1.1.1 presents the trend of wireless communication development. Section 1.1.2 presents some sophisticated wireless technologies which are commonly used to improve the performance of wireless systems and they are also included in the analyzed systems. Literature review of opportunistic multiuser systems with limited feedback is presented in Section 1.1.3. Section 1.1.4 includes an extensive review of literature related to resource allocation and feedback design in OFDMA communication. The most relevant prior work for the thesis, i.e., articles considering analytical performance evaluation on OFDMA with limited feedback, are also summarized in Section 1.1.4.

#### 1.1.1 Wireless system development

The conventional fixed-mode systems, e.g., the second generation (2G) Global System for Mobile communications (GSM) standard [11], are designed to provide voice and low data rate services for all channel conditions. Such traditional design of wireless systems has focused on increasing reliability so that communication succeeds also in the worst channel conditions [12], [13]. The evolutions of the 2G

systems, namely the Generalized Packet Radio Service (GPRS) and Enhanced Data Rates for GSM Evolution (EDGE), are able to provide higher data rates and new services such as web browsing and they are in active commercial use [14, 15]. A step towards high data rates is taken in the development of the third generation (3G) Universal Mobile Telecommunication System (UMTS) [16] and in its evolution High Speed Packet Access (HSPA) [17]. Several advanced features of wireless communications are already in commercial use in 3G systems including, e.g., link adaptation and dynamic radio resource management (RRM). In addition, wireless local area networks (WLAN), e.g., the family of 802.11 [18] standards developed by Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) and high performance radio LAN (HiperLAN) [19] developed by the European Telecommunications Standard Institute (ETSI), are widely used to provide wireless internet connections through communication techniques beyond 2G networks.

In addition to limited transmission power and channel dispersion, the major problem for commercial communication systems is still the fact that the same spectrum has to be shared with an increasing number of high data rate services. More efficient solutions for the physical, link and network layers are needed to fulfil the further increased requirements of the future wireless communication systems. Thus, the long term evolution (LTE) of the 3G [20, 21] standard and IEEE 802.16 worldwide interoperability for microwave access (WiMAX) standards [22, 23] are under development. The aim of evolved 3G systems is to improve the spectral efficiency and the flexible sharing of wide bandwidth, enabling services comparable with wireline technologies for numerous users. Link adaptation, orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (OFDM), and multiple antenna methods are among the key physical layer solutions in most of the evolved 3G systems like in 3G LTE and the WiMAX standards. In the link layer, the dynamic allocation of time-frequency-space resource blocks (RBs) is one of the most prominent technical solutions to efficiently guarantee the desired quality of service (QoS) of multiple users. Thus, adaptive multiuser MIMO-OFDMA transmission is a candidate also for the systems beyond 3G [24]. The requirements of wireless systems beyond 3G are included in the International Mobile Telecommunications-Advanced (IMT-A) concept created by the International Telecommunication Unit (ITU). The third generation partnership project (3GPP) is developing LTE-Advanced [25] to meet the requirements of the IMT-A.

Wireless relaying can be used to provide further diversity or extension for the coverage area [26, 27]. Relay nodes (RN)s can be employed to mitigate channel attenuation, dividing the long direct link into two short hops. Thus, the combination of adaptive multiuser MIMO-OFDMA methods and relaying tackles the most important problems of wireless communications. These techniques are also considered in this thesis and they are briefly described in the next section.

#### 1.1.2 High data rate techniques

An efficient approach to mitigate the detrimental effects of a dispersive channel is to adapt the transmission parameters according to the instantaneous channel conditions [28, 29]. Channel capacity with channel side information has been presented for the different power and rate adaptation cases in [30]. Further spectral efficiency results in [31, 32] show the efficiency of power and rate adaptation also with a practical set of modulation alphabets. Adaptive modulation provides a significant performance enhancement also with fixed transmission power [32, 33]. The mechanism behind the adaptive modulation is simple. If the channel is in a deep fade, a low order modulation is employed or the transmission is even truncated in this channel for a while. In the case of good channel conditions, a high data rate can be achieved employing high order modulation. Similarly, code rate and transmission power can be optimized according to the instantaneous channel conditions and the required transmission rate and reliability. Adaptive modulation and coding is a crucial part of all evolved communication standards.

OFDM is an attractive method for wireless wide bandwidth systems since it provides several benefits such as inter-symbol interference (ISI) mitigation with simple receiver implementation and the possibility for frequency domain adaptation among others [34]. The bandwidth is divided into several overlapping and orthogonal flat fading narrow band sub-carriers [35, 36]. By using a cyclic prefix, ISI can be simply mitigated at the cost of small degradation of the system efficiency [36]. In a frequency selective channel, subcarriers experience different channel attenuation and the transmission parameters can be adjusted in the frequency domain resulting in high spectral efficiency [34, 37–39]. On the other hand, OFDM transmission leads to a high peak-to-average power ratio (PAPR) requiring an expensive power amplifier. The sensitivity to frequency synchronization errors is another drawback of the OFDM [36]. Thus, OFDM techniques are most feasible for downlink communications with the current cost of the radio frequency (RF) equipment.

Techniques with multiple antennas at the transmitter and receiver, which are commonly referred to as MIMO methods have been recently developed and studied extensively in order to improve the performance of the wireless communications [15, 40–44]. Multiple antenna methods improve performance without extra bandwidth making them very attractive for future wireless systems. However, increased costs and space requirements due to the added antennas, RF parts and multidimensional signal processing slow down the implementation of MIMO methods especially in small handsets [15]. Multiple antennas can be used to increase the spectral efficiency through multiplexing, to provide reliability through diversity or to cancel interference through smart antennas [15]. Remarkable MIMO channel capacity gain has been presented in [42–44]. If the transmitter has full MIMO channel knowledge, eigenbeamforming and waterfilling are efficient methods to increase spectral efficiency [15, 42]. Diversity transmission through space-time coding [45–47] can be employed as an alternative for data multiplexing to improve performance in a fading channel. Transmit diversity methods can be employed also in the case of a single antenna receiver or highly correlated channels. Multiple antenna transmission can also be designed to provide simultaneous diversity and multiplexing gain [46, 48]. In OFDM, multiple antenna transmission can be adjusted individually for the sub-bands<sup>1</sup> [49–51]. Channel aware adaptive MIMO-OFDM provides an efficient air interface and it has been selected for several standards like long term evolution (LTE) of the third generation (3G) standard [21] and the WiMAX standard [22].

In many practical systems, the channel knowledge is based on the feedback information from the receiver to the transmitter [31, 52]. Thus, the research on antenna selection [53–56] and beamforming [57, 58] based on the limited feedback information has received a lot of attention in the research community. Feedback design is a challenging problem especially in MIMO-OFDM systems due to the huge number of varying channels [59].

Wireless relaying has been known already for thirty years as a method to enhance the performance of the wireless communication [60]. However, the recent developments in radio technology have created opportunities to implement low cost terminals, enabling wireless relaying for future standards. Consequently, relaying methods have been extensively studied. Relay nodes can be used to extend the coverage area of a cell or to provide cooperative diversity through collaborating relay terminals [61–64]. Several variations of the amplify-andforward (AF), decode-and-forward (DF) relaying protocols have been presented in [64]. The estimate and forward (EF) relay strategy has also been proposed [60]. Resource allocation in OFDMA relay links is an exiting research problem due to the number of different links between the source and the destination [65, 66]. Optimization of resource allocation in OFDMA based relay links is still under investigation and there are numerous open problems, several of those in the area of feedback design [52].

So called multiuser diversity provides a further degree-of-freedom that can be utilized in multiuser communication systems. When the number of users is large, there is a high probability that at least one of the users has a strong channel [67]. The basic principle to maximize multiuser diversity is to transmit to the users with the largest receive signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) at each channel resulting in maximum system throughout [13, 15, 67]. Dynamic channel assignment for multiple users can be performed in the time [67], frequency [68] and space [13, 15] domains for both the uplink and downlink directions. The allocation which maximizes the system throughput may lead to an unfair situation where users close to the base station occupy most of the channels whereas users at the cell edge are dropped at the scheduling. Thus, a practical approach for scheduler design is to maximize multiuser diversity subject to fairness and QoS constraints. Thus, joint link adaptation and dynamic subchannel assignment with different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A sub-band may consist of several adjacent correlated sub-carriers.

QoS constraints have been shown to provide high spectral efficiency, see, e.g., [68–72]. On the other hand, multiple shared channels increase signaling overhead, which reduces the efficiency of dynamic OFDMA but it is still advantageous with a proper system design [73]. Another problem in multiuser systems is the feedback design [52, 74] which is considered in the next two sections.

#### 1.1.3 Opportunistic multi-user communication with limited feedback

Channel knowledge is required to perform link adaptation and resource assignment. Full CSI has usually been justified for a time division duplex (TDD) technique based on channel reciprocity at the uplink and downlink [39]. However, the channel is not reciprocal in frequency division duplex (FDD) based communication, and also in practical TDD systems full CSI is difficult to obtain. Thus, the channel state has to be estimated at the receiver and some information about the channel conditions is conveyed to the transmitter via a feedback channel. The more feedback information is available at the adaptive transmission, the larger system capacity can be provided. However, it is desirable to minimize the feedback information per user in order to keep the overhead of feedback at an acceptable level. The feedback design is a crucial problem especially in multiuser MIMO-OFDMA systems due to the huge number of available channels.

Recent studies show that significant multiuser diversity gain can be achieved by utilizing only limited feedback information in resource management. Thorough presentations of limited feedback in wireless communications can be found in [52, 74]. Single channel multiuser systems with quantized feedback and a perfect feedback channel have been considered, e.g., in [75–79]. Interestingly, one bit feedback per user can provide nearly maximum sum-rate capacity with a properly defined threshold when the number of users is large [78, 79]. Multiuser diversity and threshold optimization with an imperfect estimator and a noisy feedback channel have been addressed in [80].

The feedback load of multiuser systems can be reduced by using selective multiuser diversity [81–83] where only the users enjoying a good channel state send a feedback message. Inspired by the selective multiuser diversity, the opportunistic feedback strategy has been studied to reduce the total feedback overhead of multiple users [84–86]. In the opportunistic feedback strategy, users send their feedback information in a random access manner via a common shared feedback channel if their received SNR values exceed a predefined threshold. The feedback words of different users may collide in the feedback channel due to the contention based feedback transmission, resulting in a loss of system performance. However, the bandwidth of the feedback channel is limited despite of the number of users. Opportunistic feedback provides a good tradeoff between the system performance and the feedback overhead [81].

In a multiuser system with limited feedback, MIMO methods are usually

based on either opportunistic beamforming [58, 87, 88], antenna selection [89, 90] or a fixed set of the precoding vectors [52, 91]. Opportunistic beamforming can also be used for space-division multiple-access (SDMA) [92]. Precoder design for SDMA with limited feedback is a difficult problem, because users' signals cannot be perfectly orthogonalized due to the quantization errors [52]. In the case of a multiple antenna receiver, per antenna scheduling without precoding can provide multiuser diversity gain [91, 93, 94]. Opportunistic feedback for the per antenna scheduling without precoding has been shown to provide a relatively high sum rate with a significantly reduced feedback overhead [86].

The analytical performance evaluation of multiuser diversity in single carrier systems with outdated feedback information has been investigated in [95, 96]. The study of multiuser diversity with imperfect feedback has been analyzed in [97]. The closed form capacity results for scheduling with imperfect one bit feedback and with perfect antenna selection have been presented in [98]. A sum rate analysis with a one bit feedback scheme and a large number of users has been presented in [77, 78]

#### 1.1.4 Frequency allocation in OFDMA systems

A major problem in many practical OFDMA systems arises from the fact that the total feedback load increases with the number of users and subchannels. Thus, frequency assignment with limited feedback has received remarkable attention in the research communities [69, 79, 99–106, 106–110, 110–114]. Properly designed low rate feedback schemes provide substantial performance improvement through dynamic resource allocation. For example, the practical system level study in [104] demonstrates 40 % allocation gain with a channel quality indicator (CQI) word size of only 30 bits per user in a 10 MHz LTE system.

Most limited feedback schemes for OFDMA frequency allocation fall into two categories. The feedback information of the first category is based on the quantized SNR that is conveyed from the receiver to the transmitter from each RB. Usually, RB-wise one bit quantization is applied to attain low feedback load [79, 100, 104]. A one bit feedback per time-frequency resource block (RB) can yield a high sum-rate provided that the threshold is properly selected and the number of users is large [79, 100, 101]. In addition, suboptimal sub-carrier-wise 1-bit quantization is shown to provide good performance when transmission power is minimized and channels are assigned subject to rate constraints [107]. A study of the optimization of channel quantization and resource allocation to minimize transmit power subject to rate requirements and limited quantization regions has been presented in [108, 109]. The joint space-frequency domain RB allocation with RB-wise one bit feedback information has been studied also through practical LTE system level simulations [93]. The results in [93] indicate that the performance loss by the use of RB-wise one bit feedback instead of full feedback per RB is only f 7 % to 10 %. The drawback to the RB-wise feedback

method is the fact that the feedback overhead grows linearly with the increasing number of RBs. The feedback overhead can be reduced by using a group-wise one bit strategy, in which one bit indicates the quality of the group of channels [106, 110].

In the second category, the feedback overhead is reduced using a so called best-M feedback strategy, where only the indices of the M best channels are conveyed to the scheduler [69, 104]<sup>2</sup>. The best-M methods have been considered also for practical networks such as LTE [115]. Moreover, the total feedback load can be controlled using an adaptive and selective feedback scheme which takes the number of users, fairness and the QoS into account [69]. A QoS aware best-M feedback method has been considered also for MIMO systems [116]. Toufik, Kim and Koutouris [99, 111] proposed different feedback schemes for the opportunistic MIMO-OFDMA systems, where the subcarriers are divided into groups and the best or a set of the best-M feedback scheme is the fact that it is sensitive to feedback bit errors [104]. For that reason, Kovacs *et al.* [112] use a bit mask to indicate the M best channels resulting in the same overhead as in the RB-wise one bit feedback scheme.

In a practical frequency selective channel, the feedback load can be reduced by utilizing channel correlation in the design of the quantization [117], [118]. Feedback reduction in [117] is based on delta-modulation. In [118], users feed back the channel quality of only a sub-set of their strongest subcarriers, and channel correlation has been utilized to estimate the SNR for subcarriers around the indicated ones.

In order to reduce the total feedback load caused by multiple users, opportunistic feedback has been examined also for OFDMA systems in several studies [105, 106, 110, 113, 114]. The authors in [105, 113, 114] have studied weighted sum rate maximization for sequential and contention based feedback schemes.

Most of the research on relay enhanced OFDMA networks concentrates on the resource allocation problems with full CSI [65, 66]. Kim and Lee [119] show that the feedback information formed based on the second hop SNR is more advantageous than that of end-to-end SNR based feedback when fixed AF relaying and a single carrier system is considered. Siriwongparat *et al.* [120] address the outage probability of a cooperative protocol for multiuser OFDM networks with incremental relaying. Kaneko *et al.* [121, 122] have proposed resource a allocation method which reduces feedback overhead notably compared to full CSI. Closed form<sup>3</sup> capacity results for OFDMA with AF relaying and sub carrier pairing have been presented by Riihonen *et al.* [123]. The study in [123] assumes that the allocation is fixed at the second hop and channel knowledge is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>There is no unique term for this feedback scheme. For example, selective feedback [69] and max-n feedback [103] refers to the same method as best-M does. The best-M name is most common and it is adopted also for this thesis.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ Closed form solutions means that the capacity results are presented in terms of well known integrals, such as the exponential integral and gamma function.

available at the RN.

Analytical performance evaluation has been presented mostly for the SNR quantization based feedback schemes. The asymptotic sum rate capacity behavior of the one bit feedback scheme has been considered in [79, 124]. The sum rate capacity of the OFDMA system with practical frequency selective fading and the RB-wise one bit feedback scheme has been expressed in [100] for a large number of users. An asymptotic sum rate evaluation approach has been presented also in [106, 110] where the contention based and sequential feedback schemes are compared when the number of subchannels and the number of users tend to infinity with a fixed ratio. In addition, the characterizations of optimal group size and threshold for a sequential scheme have been investigated in [106, 110]. Closed-form expressions for the average throughput of multi-user OFDMA with uncoded adaptive modulation and imperfect feedback have been presented in [102]. The feedback scheme in [102] is based on RB-wise SNR quantization and the effects of practical aspects such as the CQI estimation error, outdated CQI and feedback errors are considered. Interesting theoretical throughput results for an SDMA-OFDMA system with RB-wise CQI have been addressed in [91], where the analysis takes proportional fair scheduling and practical modulation and coding into account. The analytical results in [91] are close to those obtained with the more practical system level simulations. Furthermore, the results in [91] indicate that SDMA-OFDMA provides significant throughput gain in a micro cell environment also without precoding. Jung et al. [103] have presented the system average capacity with maximum SNR allocation and the best-Mfeedback method. A closed form capacity formula for the case of best-1 feedback information, an SISO link and perfect feedback has been provided in [103]. Moreover, an upper bound and an approximate performance for the case of the best-M information with M > 1 have been presented in [103].

#### 1.2 Motivation and scope of the research

So far, most of the studies considering OFDMA with limited feedback concentrate on the design of feedback strategies and subchannel allocation via computer simulations. Analytical performance evaluation has received less attention. Furthermore, most of the analytical studies address asymptotic sum rate analysis with a large number of users, SISO communications and perfect feedback. The theoretical analysis of multiuser OFDMA with limited feedback includes several open research issues including, e.g., closed form bit error probability (BEP) and spectral efficiency results when the numbers of users and channels are fixed, the characterization of the impact that an imperfect feedback path has on system performance, a practical subchannel allocation method, multiple antenna schemes and relaying techniques. This thesis addresses those issues. The aim is to contribute new useful analytical tools which enable easy performance evaluation of limited feedback based OFDMA systems of practical interest. In practical communication systems, feedback bit errors impact crucially on the performance of the multiuser systems based on limited feedback. Thus, a particular focus in the thesis is to propose analytical expressions including feedback BEP among the parameters. In addition to the reliability of the feedback path, the performance of the dynamic multiuser communications based on a particular feedback scheme depends on several system parameters such as the number of sub-channels and the number of users. Theoretical results are helpful in order to study the fundamental properties of different feedback based MIMO-OFDMA schemes. In this thesis, the research problems are the following

- Derivation of the BEP and spectral efficiency performance measures for MIMO-OFDMA systems with limited feedback. Best-*M* feedback information or SNR quantization based feedback information is used at the RB allocation. MIMO methods include open loop STBC, transmit antenna selection as well as simple SDMA.
- Derivation of the probabilities related to the practical RB allocation method and the considered feedback methods so that the feedback BEP is a parameter in the proposed expressions.
- Extension of the investigated results for the fixed infra-structure AF relay enhanced OFDMA link.
- Examination of the fundamental properties of the considered feedback methods and multiple antenna methods through numerical examples based on the proposed analysis.

#### 1.3 Outline of the thesis

Chapter 2 presents a system model for limited feedback based multiuser OFDMA communications. The assumptions for the analytical performance evaluation approach are described. The basic mechanism behind the best-M feedback schemes and the RB-wise SNR quantization based feedback information are explained. In addition, the considered multiple antenna schemes are presented.

Chapter 3 investigates the performance of OFDMA with the feedback information based on SNR quantization. Performance expressions are derived for the system outage capacity and average system spectral efficiency to measure the performance of the MIMO-OFDMA schemes. Antenna selection and STBC are considered in multiple antenna schemes when each RB is allocated exclusively to a single user. Further, simple OFDMA-SDMA schemes are analyzed when zero forcing (ZF) detection is assumed at the receiver. The BEP performance formulas are presented for the case of BPSK and an SISO link.

Chapter 4 considers the RB allocation in OFDMA according to the best-M feedback schemes. The same MIMO schemes as well as performance measures considered in Chapter 3 are analyzed also for the best-M feedback schemes. Furthermore, asymptotic BEP behavior when the mean SNR tends to infinity is

considered for the best-M feedback methods.

Chapter 5 focuses on a relay enhanced OFDMA link. Spectral efficiency analysis has been derived for infrastructure based AF relaying when the best-Mor RB-wise one bit feedback information for RB allocation and optimal rate adaptation are assumed. The analysis has been investigated for the SISO channel as well as for the case of multiple antenna nodes. AS and STBC are applied at the relay node (RN).

Chapter 6 presents numerical examples that compares combinations of feedback strategy and MIMO methods. Furthermore, analytical results with an idealized channel model are compared to those obtained via computer simulations with a practical frequency selective fading channel.

Chapter 7 concludes the thesis. The content of the thesis is summarized. Future research work related to the presented analysis and open research problems on OFDMA networks with limited feedback are proposed.

#### 1.4 Author's contributions to the publications

The thesis is based in part on one journal paper [1], eight conference publications [2–5, 7–10], and one journal manuscript [6] to be submitted. The author has had the main responsibility in performing analysis, writing all the publications, generating numerical examples and running the simulations. Section II in [1] has been partly written by the second author and the asymptotic BEP analysis has also been contributed in cooperation with the second author. The analysis in Section III B in [6] was also developed in cooperation with the second author. Furthermore, the second author in [1–9] who is also the third author in [10] has provided ideas as well as guidance for the analysis and writing process. Sections I and II in [10] have been partly written by the second author. The last author has provided guidance, ideas and criticism during the writing process.

## 2 System model

The analysis considered in the thesis concentrates on the single cell multiuser system illustrated in Fig. 1. Downlink communication is considered so that the BS employs the adaptive multiuser transmission to users  $1, 2, \ldots, K$  according to the CQI information received from the uplink feedback channel.



Fig 1. Downlink multiuser communications in a single cell environment. Solid arrows represent downlink transmission to the K users and dashed lines illustrate uplink feedback transmission.

A block diagram of the link from the BS to the kth mobile user terminal is shown in Fig. 2. Each mobile terminal estimates the channel and sends an instantaneous feedback information for resource block allocation and link adaptation via the feedback channel. Resource blocks are allocated at the base station based on the received feedback word. The RB consists of several adjacent sub-carriers and consecutive time domain symbols. The feedback form depends on the feedback strategy, rate adaptation, and multiple antenna scheme used. After channel assignment, rate adaptation, transmitter side OFDM processing and spatial processing are applied.



Fig 2. The block diagram of the link between the BS and the *k*th user receiver.

#### 2.1 Assumptions

The aim is to analyze practical RB allocation and MIMO communications so that closed-form performance expressions are tractable. In order to achieve this goal the following assumptions regarding the general scheduling framework have been adopted:

- 1. Channel estimation is assumed to be perfect at the receiver.
- 2. The feedback word is uncoded and bit errors are uniformly distributed. Feedback BEP is  $p_b$  and it is known by the base station.
- 3. During an allocation time interval, an allocation queue of K users is formed in the transmitter and it grants a single RB to each of the K users from a pool of N resource blocks. RB consists of several adjacent sub-carriers and consecutive time domain symbols.
- 4. The number of admitted users for a resource block pool is controlled so that  $K \leq N$ .
- 5. Resource block assignment is fast when compared to channel coherence time, i.e., temporal feedback delay is neglected.
- 6. The resource blocks are of equal size and the channel is fully correlated inside a RB.

7. A Rayleigh fading channel is assumed so that the received SNR from each transmit antenna to each receive antenna admits independently and identically distributed (IID) exponential fading statistics for each RB. Thus, the probability density function (PDF) of the SNR is expressed as

$$f_{\rm R}(\gamma) = \frac{e^{-\gamma/\bar{\gamma}}}{\bar{\gamma}},\tag{1}$$

where  $\gamma$  is the SNR and  $\bar{\gamma}$  is the average received SNR. The corresponding cumulative density function of the SNR is of the form

$$F_{\rm R}(\gamma) = 1 - e^{-\gamma/\bar{\gamma}}.$$
(2)

8. The mean SNR  $\bar{\gamma}$  is known at the transmitter.

The third assumption means that the allocation is based on a practical round robin (RR) principle which is evidently not the best from the performance point of view but its clear benefit is the strict delay control and simplicity. There is no need for demanding real time computation. This RR allocation is also fair in the sense that each user gets a RB. Thus, system performance is not maximized as in greedy allocation. Fairness can be further improved by changing users' allocation queue position properly as the allocation queue is not formed according to the channel condition. Users may experience different mean SNR values. A good practical example service is the voice over internet protocol (VoIP). Furthermore, we note that the fifth assumption is valid for low-mobility users whose channel can be tracked by the base station by using feedback information.

The sixth assumption does not hold perfectly in practical frequency selective fading channels. However, the aim in system design is to select suitable RB size resulting in high correlation inside a RB because the same transmission mode is used for all symbols in the RB [38].

The seventh assumption is not fully true in any practical frequency selective channel. However, an idealized channel model enables an analytical performance evaluation approach. Thus, this assumption has been adopted in several studies [79, 102, 103, 105, 106, 113]. We also note that the performance of our idealized system provides a lower bound on the BEP and a higher bound on spectral efficiency for practical systems. Furthermore, simulation results in numerical examples show that the seventh assumption is approximately valid when the RBs are properly selected. Let us assume a wide bandwidth OFDMA system where it is possible to form pools of N uncorrelated time-frequency blocks provided that N is small compared to the total number of RBs. In such a system, groups of Kusers attached to each resource block pool may be formed. Finally, note that although RBs in pools are uncorrelated they may not admit IID statistics, since the mean received power may vary in frequency depending on the temporal channel profile. However, if users perform random hopping between pools, the impact of slightly different mean powers in different parts of the frequency band is diminishing.

#### 2.2 Rate adaptation and performance measures

Rate adaptation depends on the selected performance measure. In the case of the BEP performance measure, uncoded BPSK is always used and rate adaptation is not needed.

The outage capacity is the performance measure when the transmitter does not know the instantaneous received SNR [15]. However, the mean SNR is known at the base station and the transmission rate is adapted according to the mean SNR and the outage probability constraint. Thus, the rate adaptation follows the slowly varying large scale fading and path loss which define the mean SNR. The outage capacity for the Rayleigh fading channel is defined as

$$C_{P_{\text{out}}} = \log_2(1 + \gamma_{\text{out}}(P_{\text{out}})), \tag{3}$$

where  $\gamma_{\text{out}}(P_{\text{out}}) = -\bar{\gamma} \ln(1 - P_{\text{out}})$  provides the desired outage probability  $P_{\text{out}}$ [13]. The transmission rate can be chosen to be either constant irrespectively of the allocated RB or variable according to the available feedback information of the allocated RB. For example, assume now that the transmitter has one bit knowledge of the instantaneous SNR value so that it knows that the SNR is above or below a threshold  $\gamma_{\text{T}}$ . The higher rate is applied if  $\gamma > \gamma_{\text{T}}$  and the lower rate is applied otherwise. Now the outage capacity for the Rayleigh channel with one bit feedback information can be defined as

$$C_{P_{\text{out}}} = \sum_{i=1}^{2} \log_2(1 + \gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}})), \qquad (4)$$

where  $\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = F_{\text{R}}^{-1}(P_{\text{out}}|i)$  is the SNR value that provides the outage probability  $P_{\text{out}}$  on the condition that the *i*th rate is applied. The outage capacity study focuses on "variable rate" transmission since it outperforms "constant rate transmission"<sup>4</sup> with the same feedback overhead.

The average capacity measures system spectral efficiency when instantaneous and optimal rate adaptation is applied [30]. In this case, the RB allocation is performed first and then the optimal transmission rate is used for the allocated channel. It is assumed that the channel is fixed and flat inside the time-frequency RB. Furthermore, a RB is assumed to be long in the time domain so that the channel capacity  $\log_2(1 + \gamma)$  can be achieved during the transmission of the RB. The average capacity or the Shannon capacity without power adaptation, with transmitter and receiver side information, is of the form

$$C = \int_0^\infty f_{\rm RB}(\gamma) \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma, \tag{5}$$

 $<sup>^4</sup>$ Both the schemes vary the transmission rate according to the slow large scale fading. Variable rate transmission applies fast adaptation using the limited feedback information available at the transmitter.

where  $f_{\rm RB}(\gamma)$  is the PDF of the SNR of the RB [15, 30]. The capacity in (5) is the same as the channel capacity with receiver CSI [15, 125]. In the considered system, rate adaptation is needed because slow fading is assumed and the codeword cannot cover the fading. The feedback information for rate adaptation is assumed to be ideal and the further overhead is not taken into account. Optimal rate adaptation is widely used since it provides the achievable spectral efficiency of systems [79, 100, 101, 103, 126].

#### 2.3 Feedback strategies

#### 2.3.1 Best-M feedback method

Several variations of the so called best-M feedback algorithm have been considered. In all the best-M feedback methods, the basic principle is that the M best resource blocks are selected out of the total of N available resource blocks at the receiver. The information of only the M best RBs is only conveyed to the transmitter.

In the best-M scheme, the index which indicates the selected combination of the M best RBs is signaled back to the transmitter [104]. There are  $\binom{N}{M} =$ N!/M!(N-M)! different possible feedback words in the best-M feedback scheme. An example case is shown in Fig. 3, where N = 4 and M = 2. All possible RB combinations and corresponding feedback words are shown in Fig. 3 (b). Thus, the feedback method requires  $\lceil \log_2 (N!/(M!(N-M)!)) \rceil$  bits per user. In the allocation, a RB is randomly selected from the indicated pool if possible. If all the M best resource blocks have already been allocated to the previously scheduled users, a resource block is selected randomly from the available ones. Note that the instantaneous channel quality of the M best resource blocks is not assumed to be available at the transmitter.



Fig 3. Example of the best-M feedback schemes with N = 2 and M = 2. (a) Channel condition, i.e., the two best RBs are the second and the fourth RB. (b) Feedback word for the best-M scheme. (c) Feedback word for the SBB-M scheme. (d) Feedback word for the Obest-M scheme.

Robustness against feedback bit errors can be improved by using a modified best-M feedback strategy, namely, the sub-block based best-M (SBB-M) method. In the SBB-M feedback strategy, the available resource blocks are divided into sub-blocks. The number of the RBs in a sub-block is denoted by  $N_b$ . There are  $N/N_b$  sub-blocks provided that  $N_b < N$  and  $N_b$  is the same for each sub-block<sup>5</sup>. The best-M feedback word is formed individually for each sub-block. In Fig. 3 (c),  $N_b = 2$  and there are two sub-blocks. Thus, one bit is needed to inform the best RB of a sub-block in this case. Furthermore the feedback overhead is reduced compared to the best- $M_1$  word when the SBB- $M_2$  word indicates the  $M_1$  channels ( $M_2 < M_1$ ). Results for the SBB-M method can be easily derived from the results determined for the best-M method by the changing parameters.

Ordered best-M (OBest-M) means that each user individually conveys the indices of the M best resource blocks to the transmitter in a descending order, i.e., the index of the best resource block is signalled first. Fig. 3 (d) illustrates the example case of the Obest-2 feedback word. If a user holds the kth position in the allocation queue then it is possible that some or all of the indicated RBs are allocated to the previously scheduled k - 1 users. If some of the indicated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>This feedback strategy could also be formed so that  $N_b$  varies from one sub-block to another.

RBs are available, the best available one is selected. Otherwise, a RB is selected randomly from the available ones. The feedback load is  $M \cdot \lceil \log_2(N) \rceil$  bits per user. The link performance of an individual user strongly depends on its position in the allocation queue, especially if M is much smaller than N. The Obest-Mmethod is not usually used in OFDMA systems due to the higher feedback load than that of the conventional best-M method. Furthermore, the system analysis of Obest-M with imperfect feedback is straightforward but tedious. Therefore, the study focuses on the conventional best-M scheme and the SBB-M scheme.

#### 2.3.2 SNR quantization

RB-wise quantization of the SNR means that the SNR of each RB is monitored at the receiver and a feedback word is selected according to the predefined quantization. Fig. 4 illustrates the example case of the one bit quantization. The resulting bits are conveyed to the transmitter. At the transmitter, a RB for the kth user in the allocation queue is selected randomly from the set of the best available resource blocks. The feedback overhead is  $N \cdot \lceil \log_2(L+1) \rceil$  when the SNR is quantized into L + 1 regions. The drawback of the RB-wise feedback method is that the feedback overhead is prohibitive when the number of resource blocks is large. Thus, one bit feedback per resource block is commonly applied in OFDMA systems [79, 93, 100, 101].



Fig 4. The example of the RB-wise one bit quantization.

#### 2.4 Multiple antenna methods

In the considered single user MIMO methods, a time-frequency RB is allocated exclusively for a single user. STBC and antenna selection schemes are studied. For single user MIMO methods, the maximum number of the transmit and receive antennas are  $N_t = 2$  and  $N_r = 2$ , respectively. Maximum ratio combining (MRC) is applied at the receiver when  $N_r = 2$ . However, several proposed expressions are valid for arbitrary antenna configurations, but in some cases the limitation for  $N_t = N_r = 2$  enables closed form formulas.

#### 2.4.1 Space-time block coding

Conventional STBC is an attractive open loop multiple antenna scheme which offers significant diversity gain without feedback information [45]. The received SNR obeys the Gamma distribution with the parameter  $\mathcal{K} = N_t N_r$  when an MRC receiver is applied [127]. For full rate STBC and MRC, the probability density function (PDF) of the SNR is given by

$$f_{\rm STBC}(\gamma) = \frac{\gamma^{\mathcal{K}-1}}{\Gamma(\mathcal{K})} \left(\frac{N_t}{\bar{\gamma}}\right)^{\mathcal{K}} \exp\left(\frac{N_t\gamma}{\bar{\gamma}}\right).$$
(6)

where  $\Gamma(\mathcal{K}) = (\mathcal{K} - 1)!$  is the Gamma function [127]. The cumulative density function (CDF) of the SNR is expressed as

$$F_{\rm STBC}(\gamma) = 1 - \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}}(N_t \gamma / \bar{\gamma}), \tag{7}$$

where

$$\mathcal{P}_m(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m-1} (x^i/i!)e^{-x}$$
(8)

denotes the Poisson distribution.

#### 2.4.2 Antenna selection

The performance and feedback overhead depends on the selected AS mechanism. The best performance is achieved when RB-wise AS (RBAS) is employed [128] at the cost of the high overhead. RB-wise antenna selection (RBAS) means that the index of the best antenna of each resource block is individually conveyed from the receiver to the transmitter. Since RBAS requires  $N[\log_2(N_t)]$  feedback bits, the feedback overhead increases linearly with N. For a system with correct antenna selection and an MRC receiver, the SNR distribution of a RB is given by

$$f_{\rm AS}(\gamma) = N_t f_{\rm MRC}(\gamma) F_{\rm MRC}(\gamma)^{N_t - 1}, \qquad (9)$$

where  $f_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma)$  and  $F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma)$  are given by (6) and (7) with the parameters  $N_t = 1$  and  $\mathcal{K} = N_r$  [55]. The CDF of the SNR is expressed as

$$F_{\rm AS}(\gamma) = \left(1 - \mathcal{P}_{N_r}(\gamma/\bar{\gamma})\right)^{N_t}.$$
(10)

In the case of the single antenna receiver, the PDF of the SNR is reduced to  $f_{\rm AS}(\gamma) = N_t f_{\rm R}(\gamma) F_{\rm R}(\gamma)^{N_t-1}$ , where  $f_{\rm R}(\gamma)$  and  $F_{\rm R}(\gamma)$  are given in (1) and (2), respectively. The CDF for antenna selection with a single antenna receiver is written as  $F_{\rm AS}(\gamma) = F_{\rm R}(\gamma)^{N_t}$ .

An alternative low feedback AS scheme is to choose one antenna for all the RBs [128, 129]. Thus, a threshold based AS (TBAS) scheme is proposed to be used together with the RB-wise SNR quantization feedback strategy. In the TBAS scheme, the selected antenna operates on the whole frequency band. Pilot symbols are transmitted from each transmit antenna so that estimation of  $N_t$  channels related to each resource block is enabled. The index of an antenna, for which the number of detected SNR values that exceed the predefined threshold is the largest, is conveyed to the transmitter. Users' data packets are allocated to the channels of the selected antenna. TBAS requires only  $\lceil \log_2(N_t) \rceil$  feedback bits irrespectively of the value of N. Thus, it is suitable also for large  $N_t$  and N. In the case of the single antenna receiver, the SNR of a RB is exponentially distributed. For the MRC receiver, the CDF of the SNR is given in (7) with  $N_t = 1$ .

#### 2.4.3 Space-division multiple access

In the considered SDMA schemes, transmission for two users can be applied at the same time-frequency slot through different BS antennas. Zero forcing (ZF) detection is assumed at the receiver to distinguish spatial streams. In the simplest SDMA, the data of different users can be allocated to parallel spatial streams at the same time-frequency RB without any precoding. The performance of a single stream is comparable to the conventional spatial multiplexing systems. All detection methods developed for spatial multiplexing are applicable. In this paper, we analyze a ZF receiver for which the PDF of the post-detection signal-to-interference plus noise ratio (SINR)  $\gamma$  of the spatial stream is Gamma distributed as  $\mathcal{G}(N_r - N_t + 1, \bar{\gamma}/N_r)$  [130]. The PDF of the Gamma distribution  $\mathcal{G}(\alpha, \beta)$  is given as  $f(\gamma; \alpha, \beta) = \gamma^{\alpha-1} e^{-\gamma/\beta}/(\Gamma(\alpha)\beta^{\alpha})$ . For the 2 × 2 MIMO system, the PDF of the post-detection SINR of the spatial stream is expressed as

$$f_{\rm ZF}(\gamma) = \frac{2}{\bar{\gamma}} e^{-2\gamma/\bar{\gamma}}.$$
 (11)

The corresponding CDF is given by

$$F_{\rm ZF}(\gamma) = 1 - e^{-2\gamma/\bar{\gamma}}.$$
(12)

SDMA with STBC means a combination of the simple diversity technique [45] and SDMA. The data symbols of a user are space-time block coded over two transmit antennas and transmitted at the selected frequency resource block in which the other group of two antennas can be used for another user's STBC transmission at the same time. It is shown in [131] that the SNR of the ZF detected spatial stream converges to Gamma distribution  $\mathcal{G}(2N_r - 2, \bar{\gamma}/N_t)$  when  $N_r$  grows. It turns out that this distribution is very accurate also with  $N_r = 2$  and  $N_t = 4$ . In this study, we consider the  $4 \times 2$  MIMO system for the diversity-ZF (DZF) system. Thus, the PDF of the  $\gamma$  is expressed as

$$f_{\rm DZF}(\gamma) = \frac{16}{\bar{\gamma}^2} \gamma, e^{-4\gamma/\bar{\gamma}}$$
(13)

and the CDF is of the form

$$F_{\text{DZF}}(\gamma) = 1 - \mathcal{P}_2\left(\frac{4\gamma}{\bar{\gamma}}\right).$$
 (14)
# 3 Analysis for the SNR quantization

Since the feedback load of the SNR quantization increases rapidly with the number of quantization levels, one bit quantization has been commonly studied [79, 80, 101, 104, 124]. Furthermore, the probabilities related to the considered dynamic OFDMA system can be expressed in a tractable form for one bit quantization also with an imperfect feedback channel. Thus, the system probabilities and numerical examples are considered with RB-wise one bit quantization although most of the analytical performance expressions are presented for the RB-wise  $\lceil \log_2(L+1) \rceil$  bit quantization.

Quantization of SNR is denoted by  $Q = \{\xi_l\}_{l=0}^{L+1}$ :

$$0 = \xi_0 < \xi_1 < \dots < \xi_L < \xi_{L+1} = \infty, \quad \xi_l = \gamma_l / \bar{\gamma}, \tag{15}$$

where  $\gamma_l = \xi_l \bar{\gamma}$  is the true SNR boundary point. Optimal quantization is system specific, since it varies with the mean SNR, the number of available RBs [79], the user position in the allocation queue, the feedback bit error probability and the selected optimization criterion [76]. For example, the quantization threshold for the system in [104] has been found through simulations and in [75], the thresholds are selected according to the performance of the available modulation methods and coding rates with a predefined error rate constraint. Optimization of the SNR regions for quantization is out of the scope of this thesis. The presented performance formulas are valid for an arbitrary one bit quantization and, besides, in several cases for the quantization given by (15).

Let  $q_l(k, p_b)$  be the probability that the kth user occupies a shared channel whose received SNR is in the interval  $(\gamma_l, \gamma_{l+1})$  when the feedback BEP is  $p_b$ . In the case of AS, the SNR of the best antenna of the allocated RB belongs to  $(\gamma_l, \gamma_{l+1})$  with probability  $q_l(k, p_b)$ . The expected performance of the kth user in the allocation queue is denoted as

$$\mathcal{M}_Q(k) = \sum_{l=0}^{\lceil \log_2(L+1) \rceil} q_l(k, p_b) \mathcal{M}_l^Q,$$
(16)

where  $\mathcal{M}_l^Q$  is the average performance on the condition that the SNR of the assigned RB belongs to  $(\gamma_l, \gamma_{l+1})$ . For the AS case,  $\mathcal{M}_l^Q$  is the performance when the SNR of the best antenna of the allocated RB belongs to  $(\gamma_l, \gamma_{l+1})$ , although erroneous AS may provide a SNR out of this range.

According to (16), the PDF of the SNR with quantization Q can be expressed in the form [132]

$$f_{\rm Q}(\gamma, k) = \sum_{l=0}^{L} q_l(k, p_b) \frac{\nu_l(\gamma) f_{\rm RB}(\gamma)}{p_l^Q},$$
(17)

where  $f_{\rm RB}(\gamma)$  refers to the PDF of the SNR of a RB and

$$\nu_l(\gamma) = \begin{cases} 1, \ \gamma \in (\gamma_l, \gamma_{l+1}), \\ 0, \ \text{otherwise}, \end{cases} p_l^Q = \int_{\gamma_l}^{\gamma_{l+1}} f_{\text{RB}}(\gamma) d\gamma. \tag{18}$$

We note that the fraction term in (17) is the PDF of the SNR on the condition that the received SNR belongs to  $(\gamma_l, \gamma_{l+1})$ . The notation  $f_Q(\cdot, k)$  emphasizes that the PDF also depends on the user position in the allocation queue.

## 3.1 Probabilities of quantization levels

The system probabilities  $q_l(k, p_b)$  are defined for one bit quantization per RB which is feasible for practical OFDMA systems. Furthermore, the event probabilities are valid for the RR allocation presented in Chapter 2.

#### Ideal feedback channel

The SNR of the channel allocated to the kth user is below  $\gamma_1$  if all resource blocks for which  $\gamma > \gamma_1$  have already been assigned to the previously scheduled users and there are k - 1 "good" channels at maximum. The received SNR of a resource block is above  $\gamma_1$  with a probability of  $p_{\gamma_1} = P(\gamma > \gamma_1)$ . The probability of the case that the user has u channels whose SNR exceeds  $\gamma_1$  obeys the binomial law and it is expressed as

$$p_{\gamma_1}(u) = \binom{N}{u} p_{\gamma_1}^u (1 - p_{\gamma_1})^{N-u}.$$
 (19)

If a user k has  $u, u \leq k-1$ , resource blocks with SNR values above  $\gamma_1$  they are reserved with probability  $\binom{N-u}{k-1-u}/\binom{N}{k-1}$ . Thus, we notice that

$$q_{0}(k,0) = \sum_{u=0}^{k-1} \frac{\binom{N-u}{k-1-u}}{\binom{N}{k-1}} \binom{N}{u} p_{\gamma_{1}}^{u} (1-p_{\gamma_{1}})^{N-u} = \sum_{u=0}^{k-1} \binom{k-1}{u} p_{\gamma_{1}}^{u} (1-p_{\gamma_{1}})^{N-u}.$$
(20)

The probability of the event that a user gets a channel which has a SNR above  $\gamma_1$  can be simply calculated as  $q_1(k, 0) = 1 - q_0(k, 0)$ .

#### Imperfect feedback channel

The resource manager may select the wrong channel for the kth user due to feedback word errors in two cases. 1) Errors occur in the available channels

with SNR below  $\gamma_1$ . 2) All feedback bit errors in the available resource blocks have occurred in all available channels whose SNR is above  $\gamma_1$ . These cases can become true for many possible allocations of the preceding users and error events.

The probability of  $N_e$  bit errors obeys the binomial distribution and it is given by

$$p_e(N_e) = \binom{N}{N_e} p_b^{N_e} (1 - p_b)^{N - N_e}.$$
(21)

The event that j errors out of  $N_e$  occur in the resource blocks whose SNR is above  $\gamma_1$  is denoted by E1. The probability of the event E1 is expressed as

$$p_{\rm E1}(j, u, N_e, k) = \binom{u}{j} \binom{N-u}{N_e-j} / \binom{N}{N_e},\tag{22}$$

where the numerator refers to the number of potential error combinations in event E1 and the denominator represents the number of possible error events of the  $N_e$  errors. The number of errors in the good resource blocks can be between  $\min(j) = \max(0, N_e - N + u)$  and  $\max(j) = \min(u, N_e)$ . the number of bits that correctly indicate the channels with SNR values above  $\gamma_1$  is u - j;  $N_e - j$  errors occur in the channels with SNR below  $\gamma_1$ . The number of resource blocks whose SNR values are above  $\gamma_1$  according to the received feedback message is denoted as  $N_1 = u - j + N_e - j$ . The event denoted by E2 is stated so that all resource blocks whose SNR values are above  $\gamma_1$  according to the received feedback word have been allocated to the preceding k - 1 users. The probability of the event E2 is expressed as

$$p_{\rm E2}(N_1,k) = \binom{N-N_1}{k-N_1-1} / \binom{N}{k-1}.$$
 (23)

Assume that  $u, N_e, j$ , and E2 has occurred when a resource block to the kth user is allocated. Thus, random allocation for available resource blocks is applied. A channel having a SNR value below  $\gamma_1$  is selected with probability  $(N - u - N_e + j)/(N - N_1)$  in this case. Assume now that the event E2 has not occurred and a resource block is randomly selected from the set of the free channels which are good according to the feedback word. In this case, the SNR of the allocated resource block is below  $\gamma_1$  with probability  $(N_e - j)/N_1$ . Thus, RB allocation based on the erroneously received one bit feedback information yields

$$q_{0}(k,p_{b}) = \sum_{u=0}^{N} \sum_{N_{e}=0}^{N} \sum_{j=j_{s}}^{j_{e}} p_{\gamma_{1}}(u) p_{e}(N_{e}) p_{\mathrm{E1}}(j,u,N_{e},k) \\ \cdot \left( p_{\mathrm{E2}}(N_{1},k) \frac{N-u-N_{e}+j}{N-N_{1}} + (1-p_{\mathrm{E2}}(N_{1},k)) \frac{N_{e}-j}{N_{1}} \right)$$
(24)

37

where  $j_s = \max(0, N_e - N + u)$ ,  $j_e = \min(u, N_e)$ . The probability that a resource block whose SNR is above  $\gamma_1$  is allocated to the user can be calculated as  $q_1(k, p_b) = 1 - q_0(k, p_b)$ .

# 3.2 BEP analysis in SISO systems

The average BEP performance is achieved by evaluating the integral

$$P_{\rm Q}(k) = \int_0^\infty f_{\rm Q}(\gamma, k) g(\gamma) d\gamma, \qquad (25)$$

where  $g(\gamma)$  is the BEP function of the applied modulation in a non-fading AWGN channel [132]. With the substitution of (17) into (25), the average performance of the kth user becomes [132]

$$P_{\rm Q}(k) = \sum_{l=0}^{L} q_l(k, p_b) / p_l^{\rm Q} \cdot (I_l - I_{l+1}),$$
(26)

where  $I_l = \int_{\gamma_l}^{\infty} f(\gamma)g(\gamma)d\gamma$  and  $I_{L+1} = 0$ . In the case of the BEP performance measure and BPSK, we have  $g(\gamma) = \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}, \gamma)/\sqrt{4\pi}$ , where  $\Gamma(\cdot, \cdot)$  is the complementary incomplete gamma function defined as  $\Gamma(t, x) = \int_x^{\infty} s^{t-1}e^{-s}ds$ ,  $x \ge 0$ . The derivative of the function  $g(\gamma)$  is given by

$$g'(\gamma) = -e^{-\gamma} / \sqrt{4\pi\gamma} \tag{27}$$

(see [133, Eqs. (6.5.17), (7.1.2) and (7.1.19)]). Applying integration by parts to  $I_l$ , using substitution  $x = \gamma(1 + 1/\bar{\gamma})$  we obtain [132]

$$I_{l} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{4\pi}} \Big( e^{-\xi_{l}} \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}, \xi_{l} \bar{\gamma}\right) - \sqrt{\frac{\bar{\gamma}}{1+\bar{\gamma}}} \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}, \xi_{l}(1+\bar{\gamma})\right) \Big).$$
(28)

Now the BEP for the kth user is found for a multiple channel system with the resource-wise one bit feedback method by substituting (24),  $q_1(k, p_b) = 1 - q_0(k, p_b)$ , and (28) into (26).

# 3.3 Outage capacity analysis

The outage capacity can be determined for a constant rate transmission and for a variable rate transmission. In the constant rate transmission, the transmission rate is chosen according to the given outage probability, the mean SNR, the feedback bit error probability, and the user's position in the allocation queue. On the other hand, a higher system throughput is achieved if variable rate transmission is applied according to the limited knowledge about the allocated channel. Constant rate transmission is considered for the SISO system and variable rate transmission is analyzed also with multiple antenna methods.

## 3.3.1 Constant rate transmission

In the case of fixed rate transmission, the outage capacity with a given outage probability for a slowly Rayleigh fading channel is given by

$$C_{P_{\text{out}}}(k) = \log_2(1 + \gamma_{\text{out}}(P_{\text{out}}, k)), \tag{29}$$

where  $\gamma_{\text{out}}(P_{\text{out}}, k)$  is the SNR value that provides the desired outage probability for the *k*th user. Thus, the value of  $\gamma_{\text{out}}(P_{\text{out}}, k)$  has to be determined from the CDF of the SNR and then it is simply substituted to the mutual information formula in an AWGN channel [13].

The PDF of the SNR of the kth user is given in (17), and, consequently, the outage probability  $P_{\text{out}}$  with a given SNR  $\gamma_{\text{out}}$  and  $\bar{\gamma}$  can be calculated as

$$P_{\text{out}}(\gamma_{\text{out}},k) = \int_0^{\gamma_{\text{out}}} \sum_{l=0}^{L'} q_l(k,p_b) \cdot \frac{\nu_l(\gamma)f(\gamma)}{p_l^{\text{Q}}} d\gamma$$

where L' is chosen so that  $\gamma_{L'} < \gamma_{out} < \gamma_{L'+1}$ . For example, in the case of the SISO transmission, we have

$$P_{\rm out}(\gamma_{\rm out},k) = \sum_{l=0}^{L'-1} q_l(k,p_b) + \frac{q_{L'}(k,p_b)}{p_{L'}^{\rm Q}} \left( e^{-\gamma_{L'}/\bar{\gamma}} - e^{-\gamma_{\rm out}/\bar{\gamma}} \right).$$

The SNR value  $\gamma_{out}(P_{out}, k)$  that provides the desired outage probability  $P_{out}$  for user k can be derived as

$$\gamma_{\rm out}(P_{\rm out},k) = -\bar{\gamma} \ln \left( e^{-\gamma_{L'}/\bar{\gamma}} - \frac{p_{L'}^{\rm Q}}{q_{L'}(k,p_b)} \left( P_{\rm out} - \sum_{l=0}^{L'-1} q_l(k,p_b) \right) \right).$$
(30)

The outage capacity for the desired outage probability is obtained by substituting (30) into (29). Note that the outage probability is assumed to be fixed regardless of the feedback bit error probability. The effect of feedback errors on throughput at constant outage probability is considered.

### 3.3.2 Variable rate transmission

Variable rate transmission utilizes the available feedback information. The transmission rate can be chosen from L + 1 alternatives according to the quality of the assigned channel when quantization in (15) is applied. The average outage capacity of the variable rate transmission for the kth user is expressed as

$$C_{P_{\text{out}}}(k) = \sum_{i=0}^{L} q^{(R_i)}(k, p_b) \log_2(1 + \gamma_{\text{out}, i}(P_{\text{out}})),$$
(31)

where  $q^{(R_i)}(k, p_b)$  is the probability that the *i*th rate is applied and the SNR value  $\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}})$  provides the desired outage probability for the *i*th transmission rate. The logarithm term in (31) expresses the outage capacity [13] on the condition that the *i*th rate  $R_i$  is used.

In the outage capacity analysis, the outage probability is fixed and  $\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}})$ is solved from the CDF of the SNR on the condition that the *i*th rate is applied at the base station. Due to the assumption that the base station knows  $p_b$ , the desired outage probability is achieved in spite of the imperfect feedback. We now assume that antenna selection is perfect and postpone the analysis of the selection errors to Section 3.3.3. Although the transmitter allocates the resource block whose SNR is in  $(\gamma_i, \gamma_{i+1})$  according to the received feedback word, its real SNR can be outside this range due to the feedback errors. The probability that the SNR of the allocated resource block belongs to  $(\gamma_l, \gamma_{l+1})$  is denoted by  $q_l^{(R_i)}(p_b)$  when the *i*th rate is used.

**Proposition 1** Assuming perfect antenna selection and quantization in (15), the SNR value that provides the outage capacity for the *i*th transmission rate with the desired outage probability  $P_{out}$  can be derived from

$$\gamma_{out,i}(P_{out}) = F_{RB}^{-1}(F_{RB}(\gamma_{L'}) - A(p_b, P_{out})), \qquad (32)$$

where L' is chosen so that  $\gamma_{L'} < \gamma_{out,i}(P_{out}) < \gamma_{L'+1}$  and

$$A(p_b, P_{out}) = \frac{p_{L'}^Q}{q_{L'}^{(R_i)}(p_b)} \left(\sum_{l=0}^{L'-1} q_l^{(R_i)}(p_b) - P_{out}\right).$$
(33)

*Proof.* For a given SNR  $\gamma_o$ , the outage probability on the condition that the *i*th rate is used can be expressed as

$$P_{\text{out}}^{(R_i)}(\gamma_o) = \int_0^{\gamma_o} \sum_{l=0}^{L'-1} q_l^{(R_i)}(p_b) \frac{\nu_l(\gamma) f_{\text{RB}}(\gamma)}{p_l^{\text{Q}}} d\gamma$$
  
$$= \sum_{l=0}^{L'} q_l^{(R_i)}(p_b) + \frac{q_{L'}^{(R_i)}(p_b)}{p_{L'}^{\text{Q}}} \left( F_{\text{RB}}(\gamma_o) - F_{\text{RB}}(\gamma_{L'}) \right),$$
(34)

where L' is chosen so that  $\gamma_{L'} < \gamma_o < \gamma_{L'+1}$ ,  $\nu_l$  and  $p_l^Q$  are given in (18). We can obtain the results in (32) and (33) by fixing  $P_{\text{out}}$  and solving  $\gamma_o$  from (34).  $\Box$ 

Now, the SNR value  $\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}})$  can be easily determined for different schemes

based on  $F_{\rm RB}^{-1}(\gamma)$ , (32) and (33). Then, after some manipulations we find that

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = -\bar{\gamma} \ln \left( e^{-\gamma_{L'}/\bar{\gamma}} + A(p_b, P_{\text{out}}) \right), \quad \text{for an SISO system}$$
(35)

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = \bar{\gamma} \mathcal{P}_{N_r}^{-1} \left( \mathcal{P}_{N_r} \left( \frac{\gamma_{L'}}{\bar{\gamma}} \right) + A(p_b, P_{\text{out}}) \right), \text{ for an SIMO system} \quad (36)$$

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = \frac{\bar{\gamma}}{N_t} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}}^{-1} \left( \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}} \left( \frac{N_t \gamma_{L'}}{\bar{\gamma}} \right) + A(p_b, P_{\text{out}}) \right), \quad \text{for STBC}$$
(37)

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = -\bar{\gamma} \ln \left( 1 - \left( F_{\text{R}}(\gamma_{L'})^{N_t} + A(p_b, P_{\text{out}}) \right)^{1/N_t} \right),$$
(38)  
for RBAS,  $N_r = 1$ 

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = \bar{\gamma} \mathcal{P}_{N_r}^{-1} \left( 1 - \left( F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_{L'})^{N_t} + A(p_b, P_{\text{out}}) \right)^{1/N_t} \right), \tag{39}$$

for RBAS and MRC

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = \frac{-\bar{\gamma}}{2} \ln \left( e^{-2\gamma_{L'}/\bar{\gamma}} + A(p_b, P_{\text{out}}) \right), \tag{40}$$

for a 2  $\times$  2 MIMO system with SDMA

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = \frac{\bar{\gamma}}{4} \mathcal{P}_2^{-1} \left( \mathcal{P}_2 \left( \frac{4\gamma_{L'}}{\bar{\gamma}} \right) + A(p_b, P_{\text{out}}) \right), \tag{41}$$
for a 4 × 2 MIMO system with SDMA and STRC

for a 4  $\times$  2 MIMO system with SDMA and STBC,

where  $A(p_b, P_{out})$  is given in (33) and  $\mathcal{P}^{-1}$  denotes the inverse value of the Poisson CDF. The inverse value of the Poisson CDF cannot be solved in a closed form. However, it exists because  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}}(x)$  is monotonically decreasing. It is also possible to generate a look-up-table to calculate  $\mathcal{P}^{-1}(x)$  for x > 0.

Utilizing the event probabilities presented in Section 3.1, the probability  $q^{(R_0)}(k, p_b)$  for the RB-wise one bit feedback strategy can be easily determined to be of the form

$$q^{(R_0)}(k, p_b) = \sum_{u=0}^{N} \sum_{N_e=0}^{N} \sum_{j=j_s}^{j_e} p_{\gamma_1}(u) p_e(N_e) p_{\text{E1}}(j, u, N_e) p_{\text{E2}}(N_1, k).$$
(42)

Thus, the higher rate is applied with probability  $q^{(R_1)}(k, p_b) = 1 - q^{(R_0)}(k, p_b)$ .

# 3.3.3 Antenna selection

#### Threshold based antenna selection

For the TBAS scheme, the SNR values  $\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}})$  are derived similarly as for the single antenna transmission, i.e., they are given in (35) and (36) for  $N_r = 1$ and  $N_r = 2$ , respectively. The TBAS scheme, however, provides performance gains over single antenna transmission. Note that the probabilities  $q_l^{(R_i)}(p_b)$  have to be calculated so that antenna selection is taken into account. Consider one bit quantization and  $N_r = 1$  for an example case. A higher threshold value and, therefore, a higher transmission rate can be applied in the TBAS case than in the SISO case, if the users get the good channel with the same probability in both the cases. If the threshold value is the same in the SISO and TBAS schemes, the performance at the good channel is the same in both the schemes, but TBAS provides more good channels.

Imperfect antenna selection has to be taken into account when the probabilities  $q_l^{(R_i)}(p_b)$  are defined. The probability of antenna selection error (ASE) is denoted as

$$p_{\text{ASE}} = 1 - (1 - p_b)^{\lceil \log_2(N_t) \rceil}.$$
 (43)

Now the probability  $q_l^{(R_i)}(p_b)$  can be expressed as

$$q_l^{(R_i)}(p_b) = q_l^{(R_i,C)}(p_b)(1-p_{ASE}) + q_l^{(R_i,E)}(p_b)p_{ASE},$$
(44)

where  $q_l^{(R_i,C)}(p_b)$  is the probability that the received SNR belongs to  $(\gamma_l, \gamma_{l+1})$ when the rate  $R_i$  is applied and antenna selection is correct, and  $q_l^{(R_i,E)}(p_b)$  is the corresponding probability when the antenna selection is erroneous due to the feedback error. Resource block allocation is random in the latter case, or  $q_l^{(R_i,E)}(p_b) = q_l^{(R_j,E)}(p_b), \forall i, j.$ 

Let us consider the RB-wise one bit feedback scheme and the two transmit antenna case. In the case of correct antenna selection, we have  $q_i^{(R_i,C)}(p_b) = 1-p_b$ and  $q_l^{(R_i,C)}(p_b) = p_b$  for  $l \neq i$ . Assume that an antenna is selected erroneously. The probability to get a RB whose SNR is below  $\gamma_1$  is  $(N - u_2)/N$  when  $u_2$  is the number of good channels of the erroneously selected antenna. the number of resource blocks having SNR above  $\gamma_1$  at the best antenna is denoted by  $u_1 \geq u_2$ . The probability  $q_0^{(R_j,E)}(p_b)$  is given by

$$q_0^{(R_j, \mathcal{E})}(p_b) = \sum_{u_2=0}^N \frac{N - u_2}{N} \left( \sum_{u_1=u_2+1}^N 2p_{\gamma_1}(u_1)p_{\gamma_1}(u_2) + (p_{\gamma_1}(u_2))^2 \right), \quad (45)$$

where  $p_{\gamma_1}(u)$  is the same as for the SISO scheme. The probability to allocate the channel whose SNR exceeds the threshold is  $q_1^{(R_i, E)}(p_b) = 1 - q_0^{(R_j, E)}(p_b)$ .

#### **Resource-block-wise antenna selection**

The results in (38) and (40) hold also when feedback for resource block allocation is imperfect if antenna selection is perfect. For simplicity, the outage probability with imperfect antenna selection is expressed for two transmit antennas although it could be generalized for the  $N_t$  antenna case. In order to the take antenna selection error into account, we have to determine the CDF of the SNR for the ASE case on the condition that the SNR of the best antenna belongs to  $(\gamma_l, \gamma_{l+1})$ . The SNR at the best antenna is denoted as  $\gamma_{AS}$ . The conditional CDF of the SNR is given as

$$F_{\text{ASE}l}(\gamma_o|\gamma_{\text{AS}}) = \begin{cases} \frac{2F(\gamma_o)(F(\gamma_{l+1}) - F(\gamma_l))}{F(\gamma_{l+1})^2 - F(\gamma_l)^2} \\ \frac{2F(\gamma_o)(F(\gamma_{l+1}) - F(\gamma_o))}{F(\gamma_{l+1})^2 - F(\gamma_o)^2} \end{cases}$$

$$= \begin{cases} \frac{2F(\gamma_o)}{F(\gamma_{l+1}) + F(\gamma_l)} & \gamma_o < \gamma_l, \gamma_l < \gamma_{\text{AS}} < \gamma_{l+1} \\ \frac{2F(\gamma_o)}{F(\gamma_{l+1}) + F(\gamma_o)} & \gamma_l < \gamma_o < \gamma_{\text{AS}}, \gamma_o < \gamma_{\text{AS}} < \gamma_{l+1}. \end{cases}$$

$$(46)$$

In the upper case in (46), the numerator is the joint CDF for the case where  $\gamma < \gamma_o$  in one antenna and  $\gamma_l < \gamma < \gamma_{l+1}$  in the other antenna. The numerator in the lower case in (46) is the joint CDF for the case where in one antenna and  $\gamma_o < \gamma < \gamma_{l+1}$  in the other antenna. The denominator in (46) is the probability that  $\gamma_l < \gamma_{AS} < \gamma_{l+1}$  or  $\gamma_o < \gamma_{AS} < \gamma_{l+1}$ . Now we can obtain the outage probability of the SNR for quantization. For the SNR value  $\gamma_o, \gamma_{L'} \leq \gamma_o \leq \gamma_{L'+1}$ , the outage probability is given as

$$P_{\text{out}}^{(R_i)}(\gamma_o, k) = \sum_{l=0}^{L'-1} q_l^{(R_i)}(p_b) + q_{L'}^{(R_i)}(p_b) \left( \frac{F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_o)^2 - F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_{L'})^2}{p_{L'}^Q} (1 - p_{\text{ASE}}) + \frac{2F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_o)}{F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_{L'+1}) + F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_o)} p_{\text{ASE}} \right) + \sum_{l=L'+1}^{L} q_l^{(R_i)}(p_b) \frac{2F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_o)}{F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_{l+1}) + F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_l)} p_{\text{ASE}},$$
(47)

where the second term represents the CDF when antenna selection is perfect, the third term represents the CDF of the erroneously selected antenna on the condition that the SNR of the best antenna belongs to  $(\gamma_o, \gamma_{L'+1})$ , and the fourth term represents the CDF of the erroneously selected antenna on the condition that the SNR of the best antenna belongs to  $(\gamma_l, \gamma_{l+1})$ , l > L'. The probabilities  $q_l^{(R_i)}(p_b)$  are again given as  $q_i^{(R_i)}(p_b) = 1 - p_b$  and  $q_l^{(R_i)}(p_b) = p_b$ for  $l \neq i$  when RB-wise one bit feedback is applied. In order to determine the SNR value  $\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}})$  that provides the desired outage probability  $P_{\text{out}}$ , the value of  $F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma)$  has to be solved from (47). The (correct) root for the fourth order polynomial equation formed from (47) with a given  $P_{\text{out}}$  is denoted as  $\mathcal{R}_i(P_{\text{out}}) = F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma)$ . Thus, the SNR value that provides the desired outage probability for the single antenna receiver is

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = -\bar{\gamma}\ln\left(1 - \mathcal{R}_i(P_{\text{out}})\right),\tag{48}$$

43

and for the MRC receiver is

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = \bar{\gamma} \mathcal{P}_{N_r}^{-1} \left( 1 - \mathcal{R}_i(P_{\text{out}}) \right).$$
(49)

## 3.4 Average capacity analysis

The average spectral efficiency of the system with optimal rate adaptation and RB-wise feedback information based on the quantization in (15) is derived in this section. The average capacity with optimal rate adaptation can be expressed as

$$C(k) = \sum_{l=0}^{L} \frac{q_l(k, p_b)}{p_l^{Q}} \left( \mathcal{I}_l^{Q} - \mathcal{I}_{l+1}^{Q} \right),$$
(50)

where  $\mathcal{I}_l^{\mathbf{Q}} = \int_{\gamma_l}^{\infty} f_{\mathrm{RB}}(\gamma) \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma$  and  $p_l^{\mathbf{Q}}$  is given in (18). Note that the formula in (50) is valid for AS schemes when the AS is correct. The capacity in (50) provides the theoretical upper bound of the achievable spectral efficiency of the system. Using integration by parts,  $\mathcal{I}_l^{\mathbf{Q}}$  can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{I}_{l}^{\mathbf{Q}} = (1 - F_{\mathrm{RB}}(\gamma_{l})) \log_{2}(1 + \gamma_{l}) + \log_{2}(e) \underbrace{\int_{\gamma_{l}}^{\infty} \frac{1 - F_{\mathrm{RB}}(\gamma)}{1 + \gamma} d\gamma}_{\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\gamma_{l})}.$$
 (51)

Note that for l = L + 1 the integral is  $\mathcal{I}_Q(\gamma_{L+1}) = 0$  and  $\mathcal{I}_0^Q = \mathcal{I}_Q(0)$ . For the STBC and SDMA schemes, the capacity results are expressed for the arbitrary  $\lceil \log_2(L+1) \rceil$  bit quantization in (15). In the case of the AS, one bit quantization is assumed for simplicity.

# 3.4.1 Space-time block coding

**Proposition 2** The integral  $\mathcal{I}_Q(\gamma_l)$  in (51) for the STBC scheme can be presented as

$$\mathcal{I}_Q(\gamma_l) = \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}}\left(-\frac{N_t}{\bar{\gamma}}\right) E_1\left(\frac{N_t(1+\gamma_l)}{\bar{\gamma}}\right) + \sum_{m=1}^{\mathcal{K}-1} \frac{\mathcal{P}_m(N_t(1+\gamma_l)/\bar{\gamma})}{m} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}-m}\left(-\frac{N_t}{\bar{\gamma}}\right),\tag{52}$$

where  $\mathcal{K} = N_r N_t$ .

*Proof.* Substituting the CDF (7) into the integral  $\mathcal{I}_Q(\gamma_1)$  in (51), we have  $\mathcal{I}_Q(\gamma_1) = \int_{\gamma_1}^{\infty} \frac{\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}}(N_t\gamma/\bar{\gamma})}{1+\gamma} d\gamma$ . The result for  $\mathcal{I}_Q(0)$  has been derived in [127]. The result in (52) is obtained by changing the parameters for the proof of the Shannon capacity of STBC in [127].  $\Box$ 

The integral  $\mathcal{I}_{Q}(\gamma_{l})$  can be easily reduced from (52) for the SIMO and SISO schemes. For the SISO scheme we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\gamma_l) = e^{1/\bar{\gamma}} E_1((1+\gamma_l)/\bar{\gamma}),\tag{53}$$

where  $E_1(a) = \int_a^\infty \frac{e^{-u} du}{u}$  is the exponential integral [133].

# 3.4.2 Antenna selection

#### Threshold based antenna selection

Similarly as for the outage capacity analysis in Section 3.3.3, the spectral efficiency expressions are the same as those for the SISO and SIMO cases when  $N_r = 1$  and  $N_r = 2$ , respectively. Thus, the integral  $\mathcal{I}_Q(\gamma_l)$  is given in (53) for  $N_r = 1$  and in (52) with parameters  $N_t = 1$  and  $\mathcal{K} = N_r = 2$  for  $N_r = 2$ .

The performance difference compared to single antenna transmission is due to the different event probabilities  $q_l(k, p_b)$  and the quantization boundaries. Imperfect antenna selection has to be taken into account as presented in Section 3.3.3. For simplicity and clarity, RB-wise one bit feedback is considered for the TBAS scheme. The channel whose SNR is below the threshold is allocated with the probability

$$q_0(k, p_b) = q_0^{\rm C}(k, p_b)(1 - p_{\rm ASE}) + q_0^{\rm E}(p_b)p_{\rm ASE},$$
(54)

where  $q_0^{\rm C}(k, p_b)$  is given in (24) for the case of correct AS and  $q_0^{\rm E}(p_b)$  is given in (45) for erroneous AS.

#### Resource block-wise antenna selection

For simplicity, one bit quantization is assumed in the RBAS scheme although the results could be extended for arbitrary quantization in (15). Thus, the capacity with optimal rate adaptation can be expressed as

$$C(k) = q_1(k, p_b)((1 - p_{ASE})C_{AS1}(\gamma_1) + p_{ASE}C_{ASE1}(\gamma_1)) + q_0(k, p_b)((1 - p_{ASE})C_{AS0}(\gamma_1) + p_{ASE}C_{ASE0}(\gamma_1)),$$
(55)

45

where  $p_{ASE}$  is the probability of antenna selection error (ASE),

$$C_{\rm AS1}(\gamma_1) = \int_{\gamma_1}^{\infty} f_{\rm AS}(\gamma) / p_1^{\rm Q} \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma, \qquad (56)$$

$$C_{\text{ASE}1}(\gamma_1) = \int_0^\infty f_{\text{ASE}1}(\gamma|\gamma_{\text{AS}}) \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma, \quad \gamma_{\text{AS}} > \gamma_1 \tag{57}$$

$$C_{\rm AS0}(\gamma_1) = \int_0^{\gamma_1} f_{\rm AS}(\gamma) / p_0^{\rm Q} \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma, \qquad (58)$$

$$C_{\rm ASE0}(\gamma_1) = \int_0^{\gamma_1} f_{\rm ASE0}(\gamma|\gamma_{\rm AS}) \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma, \quad \gamma_{\rm AS} < \gamma_1 \tag{59}$$

where  $\gamma_{\rm AS}$  is the SNR at the best antenna. The capacity  $C_{\rm AS1}(\gamma_1)$  provides the average spectral efficiency for the channel whose SNR exceeds the threshold when the antenna selection is correct. The capacity in (58) corresponds to a channel whose SNR is below the threshold. For erroneous antenna selection, the notations  $C_{\rm ASE1}(\gamma_1)$  and  $C_{\rm ASE0}(\gamma_1)$  refer to spectral efficiencies when the SNR of the best antenna is above and below the threshold, respectively. For the MISO case,  $C_{\rm AS1}(\gamma_1)$  and  $C_{\rm AS0}(\gamma_1)$  can be found in [98]. In the following proposition, we provide the capacity  $C_{\rm AS1}(\gamma_1)$  for the MRC receiver.

**Proposition 3** The capacity  $C_{AS1}(\gamma_1)$  for  $2 \times 2$  MIMO systems with the MRC receiver can be expressed as

$$C_{AS1}(\gamma_1) = \frac{\log_2(e)}{p_1^Q} \Big( p_1^Q \ln(1+\gamma_1) + 2\mathcal{I}_2(0, 1/\bar{\gamma}, \gamma_1) + 2\mathcal{I}_2(1, 1/\bar{\gamma}, \gamma_1) - \mathcal{I}_2(0, 2/\bar{\gamma}, \gamma_1) - 2/\bar{\gamma}\mathcal{I}_2(1, 2/\bar{\gamma}, \gamma_1) - 1/\bar{\gamma}^2\mathcal{I}_2(2, 2/\bar{\gamma}, \gamma_1) \Big),$$
(60)

where  $\mathcal{I}_2(a, b, c)$  is given by (169) in Appendix 1.

*Proof.* Applying integration by parts to (56) and the CDF formula in (10), the capacity can be expressed as

$$C_{\rm AS1}(\gamma_1) = \frac{\log_2(e)}{p_1^{\rm Q}} \left( p_1^{\rm Q} \ln(1+\gamma_1) + \int_{\gamma_1}^{\infty} \frac{2\mathcal{P}_2(\gamma/\bar{\gamma}) - \mathcal{P}_2^2(\gamma/\bar{\gamma})}{1+\gamma} d\gamma \right).$$
(61)

The result in (56) is obtained by substituting the integral  $\mathcal{I}_1(i, \alpha, \gamma_1)$  given in (170) into (61).  $\Box$ 

The capacity in (58) can be derived as  $C_{\rm AS0}(\gamma_1) = C_{\rm AS1}(0) - C_{\rm AS1}(\gamma_1)$ . Similarly, the capacity for system with antenna selection and any SNR quantization could be calculated so that the capacity is  $C_{\rm ASl}^{\ Q} = (C_{\rm ASl}(\gamma_l) - C_{\rm ASl+1}(\gamma_{l+1}))/p_l^{\rm Q}$  when the SNR of the allocated channel belongs to  $(\gamma_l, \gamma_{l+1})$ , and  $C_{\rm ASl}(\gamma_l)$  is given by (60) with the substitutions  $\gamma_1 = \gamma_l$  and  $p_1^{\rm Q} = 1 - F_{\rm AS}(\gamma_l)$ .

The capacity in the case of imperfect antenna selection on the condition that the SNR of the best channel is below or exceeds the threshold, i.e.,  $C_{\text{ASE1}}(\gamma_1)$  or  $C_{\text{ASE0}}(\gamma_1)$ , can be solved as detailed in the following proposition. **Proposition 4** In the case of one bit quantization, antenna selection error, two transmit antennae, and MRC detection, the capacity can be expressed as

$$C_{ASE1}(\gamma_1) = \frac{2\log_2(e)}{2 - \mathcal{P}_2(\gamma_1/\bar{\gamma})} \Big( -\mathcal{P}_2(\gamma_1/\bar{\gamma})\ln(1+\gamma_1)/2 + \mathcal{P}_2(-1/\bar{\gamma})E_1(1/\bar{\gamma}) \\ + 1 - \mathcal{P}_2(-1/\bar{\gamma})E_1((1+\gamma_1)/\bar{\gamma}) - e^{-\gamma_1/\bar{\gamma}} \Big) \\ + \log_2(e)\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^i}\sum_{m=0}^i \binom{i}{m} \bar{\gamma}^{-m} \mathcal{I}_2(m, i/\bar{\gamma}, \gamma_1)$$
(62)

for  $\gamma_{AS} > \gamma_1$  and for  $\gamma_{AS} < \gamma_1$  as

$$C_{ASE0}(\gamma_1) = \log_2(1+\gamma_1) \left(1-\frac{2}{B}\right) - 2\log_2(e) \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{B^{i+1}} + \frac{1}{B^i}\right) \sum_{m=0}^{i} {i \choose m} \bar{\gamma}^{-m} \left(\mathcal{I}_2(m, i/\bar{\gamma}, 0) - \mathcal{I}_2(m, i/\bar{\gamma}, \gamma_1)\right),$$
(63)

where  $B = 1 - \mathcal{P}_2(\gamma_1/\bar{\gamma})$  and  $\mathcal{I}_2(a, b, c)$  is given by (169) in Appendix 1.

*Proof.* In the case of one bit quantization, antenna selection error, two transmit antennae and MRC detection, the conditional CDF of the SNR can be expressed as

$$F_{\rm ASE0}(\gamma_*|\gamma_{\rm AS}) = \frac{2F_{\rm MRC}(\gamma_*)}{F_{\rm MRC}(\gamma_1) + F_{\rm MRC}(\gamma_*)} \quad \gamma_* < \gamma_1, \quad \gamma_* < \gamma_{\rm AS} < \gamma_1.$$
(65)

In the upper case in (64), the nominator is the joint CDF for the case where  $\gamma < \gamma_*$  in one antenna and  $\gamma > \gamma_1$  in the other antenna. The nominator in the lower case in (64) is the joint CDF for the case where  $\gamma < \gamma_*$  in one antenna and  $\gamma > \gamma_*$  in the other antenna. The denominator in (64) is the probability that  $\gamma_{\rm AS} > \gamma_1$  or  $\gamma_{\rm AS} > \gamma_*$ . Similarly, the CDF formula in (65) can be determined for the case where  $\gamma_{\rm AS} < \gamma_1$ . The capacity  $C_{\rm ASE1}(\gamma_1)$  has to be integrated in two

parts from 0 to  $\gamma_1$  and from  $\gamma_1$  to  $\infty$ . By using integration by parts we have

$$C_{\text{ASE1}}(\gamma_{1}) = (F_{\text{ASE1}}(\gamma_{1}|\gamma_{\text{AS}}) - 1) \log_{2}(1 + \gamma_{1}) + \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{1 - F_{\text{ASE1}}(\gamma|\gamma_{\text{AS}})}{1 + \gamma} d\gamma = \frac{2 \log_{2}(e)}{2 - \mathcal{P}_{2}(\gamma_{1}/\bar{\gamma})} \Big( - \mathcal{P}_{2}(\gamma_{1}/\bar{\gamma}) \ln(1 + \gamma_{1})/2 + \mathcal{P}_{2}(-1/\bar{\gamma})E_{1}(1/\bar{\gamma}) + 1 - \mathcal{P}_{2}(-1/\bar{\gamma})E_{1}((1 + \gamma_{1})/\bar{\gamma}) - e^{-\gamma_{1}/\bar{\gamma}} \Big) + \log_{2}(e) \int_{\gamma_{1}}^{\infty} \frac{\mathcal{P}_{2}(\gamma/\bar{\gamma})}{(2 - \mathcal{P}_{2}(\gamma/\bar{\gamma}))(1 + \gamma)} d\gamma,$$
(66)

which is valid for the MRC receiver with two receive antennas. No closedform solution for the last integral in (66) exists but we can expand the term  $1 - F_{ASE1}(\gamma|\gamma_{AS})$ , for  $\gamma > \gamma_1$ , using a geometric series as follows

$$\frac{\mathcal{P}_2(b\gamma)}{2-\mathcal{P}_2(b\gamma)} = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{P}_2(b\gamma)\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{P}_2(b\gamma)\right)^i = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^i}\mathcal{P}_2(b\gamma)^i \tag{67}$$

provided that  $\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{P}_2(b\gamma) < 1$ . It is easy to see that this requirement is valid since  $(\gamma > 0) e^{b\gamma} = 1 + b\gamma + ... > 1 + b\gamma$  and thus  $1 > (1 + b\gamma)e^{-b\gamma} = \mathcal{P}_2(b\gamma)$ . Actually,  $\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{P}_2(b\gamma) < \frac{1}{2}$ , and, hence, the series in (67) should converge rather rapidly. Combining the results in (66), (67), and (170) we obtain (62).

By using integration by parts, the capacity for the case where the antenna selection is erroneous and the SNR at the best antenna is below the threshold can be derived as

$$C_{\text{ASE0}}(\gamma_{1}) = \log_{2}(1+\gamma_{1}) - \log_{2}(e) \int_{0}^{\gamma_{1}} \frac{F_{\text{ASE0}}(\gamma|\gamma_{\text{AS}} < \gamma_{1})}{1+\gamma} d\gamma$$
  
$$= \log_{2}(1+\gamma_{1}) - \frac{2}{B} \int_{0}^{\gamma_{1}} \frac{\log_{2}(e)}{(1-\mathcal{P}_{2}(\gamma/\bar{\gamma})/B)(1+\gamma)} d\gamma \qquad (68)$$
  
$$+ \frac{2}{B} \int_{0}^{\gamma_{1}} \frac{\log_{2}(e)\mathcal{P}_{2}(\gamma/\bar{\gamma})}{(1-\mathcal{P}_{2}(\gamma/\bar{\gamma})/B)(1+\gamma)} d\gamma,$$

where  $B = 1 - \mathcal{P}_2(\gamma_1/\bar{\gamma})$ . The capacity expression in (63) is obtained by using the geometric series similarly as in (67) and combining the results in (68) and (170).  $\Box$ 

### 3.4.3 Space-division multiple access

**Proposition 5** The integral  $\mathcal{I}_Q(\gamma_l)$  in (51) for SDMA without diversity transmission can be presented as

$$\mathcal{I}_Q(\gamma_l) = e^{2/\bar{\gamma}} E_1(2(1+\gamma_l)/\bar{\gamma}) \tag{69}$$

and for the SDMA with STBC as

$$\mathcal{I}_Q(\gamma_l) = \mathcal{P}_2\left(-\frac{4}{\bar{\gamma}}\right) E_1\left(\frac{4(1+\gamma_l)}{\bar{\gamma}}\right) + e^{-4\gamma_l/\bar{\gamma}}.$$
(70)

*Proof.* Substituting (12) into the integral  $\mathcal{I}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\gamma_l)$  in (51) and using  $\mathcal{I}_3(2(1 + \gamma_{\mathbf{T}})/\bar{\gamma}, \gamma_{\mathbf{T}})$  given by (171) in Appendix 1, the result in (69) is obtained. Setting  $\mathcal{K} = 2$  and  $N_t = 4$  in Proposition 2, the result for SDMA with STBC in (70) is achieved.  $\Box$ 

### 3.5 Numerical examples

The RB-wise one bit feedback scheme is considered in the numerical examples. In this Section, the performance curves and marker points illustrate analytical performance results unless mentioned otherwise. Some simulation results are shown to validate the proposed analysis. Marker points are used to present possible simulation results and curves always present analytical results.

It is assumed that all SNR quantization regions have equal probabilities unless mentioned otherwise. This gives a natural starting point for a suboptimal and practical fixed quantization [132]. This quantization has also turned out to be a good choice for the resource-wise one bit feedback scheme in an unreliable feedback channel. Thus, the threshold value  $\gamma_1$  can be easily determined for each scheme from

$$F_{\rm RB}(\gamma_1) = \frac{1}{2} \tag{71}$$

$$\gamma_1 = F_{\rm RB}^{-1}(1/2),\tag{72}$$

where  $F_{\rm RB}(\gamma_1)$  depends on the considered multiple antenna scheme.

Section 3.5.1 investigates BEP performance in the SISO link. Section 3.5.2 considers the outage capacity with constant rate transmission in the SISO link and variable rate transmission for SISO and single user MIMO systems. Section 3.5.3 presents the system average capacity results with the optimal rate adaptation and single user MIMO schemes. Section 3.6 considers example results for the SDMA methods and also comparisons between the SDMA and AS schemes.

# 3.5.1 BEP performance

Fig. 5 illustrates BEP performance versus users' position in the allocation queue when the mean SNR is 10 dB, N = 12 and SISO transmission is applied. The BEP performance is shown with error free feedback channel and with feedback BEP  $p_b = 0.05$ . The reference results are a random allocation (RA) scheme without feedback information [12, Eq. (14-3-7)] and optimal RR allocation, where each user is assigned to the best available RB. We see that the simulation results match with the proposed analytical results. For the case where the channel has a SNR is above the threshold, the BEP is about  $8 \cdot 10^{-6}$ . On the other hand, the expected BEP is about 0.047 when a bad channel is allocated. Thus, the BEP performance of the uncoded transmission is sensitive to feedback bit errors and also to the user position in the queue when feedback is reliable. For example, the first user gets a good channel with a probability of 0.95 when  $p_b = 0.05$ , but the performance provided by the bad channel dominates the average BEP performance.



Fig 5. BEP vs. the user position in the allocation queue with SISO link, RB-wise one bit quantization, N = 12 and  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB. Marker points present simulation results.

# 3.5.2 Outage capacity

The outage capacity results in Figs. 6 and 7 show that the RB allocation based the RB-wise one bit information is robust against feedback errors. RR allocation based on RB-wise one bit feedback provides fair performance for the first users in the allocation queue.



Fig 6. Outage capacity vs. the user position in the allocation queue with SISO link, RB-wise one bit quantization, constant rate transmission, N = 12 and  $\bar{\gamma} = 6$  dB. Marker points present simulation results.



Fig 7. Outage capacity vs. the user position in the allocation queue with SISO link, RB-wise one bit quantization, variable rate transmission, N = 12 and  $\bar{\gamma} = 6$  dB. Marker points present simulation results.

The value of the "maximum" provided outage capacity and also the number of users who achieve this maximum spectral efficiency depends on the threshold value. There is only one RB available for the last user in the allocation queue and its performance equals to that of the RA in the constant rate transmission. In variable rate transmission, the one bit information is utilized in rate adaptation and the higher rate is applied with a probability of 0.5 in the transmission to the last user. It can be seen that the variable rate transmission outperforms the constant rate for the latest users. Therefore, numerical examples focus on variable rate transmission for the rest of this section.

The outage capacity versus the user position in the allocation queue is illustrated for  $N_t = 2$ ,  $N_r = 1$  and  $N_r = 2$  in Fig. 8 when the RB-wise one bit feedback method is used,  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$ ,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB, N = 8, and  $p_b = 0.05$ . The feedback overhead is shown in the legend. The threshold for resource block allocation and antenna selection in the TBAS scheme is set to be  $\xi_l = 0.9$ and  $\xi_l = 2$  for  $N_r = 1$  and  $N_r = 2$  when the expected number of channels having a SNR above the threshold is the same as in the other schemes. We can see again that the simulation results validate the proposed analytical results. The performance of the last user in the allocation queue corresponds to the performance of RA with rate adaptation based on the one bit quantization. The antenna selection schemes provide more allocation gain than the STBC scheme does when  $p_b < 0.05$ . On the other hand, the STBC scheme with the one bit feedback method provides fairer performance in the sense that it does not depend as much on the user position in the allocation queue.



Fig 8. Outage capacity vs. the user position in the allocation queue with RB-wise one bit quantization, variable rate transmission,  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$ ,  $N_t = 2$ , N = 8,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB, and  $p_b = 0.05$ . Marker points present simulation results.

The fairness can be further improved by giving any allocation queue position with equal probability for any user. The average outage capacity of the fair allocation becomes

$$C_{P_{\text{out}}} = \frac{1}{K} \sum_{k=1}^{K} C_{P_{\text{out}}}(k)$$
(73)

when users having the same  $\bar{\gamma}$  have the same average performance. The average outage capacity of the fair allocation versus the feedback bit error probability is illustrated in Figs. 9 and 10 with  $P_{\rm out} = 0.1$  and  $P_{\rm out} = 0.05$ , respectively, for one bit per resource block feedback strategy. The STBC scheme seems to be the most robust scheme against feedback bit errors as is understandable due to its open-loop nature. Resource block allocation based on the one bit quantization is robust against feedback bit errors provided that  $p_b < P_{\rm out}$ . If  $p_b > P_{\rm out}$ , the SNR value  $\gamma_o$  in (34) is below the quantization threshold  $\gamma_1$ . Thus, the sensitivity for feedback bit errors increases with decreasing outage probability. An antenna selection increases sensitivity to feedback errors. Antenna selection error leads to a random allocation for the "erroneous" antenna in the TBAS scheme. Thus, the performance of the TBAS method goes even below the SISO scheme when  $p_b$  increases.



Fig 9. Outage capacity of fair allocation vs. feedback bit error probability with RBwise one bit quantization, variable rate transmission,  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$ ,  $N_t = 2$ ,  $N_r = 1$ , N = K = 8, and  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB.



Fig 10. Outage capacity of fair allocation vs. feedback bit error probability with RBwise one bit quantization, variable rate transmission,  $P_{out} = 0.05$ ,  $N_t = 2$ ,  $N_r = 1$ , N = K = 8, and  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB.

The outage capacity results in Fig. 11 show that substantial SNR gain is achieved also with an imperfect feedback channel when the receiver is equipped with a single antenna. In the case of the SISO link, simple RR allocation provides about 7 dB of savings in the required SNR needed to achieve 2 b/s/Hz although the threshold is suboptimal. STBC and TBAS offer one dB of further improvement for the SNR, and RBAS a bit more than 2 dB gain when 2 b/s/Hz is desired and compared to the RB-wise one bit SISO scheme. The allocation gain is decreased when an antenna is added to the receiver and MRC is applied as can be seen from Fig. 12. Basically, the increased space diversity decreases multiuser diversity since the variability of the channel decreases [134]. However, the combination of STBC and the RB-wise one bit feedback scheme is attractive when slow link adaptation is applied due to the remarkable allocation gain and robustness against feedback bit errors.



Fig 11. Outage capacity of fair allocation vs. SNR with RB-wise one bit quantization, variable rate transmission,  $P_{out} = 0.1$ ,  $N_t = 2$ ,  $N_r = 1$ , N = K = 8, and  $p_b = 0.05$  dB.

# 3.5.3 Average spectral efficiency with optimal rate adaptation

Fig. 13 illustrates the average capacity with optimal rate adaptation versus the user position in the allocation queue with the RB-wise one bit feedback method,  $p_b = 0.1$  and  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB. In the fully loaded case K = N, the performance of the

last user is the same as that of the RA. We can see that simple and fair allocation with a suboptimal threshold provides significant allocation gain compared to the RA. RBAS provides the best performance at the cost of the highest feedback overhead. The TBAS scheme provides a good tradeoff between performance and feedback overhead. On the other hand, antenna selection with random allocation provides also relatively good performance. It is interesting that the system capacity in the SISO channel has the same order as that of the STBC scheme when  $N_r = 1$ . If the outage capacity is considered, the STBC scheme clearly outperforms the SISO scheme as was seen in Figs. 8–12. Actually, OFDMA with STBC outperforms also the RBAS case when  $p_b = 0.1$  and the outage capacity is considered. The average performance of the STBC scheme outperforms the SISO system in the case of random allocation. The resource block allocation based on one bit quantization with the STBC scheme provides good outage capacity performance due to the good MIMO diversity gain regardless of the feedback link quality. However, the fading of the SISO channel is more severe than that of the channel with STBC. Thus, utilizing multiuser diversity and optimal rate adaptation in the SISO-OFDMA system, the performance is close to that of the OFDMA with STBC. The results in [134] show that the maximum achievable throughput with scheduling and transmit diversity is definitely worse than that for the system with no diversity when the number of users and channels is large. Antenna selection further increases the number of channels, and hence, the achievable rates of good time-frequency resource blocks, and significant allocation gain is provided also in the presence of imperfect feedback.



Fig 12. Outage capacity of fair allocation vs. SNR with RB-wise one bit quantization, variable rate transmission,  $P_{out} = 0.1$ ,  $N_t = 2$ ,  $N_r = 2$ , N = K = 8, and  $p_b = 0.05$  dB.



Fig 13. Average spectral efficiency vs. the user position in the allocation queue with RB-wise one bit quantization, optimal rate adaptation  $N_t = 2$ , N = K = 8,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB, and  $p_b = 0.1$ . Marker points present simulation results.

# 3.6 Space division multiple access

The outage capacity results of the OFDMA-SDMA systems with the RB-wise one bit feedback strategy are illustrated in Fig. 14, where the number of timefrequency RBs is 8 and the total number of RBs is 16. For the same parameters, the average spectral efficiency with optimal rate adaptation is shown in Fig. 15. The spectral efficiency results for the SDMA case are shown for the used RB or equivalently per spatial stream. Since the spatial streams interfere with each other at the ZF detection, the spectral efficiency per RB is lower than that of the systems without spatial allocation. The spectral efficiency results of RB the allocation according to the RB-wise one bit information with optimal rate adaptation, with and without SDMA, are compared in Fig. 16. In order to obtain a simple and fair comparison, it is assumed that each user has the same mean SNR. The fully loaded case is assumed so that K = N = 8 and K = N = 16. The latter case is considered for the SDMA case to show that the performance is not improved significantly with N because threshold value is fixed. SDMA provides good spectral efficiency for moderate and high SNR values when ZF detection is able to distinguish the spatial streams. Surprisingly, SDMA with RA provides performance comparable to that achieved by the AS schemes when the SNR is high. However, the spectral efficiency per stream or per RB is half of the value shown in Fig. 16. Therefore, SDMA without precoding is suitable when the number of users is high and moderate data rate services are applied.



Fig 14. Outage capacity vs. the user position in the allocation with OFDMA-SDMA, RB-wise one bit quantization, variable rate transmission,  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$ , N = 16,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB, and  $p_b = 0$ . Marker points present simulation results.



Fig 15. Average spectral efficiency vs. the user position in the allocation queue with OFDMA-SDMA, RB-wise one bit quantization, optimal rate adaptation, N = 16,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB, and  $p_b = 0$ . Marker points present simulation results.



Fig 16. Spectral efficiency of the fair allocation vs. SNR with RB-wise one bit quantization, optimal rate adaptation,  $N_t = 2$ ,  $N_r = 2$ , and  $p_b = 0.05$  dB. In SDMA system, N = K = 8 and N = K = 16 are shown.

# 3.7 Summary

The performance of OFDMA systems with RR allocation based on the RBwise SNR quantization was analyzed. Single antenna transmission and several multiple antenna schemes were considered with an imperfect feedback channel. BEP performance, outage capacity results and the system average capacity with optimal rate adaptation were considered. Numerical results based on the analysis were compared to those obtained by computer simulations to validate the correctness of the proposed analysis.

The fundamental properties of RB-wise one bit feedback information based allocation were studied through the numerical examples based on the proposed analysis. The RB-wise one bit feedback information provided significant performance improvement over random or fixed allocation although the allocation method and the threshold value were suboptimal. The combination of RB-wise one bit feedback and STBC was promising if the feedback channel was unreliable and outage capacity was considered. Otherwise, antenna selection was an attractive method to enhance multiuser diversity especially with the optimal rate adaptation. The results of SDMA with ZF detection indicated that spatial allocation without precoding is an effective method to obtain high system capacity for moderate and high SNR values.

# 4 Analysis of the best-*M* feedback method

This chapter considers feedback strategy based on the best-M information. The best-M method means that feedback information is formed only from the M best RBs out of N alternatives, see Section 2.3.1 for further details. Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be a performance measure such as the BEP, the average spectral efficiency or the cumulative density function (CDF) of the SNR. On the condition that the kth position in the queue is admitted to the user, the performance of the RB allocation based on the best-M feedback scheme is given by

$$\mathcal{M}(k) = \frac{q(k, p_b)}{M} \sum_{n=1}^{M} \mathcal{M}_n^{\text{RB}} + \frac{1 - q(k, p_b)}{N - M} \sum_{n=M+1}^{N} \mathcal{M}_n^{\text{RB}},$$
(74)

where  $q(k, p_b)$  refers to the probability that a RB among the M best blocks is assigned to the kth user when the feedback bit error probability is  $p_b$ , and  $\mathcal{M}_n^{\text{RB}}$ is the average performance of the nth best RB (out of N units)<sup>6</sup>. Note that  $\mathcal{M}_n^{\text{RB}}$  depends on the mean SNR and is equal for users having the same mean SNR, since the same fading statistics are assumed for each user.

In order to simplify the performance derivations, the result in (74) can be written in relation to the average performance of a RB over fading. The average performance of the RB, i.e., the average performance of the random allocation (RA) or fixed allocation, is denoted as  $\mathcal{M}_{RB}$ .

**Proposition 6** The performance expression in (74) can be represented as

$$\mathcal{M}(k) = \frac{Nq(k, p_b) - M}{M(N - M)} \sum_{n=1}^{M} \mathcal{M}_n^{RB} + \frac{(1 - q(k, p_b))N}{N - M} \mathcal{M}_{RB}.$$
 (75)

Proof. In order to simplify notations and capacity derivations, we use the result

$$\mathcal{M}_{\rm RB} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \mathcal{M}_{n}^{\rm RB}$$
$$\iff \sum_{n=M+1}^{N} \mathcal{M}_{n}^{\rm RB} = N \mathcal{M}_{\rm RB} - \sum_{n=1}^{M} \mathcal{M}_{n}^{\rm RB} \triangleq \mathcal{M}_{M+}^{\rm RB}.$$
 (76)

Combining (74) and (76) we obtain (75).  $\Box$ 

If the order information is available at the allocation, the performance of the allocation based on the ordered best-M principle is of the form

$$\mathcal{M}(k) = \sum_{n=1}^{N} p_n(k, p_b) \mathcal{M}_n^{\text{RB}},$$
(77)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The Nth order statistics is considered, i.e.,  $\mathcal{M}_n^{\text{RB}}$  is the nth best RB out of N alternatives, unless mentioned otherwise.

where  $p_n(k, p_b)$  is the probability that the kth user gets the RB with the nth largest SNR. For n > M, the probability  $p_n(k, p_b)$  turns out to be constant and it is denoted by  $p_{M_+}(k, p_b)$  in this case. Thus, using the result in (76), we have

$$\mathcal{M}(k) = \sum_{n=1}^{M} p_n(k, p_b) \mathcal{M}_n^{\text{RB}} + p_{M_+}(k, p_b) \left( N \mathcal{M}_{\text{RB}} - \sum_{n=1}^{M} \mathcal{M}_n^{\text{RB}} \right)$$
  
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{M} \left( p_n(k, p_b) - p_{M_+}(k, p_b) \right) \mathcal{M}_n^{\text{RB}} + p_{M_+}(k, p_b) N \mathcal{M}_{\text{RB}}.$$
(78)

According to the order statistics, the PDF of the SNR of the nth best RB is expressed as

$$f_n^{\rm RB}(\gamma) = \frac{N!}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} F_{\rm RB}(\gamma)^{N-n} (1 - F_{\rm RB}(\gamma))^{n-1} f_{\rm RB}(\gamma), \qquad (79)$$

where  $F_{\rm RB}(\gamma)$  and  $f_{\rm RB}(\gamma)$  are the CDF and PDF of the SNR of a RB, respectively [135]. The corresponding CDF is of the form [135]

$$F_n^{\rm RB}(\gamma) = \sum_{j=N-n+1}^N \binom{N}{j} F_{\rm RB}(\gamma)^j (1 - F_{\rm RB}(\gamma))^{N-j}.$$
 (80)

### 4.1 Event probabilities

Consider first the best-1 feedback scheme and the perfect feedback channel<sup>7</sup>. Obviously, the first user always gets the indicated channel. The best RB of the kth user in the allocation queue has been assigned to one of the k-1 previous users with probability (k-1)/n. Thus, the best RB is assigned to the kth user with probability

$$q(k,0) = p_1(k,0) = \frac{N-k+1}{N}, \quad M = 1.$$
 (81)

In the case of an imperfect feedback channel and the best-1 feedback scheme, the probability that the best RB is assigned for the kth user can be expressed as

$$q(k, p_b) = p_1(k, p_b) = (1 - p_w)p_1(k, 0) + p_w(1 - p_1(k, 0))\frac{1}{N - 1}$$
  
=  $(1 - p_w)\frac{N - k + 1}{N} + p_w\frac{k - 1}{N(N - 1)},$  (82)

where  $p_w = 1 - (1 - p_b)^{\lceil \log_2(N) \rceil}$  is the error probability of the feedback word. From (82) we find that there are two alternative mechanisms through which the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The ordered best-1 and the best-1 feedback schemes are exactly the same.

best RB can be obtained. In the first alternative, the feedback word is correct and the best RB is available for the kth user. In the second alternative, the feedback word is incorrect but the wrong feedback word refers to a RB that is already in use. Thus, the scheduler selects a RB randomly and there is the unlikely possibility that the best one is selected. The nth best RB is allocated with probability  $p_{1+}(k, p_b) = (1 - p_1(k, p_b))/(N-1)$  for n > 2.

Consider next the best-M feedback scheme for M > 2 and an error free feedback word. If  $k \leq M$ , there is always an unoccupied RB that is within the set of the M best RBs and q(k, 0) = 1. Assume that k > M. Then

$$q(k,0) = 1 - {\binom{k-1}{k-M-1}} / {\binom{N}{M}},$$
(83)

where in the second term, the numerator is the number of combinations that include none of the M best RBs and the denominator gives the total number of groups. For an erroneous feedback channel, the feedback word error probability is given as  $p_w = 1 - (1 - p_b)^{\lceil \log_2(N!/M!(N-M)!) \rceil}$ . A RB from the M best blocks is granted to a user if the feedback word is correct and such RBs are available. On the other hand, if the feedback word is incorrect, it recommends all possible sets of the M RBs except the correct one with equal probability. Thus, the erroneous set best-M feedback word leads to almost random allocation and a good RB is obtained with a probability of approximately M/N. Thus, we find that

$$q(k, p_b) \approx (1 - p_w)q(k, 0) + p_w M/N.$$
 (84)

Even a one bit error in feedback causes random allocation. Furthermore, the feedback word error probability increases with N and M resulting in high sensitivity to feedback errors.

For the error free ordered best-M feedback case and  $k \leq M$ , the RB that is at least the kth best is always granted to the user. Hence, if n > k and  $k \leq M$ ,  $p_n(k,0) = 0$ . Assume that  $n \leq k$  and  $2 \leq n \leq M$ . The preceding users take k-1 RBs from N possible ones before the kth user. The number of possible combinations of k-1 user allocations for N RBs is  $\binom{N}{k-1} = N!/(k-1)!(N-k+1)!$ and we need to identify those combinations which contain the n-1 best RBs from the kth user's perspective, and, on the other hand, do not contain the nth best RB. Thus, we can select n-k RBs out of N-n alternatives freely and the probability  $p_n(k, 0)$  attains the form

$$p_n(k,0) = \begin{cases} (N-k+1)/N & n = 1, \\ \binom{N-n}{k-n} / \binom{N}{k-1} & n \le k, \ 2 \le n \le M, \\ 0 & n > k, \ k \le M. \end{cases}$$
(85)

If n > M, all the M best RBs have already been assigned to the preceding users and a RB for the kth user is allocated randomly from the set of unoccupied RBs. The product of probabilities related to these consecutive events form  $p_n(k,0)$  for n > M and k > M. Thus, we have

$$p_n(k,0) = \left[ \binom{N-M}{k-M-1} \middle/ \binom{N}{k-1} \right] \frac{1}{N-M},$$
(86)

for n > M, k > M. Hence,  $p_n(k,0) = p_{M_+}(k,0)$  does not depend on n when n > M. We further note that  $p_{M_+}(k,0) = 0$  if  $k \le M$ .

When M > 1, the exact probability  $p_n(k, p_b)$  for the ordered best-M feedback schemes becomes cumbersome and we determine approximations only for the cases M = 2 and M = 3. The correct feedback word is denoted by  $\mathcal{W} = [w_1, w_2, \ldots, w_M]$ , where  $w_x$  is the index of the xth best RB. The received feedback word is denoted by  $\hat{\mathcal{W}} = [\hat{w}_1, \hat{w}_2, \ldots, \hat{w}_M]$ . Furthermore, the set of the indices of the available RBs is denoted by  $\mathcal{A}$ . We note that  $p_{w_x} = 1 - (1 - p_b)^{\lceil \log_2(N) \rceil}$  for all x. Thus, we omit the index x from  $p_{w_x}$  for clarity. A couple of assumptions are used to simplify the determination of  $p_n(k, p_b)$ . It is assumed that  $\hat{w}_i \neq \hat{w}_j$  when  $i \neq j$ . The other assumption is stated so that all available RBs are allocated with the same probability when  $\hat{w}_x \notin \mathcal{A}$  for all  $x = 1, \ldots, M$  and random allocation has been applied. The index of the selected RB by random allocation (RA) is denoted by  $w_{RA}$ .

The probabilities of all possible events where the *n*th best RB is allocated to the *k*th user have to be summed to obtain  $p_n(k, p_b)$ . Using the two described assumptions, the probability  $p_1(k, p_b)$  for the ordered best-2 feedback scheme is approximated as

$$p_{1}(k, p_{b}) \approx P(w_{1} \in \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_{1} = w_{1})$$

$$+ P(w_{1} \in \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_{1} \neq w_{1} \cap \hat{w}_{1} \notin \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_{2} \neq w_{2} \cap \hat{w}_{2} = w_{1})$$

$$+ P(w_{1} \in \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_{1} \neq w_{1} \cap \hat{w}_{1} \notin \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_{2} = w_{2} \cap w_{2} \notin \mathcal{A} \cap w_{\mathrm{RA}} = w_{1})$$

$$+ P(w_{1} \in \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_{1} \neq w_{1} \cap \hat{w}_{1} \notin \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_{2} \neq w_{2} \cap w_{2} \notin \mathcal{A} \cap w_{\mathrm{RA}} = w_{1}).$$

$$(87)$$

We note that  $P(\hat{w}_1 \in \mathcal{A}) = p_1(k,0)$ ,  $P(\hat{w}_1 \in \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_2 \notin \mathcal{A}) = p_2(k,0)$ , and  $P(\hat{w}_2 = w_1 | \hat{w}_2 \neq w_2) = 1/(N-1)$ . Hence, the probability (87) can be expressed as

$$p_1(k, p_b) \approx p_1(k, 0)(1 - p_w) + \frac{p_2(k, 0)}{N - 1}p_w^2 + p_{M_+}(k, 0)p_w,$$
 (88)

where the last term is the sum of the two last terms in (87). Similarly, the probability that the second best RB is allocated to the *k*th user is defined by the

probabilities

$$p_{2}(k, p_{b}) \approx P(\hat{w}_{1} \neq w_{1} \cap w_{2} \in \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_{1} = w_{2}) + P(\hat{w}_{1} = w_{1} \cap \hat{w}_{1} \notin \mathcal{A} \cap w_{2} \in \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_{2} = w_{2}) + P(\hat{w}_{1} \neq w_{1} \cap \hat{w}_{1} \notin \mathcal{A} \cap w_{2} \in \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_{2} = w_{2}) + P(\hat{w}_{1} = w_{1} \cap \hat{w}_{1} \notin \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_{2} \neq w_{2} \cap \hat{w}_{2} \notin \mathcal{A} \cap w_{\mathrm{RA}} = w_{2}) + P(\hat{w}_{1} \neq w_{1} \cap \hat{w}_{1} \notin \mathcal{A} \cap \hat{w}_{2} \neq w_{2} \cap \hat{w}_{2} \notin \mathcal{A} \cap w_{\mathrm{RA}} = w_{2}), \approx \frac{p_{1}(k, 0)}{N - 1} p_{w} + p_{2}(k, 0)(1 - p_{w}) + p_{M_{+}}(k, 0)p_{w}.$$
(89)

The probability  $p_n(k, p_b)$  for n > 2 is simply calculated as  $p_n(k, p_b) = (1 - (p_1(k, p_b) + p_2(k, p_b)))/(N - 2).$ 

The probability  $p_n(k, p_b)$  for the ordered best-3 feedback scheme can be derived similarly as for the ordered best-2 feedback scheme. Thus, the probabilities  $p_n(k, p_b)$  for the ordered best-3 feedback scheme are shown without details and they are given as

$$p_1(k, p_b) \approx p_1(k, 0)(1 - p_w) + \frac{p_2(k, 0)}{N - 1}p_w^2 + \frac{p_3(k, 0)}{N - 1}p_w^2 + p_{M_+}(k, 0)p_w, \quad (90)$$

$$p_2(k, p_b) \approx \frac{p_1(k, 0)}{N - 1} p_w + p_2(k, 0)(1 - p_w) + \frac{p_3(k, 0)}{N - 1} p_w^2 + p_{M_+}(k, 0) p_w, \quad (91)$$

$$p_3(k, p_b) \approx \frac{p_1(k, 0)}{N - 1} p_w + \frac{p_2(k, 0)}{N - 1} p_w + p_3(k, 0)(1 - p_w) + p_{M_+}(k, 0)p_w, \quad (92)$$

$$p_n(k, p_b) \approx (1 - (p_1(k, p_b) + p_2(k, p_b) + p_3(k, p_b)))/(N - 3), \quad n \ge 3,$$
 (93)

where the two approximations given above are applied.

# 4.2 BEP analysis in SISO systems

The average BEP of the *n*th best RB is denoted by  $P_n$  The average BEP performance of the RB having the *n*th highest SNR can be calculated as

$$P_n = \int_0^\infty f_n^{\rm R}(\gamma) g(\gamma) d\gamma, \qquad (94)$$

where  $frnn(\gamma)$  is the PDF of the *n*th best RB in the case of a Rayleigh fading channel and  $g(\gamma)$  is the BEP function of the applied modulation in a non-fading AWGN channel. Applying integration by parts to (94) we get

$$P_n = -\int_0^\infty F_n^{\rm R}(\gamma)g'(\gamma)d\gamma, \qquad (95)$$

where  $F_n^{\mathrm{R}}(\gamma)$  is the CDF of the SNR of the *n*th largest SNR. Assuming IID fading over RBs, the CDF of the *n*th largest SNR out of N alternatives is

achieved by substituting (2) into (80) and it is of the form

$$F_n^{\rm R}(\gamma) = \sum_{j=N-n+1}^N \binom{N}{j} \left(1 - e^{-\gamma/\bar{\gamma}}\right)^j e^{-(N-j)\gamma/\bar{\gamma}}.$$
(96)

Using the binomial theorem [133, Eq. (3.1.1)], (96) can be expressed in the form

$$F_{n}^{\mathrm{R}}(\gamma) = \sum_{j=N-n+1}^{N} {\binom{N}{j}} \sum_{l=0}^{j} {\binom{j}{l}} (-1)^{l} e^{-\gamma/\bar{\gamma}(N-j+l)}.$$
 (97)

Substituting (27) and (97) to (95), using the substitutions  $x = -\gamma/\bar{\gamma}(N-j+l+\bar{\gamma})$ and  $\Gamma(1/2,0) = \sqrt{\pi}$ , we obtain

$$P_{n} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=N-n+1}^{N} \binom{N}{j} \sum_{l=0}^{j} \binom{j}{l} (-1)^{l} \sqrt{\frac{\bar{\gamma}}{\bar{\gamma}+N-j+l}}.$$
 (98)

In the case of Rayleigh fading and fixed allocation or RA, the BEP performance is given as [12, Eq. (14-3-7)]

$$P_{\rm R} = \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \sqrt{\frac{\bar{\gamma}}{1 + \bar{\gamma}}} \right). \tag{99}$$

Now we are able to calculate the BEP for a user allocated according to the best-M or the ordered best-M feedback method by substituting (98) and (99) into (75) or (78).

# 4.2.1 Asymptotic BEP analysis

The asymptotic BEP analysis is also derived for the BPSK. Let us assume that  $M \ll N$ . Thus,  $P_n$  tends to zero for  $n \ll M$  relatively rapidly when the SNR tends to infinity. Using (75), the BEP of the best-M feedback case for the large SNR values can be approximated as

$$P(k) \approx (1 - q(k, p_b))N/(N - M)P_{\rm R}, \ \bar{\gamma} >> 1,$$
 (100)

where  $P_{\rm R}$  is the one given in (99). Thus, the asymptotic decay of the BEP of best-*M* allocation is the same as that for a fully random allocation. Yet, there is a gain  $(1 - q(k, p_b))N/(N - M)$  in the BEP. In the allocation based on the ordered best-*M* feedback scheme, the slope of the mean BEP is also the same as that with fully random allocation. We can see from (78) that the BEP gain is approximately  $p_{M_+}(k, p_b)N$  when the SNR is large.

Consider now the asymptotic SNR gain for large SNR values between allocation according to the best-M feedback method and random allocation

without feedback information. The SNR required to achieve the BEP value  $P_{\rm R}$  in fully random allocation is denoted by  $\gamma_{\rm R}$ . The corresponding SNR for the *k*th user allocated according to the best-*M* feedback scheme is denoted by  $\gamma_k$ . The BEP gain in dB is denoted as

$$\gamma_{\rm G} = 10 \log_{10} \frac{\gamma_{\rm R}}{\gamma_k}.$$
 (101)

From (99) we can obtain the value of  $\gamma_{\rm R}$  to be of the form

$$\gamma_{\rm R} = \frac{(1 - 2P_{\rm R})^2}{1 - (1 - 2P_{\rm R})^2}.$$
(102)

It is easy to derive that for large SNR values,  $\gamma_k$  is approximately given by

$$\gamma_k = \frac{(1 - 2\alpha_k P_{\rm R})^2}{1 - (1 - 2\alpha_k P_{\rm R})^2},\tag{103}$$

where  $\alpha_k = (N - M)/((1 - q(k, p_b))N)$  for the set best-*M* scheme and  $\alpha_k = 1/(Np_{M_+}(k, p_b))$  for the ordered best-*M* scheme. Substituting (102) and (103) into (101) and assuming that  $P_{\rm R}$  goes to zero when  $\bar{\gamma}$  goes to infinity, the asymptotic BEP gain with large SNR values can be expressed as

$$\gamma_{\rm G} = 10 \log_{10} \alpha_k. \tag{104}$$

If  $p_{M_+}(k, p_b) = 0$  or  $q(k, p_b) = 1$ , the asymptotic BEP gain tends to infinity.

## 4.3 Outage capacity analysis

Constant rate transmission is considered in Section 4.3.1 for the Obest-M and best-M methods when single antenna transmission and reception are assumed. The outage capacity of variable rate transmission is straightforward but tedious to determine for the Obest-M scheme due to the cumbersome system probabilities as seen in Section 4.1. The analysis for variable rate transmission focuses on the best-M strategy without order information. Section 4.3.2 presents the outage capacity of variable rate transmission for the STBC and SDMA schemes. The outage capacity of variable rate transmission is investigated in Section 4.3.3 for AS.

# 4.3.1 Constant rate transmission

In the case of constant rate transmission, the outage capacity with a given outage probability for a slowly Rayleigh fading channel is given by

$$C_{P_{\text{out}}}(k) = \log_2(1 + \gamma_{\text{out}}(P_{\text{out}}, k)), \qquad (105)$$

67

where  $\gamma_{\text{out}}(P_{\text{out}}, k)$  is the SNR value that provides the desired outage probability to the *k*th user. Thus, the value of  $\gamma_{\text{out}}(P_{\text{out}}, k)$  has to be determined from the CDF of the SNR and then it is simply substituted in the mutual information formula for a non-fading AWGN channel [13].

The CDF for the best-M or the Obest-M scheme have been achieved by substituting  $F_n^{\text{RB}}(\gamma)$  and  $F_{\text{RB}}(\gamma)$  into (75) or (78), respectively. Thus, they are given as

$$F(\gamma) = \frac{Nq(k, p_b) - M}{M(N - M)} \sum_{n=1}^{M} F_n^{\text{RB}} + \frac{(1 - q(k, p_b))N}{N - M} F_{\text{RB}},$$
 (106)

for the best-M scheme and as

$$F(\gamma) = \sum_{n=1}^{M} \left( p_n(k, p_b) - p_{M_+}(k, p_b) \right) F_n^{\text{RB}} + p_{M_+}(k, p_b) N F_{\text{RB}}$$
(107)

for the Obest-*M* strategy. In order to determine the SNR value  $\gamma_{\text{out}}(P_{\text{out}}, k)$ , the *N*th order polynomial equations are formed from (106) or (107) so that  $F(\gamma) = P_{\text{out}}$ , where  $P_{\text{out}}$  is the desired outage probability. The root for the polynomial equation is denoted as  $\mathcal{R}(P_{\text{out}}) = F_{\text{RB}}(\gamma)$  and it can be determined through root finding. In the case of the SISO link, the SNR value  $\gamma_{\text{out}}(P_{\text{out}}, k)$ for the desired outage probability is derived as

$$\gamma_{\text{out}}(P_{\text{out}}) = -\bar{\gamma} \ln \left(1 - \mathcal{R}(P_{\text{out}})\right).$$
(108)

### 4.3.2 Variable rate transmission

Two transmission rates can be instantaneously adapted based on the fast best-M feedback information. The higher rate  $R_1$  is employed for channels indicated to be in the set of the M best channels. If all indicated channels have been occupied and the used channel is selected from the available RBs, the lower rate is used. Transmission rates depend on the  $\bar{\gamma}$ ,  $P_{\text{out}}$ ,  $p_b$ , M, and N. The outage capacity for the kth user using the best-M scheme, is expressed as

$$C_{P_{\text{out}}}(k) = \sum_{i=1}^{2} q^{(R_i)}(k) \log_2(1 + \gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}})),$$
(109)

where  $q^{(R_i)}$  is the probability that the *i*th rate is applied and the SNR value  $\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}})$  provides the desired outage probability. The SNR values that provide the desired  $P_{\text{out}}$  are solved from the CDF of the received SNR on the condition that the *i*th rate is applied and they are then simply substituted to the mutual information formula for an AWGN channel [13].

If  $k \leq M$ , there is always a free RB that is within the group of the M best RBs and the higher rate is applied, i.e.,  $q^{(R_1)}(k) = 1$ . The probability that a

user gets a channel from the group of the M best RBs when k > M is given as  $q^{(R_1)}(k) = 1 - {\binom{k-1}{k-M-1}}/{\binom{N}{M}}$ , see further details in Section 4.1. The lower rate is employed with probability  $q^{(R_2)}(k) = 1 - q^{(R_1)}(k)$ .

The notation  $(\gamma)$  is omitted in the CDF expressions for clarity in this section. In the case that the indicated channel is available, the antenna selection is perfect and M = 1, the CDF of the SNR with an imperfect feedback channel is of the form

$$F^{(R_1)} = (1 - p_w)F_1^{\text{RB}} + \frac{p_w}{N - 1}\sum_{n=2}^N F_n^{\text{RB}} = \left(1 - p_w - \frac{p_w}{N - 1}\right)F_1^{\text{RB}} + \frac{Np_w}{N - 1}F_{\text{RB}},$$
(110)

where  $p_w = 1 - (1 - p_b)^{\lceil \log_2(N) \rceil}$  is the word error probability of the best-1 feedback word and the result in (76) has been utilized, i.e.,

$$F_{\rm RB} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} F_n^{\rm RB} \iff \sum_{n=M+1}^{N} F_n^{\rm RB} = NF_{\rm RB} - \sum_{n=1}^{M} F_n^{\rm RB} \triangleq F_{M+}^{\rm RB}.$$
 (111)

The CDF for the lower rate is given as

$$F^{(R_2)} = \frac{1 - p_w}{N - 1} F_{2+}^{\text{RB}} + \frac{p_w}{N - 1} F_1^{\text{RB}} + p_w \frac{N - 2}{(N - 1)^2} F_{2+}^{\text{RB}} = \left(\frac{2p_w - 1}{N - 1} - p_w \frac{N - 2}{(N - 1)^2}\right) F_1^{\text{RB}} + \frac{N}{N - 1} \frac{N - 1 - p_w}{N - 1} F_{\text{RB}},$$
(112)

where in the upper expression, the first term represents the case of correct feedback, the second term presents the case that the best RB is randomly allocated when the feedback word is erroneous, and the third term represents the case where one of the N - 1 worst resources is randomly selected.

Consider next the best-M feedback scheme for M > 1. The feedback word error probability is given as  $p_w = 1 - (1 - p_b)^{\lceil \log_2(N!/M!(N-M)!) \rceil}$ . A RB from the M best blocks is granted to a user if the feedback word is correct and such RBs are available. On the other hand, if the feedback word is incorrect, it may recommend any of all the possible sets of the M RBs except the correct one with equal probability. Thus, the erroneous best-M feedback word leads to almost random allocation and the CDF of the SNR is given as

$$F^{(R_1)} \approx \frac{1 - p_w}{M} \sum_{n=1}^M F_n^{\text{RB}} + p_w F_{\text{RB}},$$
 (113)

when the higher rate is applied. Even a one bit error in the feedback word causes approximately random allocation. Similarly in the case that k > M and the indicated RBs have already been allocated to the preceding users in the

allocation queue, the CDF of the SNR is approximated to be of the form

$$F^{(R_2)} \approx \frac{1 - p_w}{N - M} F_{M+}^{\rm RB} + p_w F_{\rm RB} = -\frac{1 - p_w}{N - M} \sum_{n=1}^M F_n^{\rm RB} + \left(\frac{N - M p_w}{N - M}\right) F_{\rm RB}.$$
(114)

In order to determine the SNR value  $\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}})$  corresponding to the outage capacity value in (109), the value of  $F_{\text{RB}}$  has to be solved based on (110)–(114) with a given  $P_{\text{out}} = F^{(R_i)}$ . The (correct) root for the Nth order polynomial equation formed from (110)–(114) with a given  $P_{\text{out}}$  is denoted as  $\mathcal{R}_i(P_{\text{out}}) =$  $F_{\text{RB}}(\gamma)$ . Numerical root finding is needed to find the solution for  $\mathcal{R}_i(P_{\text{out}})$ . Now the desired SNR value can be generically derived as  $\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = F_{\text{RB}}^{-1}(\mathcal{R}_i(P_{\text{out}}))$ . Thus, for different transmission schemes, we have

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = -\bar{\gamma}\ln\left(1 - \mathcal{R}_i(P_{\text{out}})\right), \quad \text{for an SISO link}$$
(115)

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = \bar{\gamma} \mathcal{P}_{N_r}^{-1} \left( 1 - \mathcal{R}_i(P_{\text{out}}) \right), \quad \text{for an SIMO link with MRC}$$
(116)

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = \frac{\gamma}{N_t} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}}^{-1} \left(1 - \mathcal{R}_i(P_{\text{out}})\right), \quad \text{for the STBC scheme}$$
(117)

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = \frac{-\gamma}{2} \ln\left(1 - \mathcal{R}_i(P_{\text{out}})\right),\tag{118}$$

for a 2-by-2 MIMO link with SDMA w/o precoding

$$\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}}) = \frac{-\bar{\gamma}}{4} \mathcal{P}_2^{-1} \left(1 - \mathcal{R}_i(P_{\text{out}})\right)$$
(119)
for a 4 by 2 MIMO link with SDMA and STRC

for a 4-by-2 MIMO link with SDMA and STBC.

### 4.3.3 Antenna selection

The CDFs of the SNR are given by (110)-(114) when antenna selection is perfect. However, the CDFs are more complicated with imperfect antenna selection and only the case of  $N_t = 2$  is considered for M > 1.

In the case of the best-1 feedback method and the MRC receiver, the CDF of the SNR for the higher rate is approximated as

$$F^{(R_1)} \approx (1 - p_w)(1 - p_{ASE})F_1^{AS} + p_w(1 - p_{ASE})F_{1+}^{AS} + (1 - p_w)p_{ASE}F_{1+}^{MRC} + p_w p_{ASE}F_{ASE},$$
(120)

where  $F_{1+}^{AS} = \sum_{n=2}^{N} F_n^{AS} / (N-1)$ ,  $F_{1+}^{MRC} = \sum_{n=2}^{N_t} F_n^{MRC} / (NN_t - 1)$  and  $F_{ASE} = \sum_{n=2}^{N_t} F_n^{MRC} / (N_t - 1)$ . The first term in (120) represents the case of the correct best-1 feedback word and antenna selection and the second term is the CDF when the best-1 feedback word is erroneous and antenna selection is correct. The third term in (120) refers to the CDF when the best-1 word is correct and antenna selection is erroneous since the allocated RB can be any of the available
$NN_t$  channels except the best one. If the best-1 feedback word and antenna selection are erroneous the CDF is well approximated by the  $F_{\text{ASE}}$  that is found in the last term in (120). In the case where the best RB is allocated to previously scheduled users according to the received feedback, the CDF of the random allocation is approximated as

$$F^{(R_2)} \approx (1 - p_w)(1 - p_{ASE})F_{1+}^{AS} + p_w(1 - p_{ASE})\left(\frac{1}{N-1}F_1^{AS} + \frac{N-2}{(N-1)^2}F_{1+}^{AS}\right) + p_{ASE}F_{ASE},$$
(121)

where the first term is the CDF for the correct feedback word, the second and third terms form the CDF for the case with an erroneous best-1 feedback word and correct antenna selection and the last term refers to the CDF for the case with an antenna selection error.

For M > 1 and  $R_1$ , the CDF can be determined straightforwardly by (120) and it can be written as

$$F^{(R_1)} \approx (1 - p_w)(1 - p_{ASE}) \sum_{n=1}^{M} F_n^{AS} + p_w(1 - p_{ASE}) F_{n+}^{AS} + (1 - p_w) p_{ASE} \frac{1}{M} \sum_{l=1}^{M} F_{l+}^{MRC} + p_w p_{ASE} F_{ASE},$$
(122)

when the indicated channel is allocated and the higher rate is employed. The third term in (122) represents the CDF when the best-M word is correct and antenna selection is erroneous. In this event, the complete form would include terms from  $F_{1+}^{\text{MRC}}$  to  $F_{(2M-1)+}^{\text{MRC}}$  with a certain probability. The used approximation simplifies the CDF and causes only negligible error for the performance. In the case that the lower rate has to be used, the CDF of the SNR is well approximated by

$$F^{(R_2)} \approx (1 - p_w)(1 - p_{ASE})F^{AS}_{M+} + p_w(1 - p_{ASE})F_{AS} + p_{ASE}F_{ASE}.$$
 (123)

We can now form the  $NN_t$  order polynomial equation and solve  $F_{\text{MRC}}$  from (120)–(123) with a given  $P_{\text{out}}$ . The root of the polynomial equation for the *i*th rate is again denoted as  $\mathcal{R}_i$ . The SNR value  $\gamma_{\text{out},i}(P_{\text{out}})$  corresponding to the outage capacity value in (109) is given in (115) and (116) for  $N_r = 1$  and  $N_r = 2$ , respectively.

### 4.4 Average capacity analysis

For simplicity, the spectral efficiency analysis focuses on the best-M feedback strategy although the capacity expressions could be used for the Obest-M scheme as well. According to (75), the average capacity for the kth user is of the form

$$C(k) = \frac{Nq(k, p_b) - M}{M(N - M)} \sum_{n=1}^{M} C_n^{\text{RB}} + \frac{N(1 - q(k, p_b))}{N - M} C_{\text{RB}},$$
 (124)

where

$$C_n^{\rm RB} = \int_0^\infty f_n^{\rm RB}(\gamma) \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma$$
(125)

is the capacity of the nth best RB and

$$C_{\rm RB} = \int_0^\infty f_{\rm RB}(\gamma) \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma \tag{126}$$

is the average capacity of a RB over fading. The results in (124)-(126) are valid for the RBAS scheme only with perfect antenna selection.

# 4.4.1 Space-time block coding

Proposition 7 The average capacity of the nth best RB can be expressed as

$$C_{n}^{STBC} = \frac{N! \log_{2}(e)}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\mathcal{K})} \sum_{j=0}^{N-n} \binom{N-n}{j} (-1)^{j} \\ \cdot \sum_{l=0}^{(j+n-1)(\mathcal{K}-1)} \beta_{l,j} \alpha^{l+\mathcal{K}} \mathcal{I}_{4}(l+\mathcal{K}, (j+n)\alpha),$$
(127)

where  $\mathcal{K} = N_t N_r$ ,  $\alpha = N_t / \bar{\gamma}$ , the coefficient  $\beta_{l,j}$  can be derived as

$$\beta_{l,j} = \sum_{r=l-\mathcal{K}+1}^{l} \frac{\beta_{r,j-1}}{(l-r)!} I_{[0,(j-1)(\mathcal{K}-1)]},$$
(128)

 $\beta_{0,0}=\beta_{0,n}=1,\ \beta_{l,1}=1/l!,\ \beta_{1,j}=j,\ I_{[a,b]}=1$  when  $a\leq r,\leq b$  and  $I_{[a,b]}=0$  otherwise, and

$$\mathcal{I}_4(a,b) = \int_0^\infty \gamma^{a-1} e^{-b\gamma} \ln(1+\gamma) d\gamma = (a-1)! e^b \sum_{s=0}^a \frac{\Gamma(a-s,b)}{b^s}.$$
 (129)

*Proof.* The PDF of the SNR of the *n*th best RB for STBC transmission is attained by substituting (6) into (79). Then we have

$$f_n^{\text{STBC}}(\gamma) = \frac{N!}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} (1 - \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}}(\alpha\gamma))^{N-n} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}}(\alpha\gamma)^{n-1} \frac{\gamma^{\mathcal{K}}}{\Gamma(\mathcal{K})} \alpha^{\mathcal{K}} e^{-\alpha\gamma}$$

$$= \frac{N!}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} \sum_{j=0}^{N-n} {N-n \choose j} (-1)^j \left(\sum_{l=0}^{\mathcal{K}-1} (\alpha\gamma)^l \frac{1}{l!} e^{-\alpha\gamma}\right)^{j+n-1} \frac{\gamma^{\mathcal{K}}}{\Gamma(\mathcal{K})} \alpha^{\mathcal{K}} e^{-\alpha\gamma}$$

$$= \frac{N!}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} \sum_{j=0}^{N-n} {N-n \choose j} \frac{(-1)^j}{\Gamma(\mathcal{K})} \sum_{l=0}^{(j+n-1)(\mathcal{K}-1)} \beta_{l,j} \alpha^{l+\mathcal{K}} \gamma^{l+\mathcal{K}-1} e^{-(j+n)\alpha\gamma}$$
(130)

after using the binomial expansion, the multinomial theorem, and  $\alpha = N_t/\bar{\gamma}$ . The coefficients  $\beta_{l,j}$  can be derived as presented in (128), see [136], [137] for further details. The average capacity of the *n*th best RB is computed by substituting (130) into (124). We also need to derive the integral  $\mathcal{I}_4(l + \mathcal{K}, (j + n)\alpha) = \int_0^\infty \gamma^{l+\mathcal{K}-1} e^{-(j+n)\alpha\gamma} \ln(1+\gamma) d\gamma$ , which is derived in [126] and is given in (129).

The average capacity (126) has been derived in [127]. Moreover, it can be obtained also from the result derived in Section 3.4.1, i.e.,  $C_{\text{STBC}} = \log_2(e)\mathcal{I}_Q(0)$ , where  $\mathcal{I}_Q(0)$  is given in. Now, the average capacity for the system with the best-*M* feedback method and the STBC scheme is obtained by substituting (127) and  $C_{\text{STBC}}$  into (124).

The capacity for SISO, MISO or SIMO systems can be easily determined from (127). The capacity for the best RB in the Rayleigh channel, i.e.,  $C_1^{\rm R}$ , has also been derived in [103].

# 4.4.2 Antenna selection

The exact PDF of the SNR for a system with the RBAS scheme and the best-M feedback method is tedious to determine. Furthermore, the derivation of the capacity of the *n*th best RB for AS with the MRC receiver and  $N_r > 2$  leads to complex expressions. In order to obtain a tractable solution,  $N_r = N_t = 2$  is assumed and an approximate solution is provided in the following proposition.

**Proposition 8** The average capacity for the kth user in OFDMA systems with  $N_t = N_r = 2$ , RBAS, the MRC receiver, and the best-M feedback strategy is of the form

$$C(k) \approx (1 - p_{ASE}) \left( \frac{Nq(k, p_b) - M}{M(N - M)} \sum_{n=1}^{M} C_n^{AS} + \frac{N(1 - q(k, p_b))}{N - M} C_{AS} \right) + p_{ASE} \left( \frac{q(k, p_b)}{M} \sum_{l=1}^{M} C_{l+}^{MRC} + (1 - q(k, p_b)) C_{ASE} \right),$$
(131)

where

$$C_n^{AS}(\gamma) = \frac{N! \log_2(e)}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} \sum_{l=0}^{2(N-n)+1} \binom{2(N-n)+1}{l} (-1)^l \\ \cdot \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{m} 2^{n-m} (-1)^m \sum_{t=0}^{l+n-1+m} \binom{l+n-1+m}{s} \frac{\mathcal{I}_4(s+2,(l+n+m)/\bar{\gamma})}{\bar{\gamma}^{s+2}},$$
(132)

$$C_{ASE} = \log_2(e) (\mathcal{I}_2(0, 2/\bar{\gamma}, 0) + 2/\bar{\gamma}\mathcal{I}_2(1, 2/\bar{\gamma}, 0) + 1/\bar{\gamma}^2\mathcal{I}_2(2, 2/\bar{\gamma}, 0)).$$
(133)

The Integrals  $\mathcal{I}_4(a, b)$  and  $\mathcal{I}_2(c, \alpha, x)$  are given in (129) and (169), respectively. Furthermore,

$$C_{l+}^{MRC} = \frac{1}{NN_t - l} \sum_{n=l+1}^{NN_t} C_n^{MRC} = \frac{NN_t}{NN_t - 1} C_{MRC} - \frac{1}{NN_t} \sum_{n=1}^l C_n^{MRC}, \quad (134)$$

where the capacity of the nth best RB is denoted as  $C_n^{MRC}$  in (134) when the MRC is applied.

*Proof.* In the case of correct antenna selection, the capacity is exactly given by the first two terms in (131). If the correctly indicated RB is allocated but the antenna selection is erroneous, the complete capacity formula includes the capacities from  $C_{1+}^{\text{MRC}}$  to  $C_{(2M-1)+}^{\text{MRC}}$  with certain probabilities. For example, if the best RB is allocated and the antenna selection is erroneous, the capacity is exactly given by  $C_{1+}^{\text{MRC}} = \frac{1}{NN_t} \sum_{n=2}^{NN_t} C_n^{\text{MRC}}$ , because the allocated channel can be any out of the  $NN_t$  channels except the best one. In the case that the correctly indicated RB is allocated and the antenna selection is erroneous, the capacity is well approximated as  $\sum_{l=1}^{M} C_{l+}^{\text{MRC}}/M$ . This approximation provides performance very close to the correct one and simplify the calculus. The performance of the resource allocation based on the best-M method is almost random when the best-M feedback word is erroneous, the capacity is given by the last term in (131), i.e., the average capacity of an erroneously selected antenna.

Now we prove the result in (132) which is the capacity of the *n*th best RB in the case of antenna selection. Substituting (9) and (10) into (79), applying binomial expansion, and after some manipulations, the PDF of the SNR of the *n*th best RB can be written as

$$f_n^{AS}(\gamma) = \frac{N!}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} \sum_{l=0}^{2(N-n)+1} {\binom{2(N-n)+1}{l} (-1)^l} + \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} {\binom{n-1}{m} 2^{n-m} (-1)^m} \sum_{t=0}^{l+n-1+m} {\binom{l+n-1+m}{s}} \frac{\gamma^{s+1} e^{(l+n+m)\gamma/\bar{\gamma}}}{\bar{\gamma}^{s+2}}.$$
(135)

Substituting (135) into (125) and applying (129) we obtain (132).

The CDF of the SNR for the ASE case is given as  $F_{ASE}(\gamma) = 2F_{MRC}(\gamma) - F_{MRC}(\gamma)^2$  for  $N_t = 2$ . Applying integration by parts into  $C_{ASE} = \int_0^\infty f_{ASE}(\gamma) \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma$ , we have

$$C_{\rm ASE} = \log_2(e) \int_0^\infty \frac{\mathcal{P}_2^2(\gamma/\bar{\gamma})}{1+\gamma} d\gamma.$$
(136)

The result in (133) is obtained from (136) by using (170) in Appendix 1.  $\Box$ The capacity  $C_n^{\text{MRC}}$  in (134) is given by (127) with parameters  $\mathcal{K} = N_r$ ,  $N = NN_t$  and  $\alpha = 1/N_t$ . The average capacity for the MRC is derived as  $C_{\text{MRC}} = \mathcal{I}_{Q}(0)$ , where  $\mathcal{I}_{Q}(x)$  is presented in (52) with the parameters  $\mathcal{K} = N_r$  and  $N_t = 1$ . For antenna selection, we have  $C_{\text{AS}} = C_{\text{AS}1}(0)$ , where  $C_{\text{AS}1}(x)$  is given in (60).

# 4.4.3 Space-division multiple access

**Proposition 9** In the case of SDMA without diversity transmission and a  $2 \times 2$  MIMO channel, the capacity for the nth best RB (125) is expressed as

$$C_n^{ZF}(\gamma) = \frac{N! \log_2(e)}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} \sum_{j=0}^{N-n} \binom{N-n}{j} \frac{(-1)^j}{j+n} e^{2(j+n)/\bar{\gamma}} E_1\left(\frac{2(j+n)}{\bar{\gamma}}\right),$$
(137)

*Proof.* For the SDMA without diversity transmission, the PDF of the *n*th best RB is obtained by substituting (11) into (79), and after using the binomial expansion we have

$$f_n^{\rm ZF}(\gamma) = \frac{2N!}{(N-n)!(n-1)!\bar{\gamma}} \sum_{j=0}^{N-n} (-1)^j e^{-2(j+n)\gamma/\bar{\gamma}}.$$
 (138)

The capacity in (137) is obtained by substituting (138) into (125) and using  $\mathcal{I}_3(2(j+n)/\bar{\gamma},0)$  given by (171) in Appendix 1.  $\Box$ 

The average capacity of the ZF detection can be computed by substituting (11) into (126), and we obtain  $C_{\rm ZF} = \log_2(e)e^{2/\bar{\gamma}}E_1(2/\bar{\gamma})$ . The average capacity for the OFDMA-SDMA scheme is obtained by combining (124), (137), and  $C_{\rm ZF}$ . Similarly for the SDMA with STBC, we state the following proposition.

**Proposition 10** In the case of the SDMA with STBC and a  $4 \times 2$  MIMO channel, the capacity for the nth best RB can presented as

$$C_{n}^{DZF}(\gamma) = \frac{N! \log_{2}(e)}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} \sum_{i=0}^{N-n} (-1)^{i} \binom{N-n}{i} \sum_{j=0}^{i} \binom{i}{j}$$

$$\sum_{l=0}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{l} \alpha^{j+l+2} \mathcal{I}_{4}(j+l+2, \alpha(i+n)),$$
(139)

where  $\alpha = 4/\bar{\gamma}$  and  $\mathcal{I}_4(a, b)$  is given in (129).

*Proof.* In the case of SDMA with the STBC transmission, the PDF of the SNR of the nth best RB is found by substituting (13) into (79). After binomial

expansion and some manipulations, the PDF becomes

$$f_{n}^{\text{DZF}}(\gamma) = \frac{N!}{(N-n)!(n-1)!} \sum_{i=0}^{N-n} (-1)^{i} {\binom{N-n}{i}} \sum_{j=0}^{i} {\binom{i}{j}} \\ \sum_{l=0}^{n-1} {\binom{n-1}{l}} \alpha^{j+l+2} \gamma^{j+l+1} e^{-\alpha(i+n)\gamma},$$
(140)

where  $\alpha = 4/\bar{\gamma}$ . The capacity for the *n*th best RB can be achieved by substituting (140) into (125) and using (129).  $\Box$ 

For an OFDMA-SDMA system with STBC transmission, the average capacities in (124) are provided by (139) and  $C_{\text{DZF}} = \log_2(e)\mathcal{I}_Q(0)$ , where  $\mathcal{I}_Q(a)$  is given in (70). The average system capacity for OFDMA-SDMA with STBC is obtained by substituting (139) and  $C_{\text{DZF}}$  into (124).

### 4.5 Numerical examples

Similarly to the numerical results in Chapter 3, the analytical results are presented for the best-M feedback strategies as detailed in Section 3.5<sup>8</sup>. Section 4.5.1 considers the BEP and outage capacity performance of the best-M, Obest-M, and SBB-1 feedback strategies in the SISO link. Section 4.5.2 investigates the asymptotic BEP performance when the SNR tends to infinity. The combinations of multiple antenna methods and the best-M feedback method and the SBB-1 method are studied through outage capacity and the average capacity results in Section 4.5.3.

## 4.5.1 SISO communications

The average BEP performance versus user position in the allocation queue is illustrated in Fig. 17 when  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB, N = 12 and the feedback word is error free. The corresponding outage capacity results with  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$  and  $\bar{\gamma} = 6$  dB are shown in Fig. 18 for constant rate transmission and in Fig. 19 for variable rate transmission. The feedback overhead of each scheme is illustrated in Table 1. The reference results are a RA without feedback information and the optimum RR allocation where the user is always assigned to the best available channel. As expected, the performance of the resource assignment according to the ordered best-M feedback method provides optimum performance for the M first users. The performance degradation due to the missing order information in the best-Mfeedback scheme covers the first few users. The higher M is the more severe performance degradation is faced by the first users.

 $<sup>^{8}</sup>$  The curves illustrate analytical results in this section, but Fig. 22 differs from this rule in that some curves present simulation results

Table 1. The lengths of the different feedback words in bits.

$\overline{N}$	Best-1	OBest-2	OBest-3	Best-2	Best-3	SBB-1	_
12	4	8	12	7	9	6	

The performance of the M first users using the best-M feedback scheme is constant, which can be predicted based on (74). In Figs 17–19, the SBB-1 method has three sub-blocks and  $N_b = 4$ . Thus, the first users obtain the average performance of the best RB out of four candidate RBs in the SBB-1 method. The SBB-1 feedback method degrades the performance of the first users further. The BEP of the ordered best-M feedback strategy based system deviates rapidly from the optimum one with increasing k. If the indicated RBs are not available, the expected performance with the best-M schemes is worse than that of fully random allocation. Thus, for users k > M, the BEP performance is dominated by random allocation of the available RBs if  $M \ll N$ .



Fig 17. BEP vs. user position in the allocation with 12 RBs,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB, and  $p_b = 0$ . Marker points present simulation results.



Fig 18. Outage capacity vs. user position in the allocation with constant rate transmission,  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$ , 12 RBs,  $\bar{\gamma} = 6$  dB, and  $p_b = 0$ . Marker points present simulation results.



Fig 19. Outage capacity vs. user position in the allocation with variable rate transmission,  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$ , 12 RBs,  $\bar{\gamma} = 6$  dB, and  $p_b = 0$ . Marker points present simulation results.

The good performance for the first few users provided by the best-M feedback strategies is unfortunately lost when more practical erroneous feedback is received at the base station. This can be seen from the BEP and outage capacity performance results shown in Figs. 20–22 where  $p_b = 0.05$  and the other parameters the same as in Figs. 17–19. The SBB-1 feedback method seems to be remarkably more robust against feedback bit errors than that of the Obest-M and the conventional best-M schemes. The ordered best-1 feedback word indicates the wrong RB even in the case of a one bit error. The ordered best-2 and best-3 methods are also relatively sensitive to one bit errors. The set best-M feedback scheme is the most sensitive to feedback errors, because it leads easily to random allocation as explained in Section 4.1. If M > 1 and a one bit error occurs, the best-M feedback method leads to random allocation. The SBB-1 is not so sensitive to feedback errors because the feedback word related to the randomly selected sub-block can be correct when errors occur at the other sub-blocks. The error probability of the feedback word of a sub-block is also smaller than that of the Obest-M or best-M feedback words. Thus, the SBB-1 feedback strategy is an attractive one due to its good tradeoff between feedback overhead, robustness and allocation gain.



Fig 20. BEP vs. user position in the allocation with 12 RBs,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB, and  $p_b = 0.05$ . Marker points present simulation results.



Fig 21. Outage capacity vs. user position in the allocation with constant rate transmission,  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$ , 12 RBs,  $\bar{\gamma} = 6$  dB, and  $p_b = 0.05$ . Marker points present simulation results.



Fig 22. Outage capacity vs. user position in the allocation with variable rate transmission,  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$ , 12 RBs,  $\bar{\gamma} = 6$  dB, and  $p_b = 0.05$ . Marker points present simulation results. The results for the Obest-M scheme have been simulated.

# 4.5.2 Asymptotic BEP analysis

The BEP performances of the allocation with the best-1 and best-2 feedback schemes are illustrated for the first and fourth users in Fig. 23. The full diversity of RB selection among N alternatives is available only for the first user using the ordered best-M feedback scheme when the feedback is error free. For  $k \leq M$ and perfect feedback, the BEP gain between the best-M methods and random allocation approaches infinity as SNR goes to infinity. In the case where k > Mor the feedback is erroneous, the asymptotic slope of the BEP versus the SNR is the same as in random allocation regardless of the feedback schemes. The larger  $p_b$  or k is the smaller SNR value is needed to achieve an asymptotic BEP slope. A relatively low SNR is enough to achieve an asymptotic BEP slope when  $p_b = 0.05$  as can be seen from Fig. 23. For example, for users k = 1, 4, the SNR gain provided by the best-1 feedback method for the BEP value  $10^{-3}$  is exactly 7.95 dB, 2.84 dB, and according to (104) 7.89 dB, 2.83 dB.



Fig 23. BEP vs. SNR. Dash dotted curves illustrate the best-1 scheme and solid curves illustrate the set best-2 scheme.

### 4.5.3 Multiple antenna methods

Fig. 24 illustrates the outage capacity versus user position in the allocation queue with the best-M feedback scheme,  $P_{\rm out} = 0.1$ ,  $N_t = N_r = 2$ , N = K = 8,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB, and  $p_b = 0.1$ . We can see again that the simulation results validate

the proposed analysis. The approximations in (120)–(123) also provide accurate results for the RBAS scheme. The larger the M is the less of on effect the allocation queue position has on the performance. The RBAS scheme outperforms the STBC scheme although  $p_b = 0.1$ . Note that in the case of the RB-wise one bit feedback method the STBC clearly outperforms the RBAS when  $p_b = 0.1$ , as can be seen in Figs. 9 and 10. The best-M feedback word is more likely to be erroneous than the feedback word dedicated to antenna selection. Thus, errors in the best-M word dominantly deteriorate the performance in the presence of feedback errors. The impact that the feedback bit error probability has on the performance has been shown in Fig. 25, which illustrates the outage capacity of fair allocation versus feedback bit error probability with  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$ ,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB. In the SBB-1 AS method the number of sub-block is two,  $N_b = 2$  and the best antenna is indicated only for the indicated channels. Thus, two bits are needed to indicate the best RB of a sub-block and one bit per sub-block is needed for antenna selection. The combination of AS and the SBB-1 method is promising from the feedback overhead and robustness point of view.



Fig 24. Outage capacity vs. user position in the allocation queue with variable rate transmission,  $P_{out} = 0.1$ ,  $N_t = N_r = 2$ , N = K = 8,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB, and  $p_b = 0.1$ . Marker points present simulation results.



Fig 25. Outage capacity of fair allocation vs. feedback bit error probability with variable rate transmission,  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$ ,  $N_t = 2$ , N = K = 8,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB.

The average capacity versus user position in the allocation queue with the best-M feedback method,  $p_b = 0.1$  and  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB is illustrated in Fig. 26. We can see that the analytical results again match the simulation results. STBC provides a small improvement against single antenna transmission when the best-M feedback method is applied and  $N_r = 1$ . The best-1 feedback method provides good performance when optimal rate adaptation is used and only a single RB per user is allocated. Note, that the best-M method with M > 1 could obtain significant performance enhancement if the instantaneous channel knowledge for the M best channels was available. On the other hand, the feedback overhead of such a system is high and it is sensitive to feedback errors when M is high [104].



Fig 26. Average spectral efficiency vs. user position in the allocation queue with optimal rate adaptation,  $N_t = 2$ , N = K = 8,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB, and  $p_b = 0.1$ . Marker points present simulation results.

The RBAS outperforms the STBC at the cost of feedback overhead. On the other hand, we have realized that STBC does not provide notable gain over SIMO transmission just as the combination of the best-M method and AS information only for the M RBs does not provide an attractive tradeoff between performance and feedback overhead. A promising method is to combine the AS method and the SBB-M feedback strategy. The performance of the SBB-M and other schemes are compared in Fig. 27, which illustrates the SNR that is needed to achieve 4 b/s/Hz in fair allocation for a given feedback BEP. In the SBB-1 method with AS, there are four sub-blocks and  $N_b = 2$ . Thus, one bit is needed to find the best RB of each sub-block and additional four bits are needed to find the best antennas of the indicated RBs. In the combination of RBAS and SBB-1, the RBs are divided into two sub-blocks with  $N_b = 4$ .



Fig 27. Required SNR needed to support 4 b/s/Hz vs. feedback BEP with fair allocation, optimal rate adaptation, N = 8, K = 6.

Fig. 28 illustrates the performance of fair OFDMA-SDMA allocation. Note that the outage capacity performance is shown in b/s/Hz per RB. The spectral efficiency per RB or per user in this case is lower than that in the schemes with no SDMA. On the other hand, SDMA enables two times more users compared to the single user MIMO schemes and the spectral efficiency in b/s/Hzis double compared to the results in Fig. 28. The best-3 case provides even worse performance than that of the best-1 scheme when  $p_b > 0.03$ . The error probability of the best-M feedback word increases with N and M. Thus, the SBB-M method is more suitable for a large N. In Fig. 28, the sub-block includes four space-time-frequency RBs and, consequently, there are three sub-blocks in the SBB-1 method. The index of the best RB of each sub-block is fed back to the base station in the SBB-1 method. We can see that the proposed SBB-1 is significantly more robust against feedback bit errors than the conventional best-M scheme. Furthermore, the SBB-1 method reduces feedback overhead when compared to the best-3 method. STBC transmission outperforms single antenna transmission when outage capacity is used to measure the performance of the OFDMA-SDMA system. However, the results in Fig. 29 illustrate that SDMA without STBC provides more multiuser diversity when optimal rate adaptation is applied. It is assumed that each user has the same mean SNR value and the average capacity over time-frequency RBs is shown in Fig. 29.



Fig 28. Outage capacity per RB of fair OFDMA-SDMA allocation vs. feedback bit error probability with variable rate transmission,  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$ ,  $N_t = 4$  for DZF,  $N_t = 2$  for ZF,  $N_r = 2$ , N = K = 12, and  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB.



Fig 29. Average system spectral efficiency of fair OFDMA-SDMA allocation vs. SNR with optimal rate adaptation,  $N_t = 4$  for DZF,  $N_t = 2$  for ZF,  $N_r = 2$ , N = K = 12,  $p_b = 0.05$ .

Assume now that each user has the same mean SNR value. SDMA without STBC and AS are compared in Fig. 30. The number of RBs and users are different in the considered schemes to obtain the same feedback overhead and the number of time-frequency RBs is also the same in both schemes. For the SDMA system,  $N_b = 4$  and the number of sub-blocks is four whereas in the AS system, the parameters are the same as in Fig. 27. SDMA provides a higher sum rate than that of the AS scheme. On the other hand, AS outperforms SDMA from the user specific throughput point of view.



Fig 30. Average system spectral efficiency of fair allocation vs. SNR with optimal rate adaptation,  $N_t = N_r = 2$  and  $p_b = 0.05$ . For AS N = K = 8 and for SDMA N = K = 16.

### 4.6 Summary

The analysis of RB allocation in an OFDMA system based on the best-M feedback strategies was studied. The BEP and outage capacity performances were investigated for the conventional best-M scheme, the Obest-M method as well as for the SBB-1 method when an SISO link was assumed. The analysis of the Obest-M feedback strategy turned out to be tedious with an imperfect feedback link and furthermore it causes the highest feedback overhead of the considered best-M based methods. Thus, the spectral efficiency study focused on the conventional best-M scheme and the SBB-1 method in terms of the outage capacity and the system average capacity with optimal rate adaptation. Antenna selection and STBC multiple antenna techniques were considered when

a time-frequency RB was allocated exclusively to a single user. In addition, the combination of SDMA and OFDMA was analyzed with the assumption of two spatial RBs per time-frequency RB.

The best-M feedback strategies provides substantial allocation gain provided that the feedback channel is reliable. On the other hand, RB allocation based on the conventional best-M feedback information is sensitive to feedback bit errors. The modified best-M method, namely, the SBB-1 feedback strategy, is relatively robust against feedback errors and it also reduces the feedback overhead of the best-M method. The combination of the SBB-1 method and AS or SDMA turned out to provide promising spectral efficiency gain also with an imperfect feedback channel when compared to random allocation.

# 5 Analysis of relay enhanced link

# 5.1 System model

Two-hop downlink OFDMA communication from a BS to mobile user equipments (UE)s through a fixed infrastructure-based AF RN is considered. The study considers a single-cell multiuser OFDMA system, where K UEs share N available RBs and  $K \leq N$ . Fig. 31 illustrates the studied downlink relaying system. The RN employs the AF protocol and operates in half-duplex mode such that orthogonal (in time or in frequency) channels are allocated for reception and transmission in the RN. The study focuses on the situation where UEs are assumed to be far from the BS so that the path loss from the BS is too high to communicate directly with BS. Cooperative diversity through the BS and RN is not feasible. All UEs are connected to the RN and do not receive the direct transmission from the BS. In this system the RN is used to extend the coverage area similarly as also proposed for LTE-A networks [138, 139].

It is assumed that the source–relay (SR) channel is static and flat over the employed band of N subchannels. This is a realistic model, because both the BS and the RN are fixed infrastructure-based nodes and it is possible to achieve a line-of-sight (LOS) connection, where beamforming and power control can be used. The instantaneous signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) of the SR channel is denoted by  $\gamma_{\rm SR}$ , which is equal to the average SNR  $\bar{\gamma}_{\rm SR}$ .

In the relay-destination (RD) link, the received SNR admits IID exponential fading statistics with the average  $\bar{\gamma}_{\rm RD}$  in each transmit-receive antenna pair in each RB. The same assumptions as those given in Section 2.1 are valid for the RD link. Each UE estimates the RD channel and sends instantaneous feedback information to the RN via a feedback channel. The RN allocates RBs to the UEs according to the feedback information. Note that the RB allocation could also be performed at the base station since the allocation in the first hop does not have an impact on the performance in this system.

The end-to-end (E2E) SNR is given by [123, 140]

$$\gamma = \frac{\bar{\gamma}_{\rm SR} \gamma_{\rm RD}}{\bar{\gamma}_{\rm SR} + \gamma_{\rm RD} + 1},\tag{141}$$

where  $\gamma_{\rm RD}$  is the received SNR of the RD link. Now, we have probability

$$P(\gamma < x) = P\left(\frac{\bar{\gamma}_{SR}\gamma_{RD}}{\bar{\gamma}_{SR} + \gamma_{RD} + 1} < x\right)$$
  
=  $P\left(\gamma_{RD} < \frac{(\bar{\gamma}_{SR} + 1)x}{\bar{\gamma}_{SR} - x}\right)$   
=  $F_{RD}\left(\frac{(\bar{\gamma}_{SR} + 1)x}{\bar{\gamma}_{SR} - x}\right).$  (142)

Thus, for full rate STBC transmission and MRC, the CDF of the E2E SNR  $F_{\rm RB}(\gamma)$  can be expressed as

$$F_{\rm STBC}(\gamma) = 1 - \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}}\left(\frac{N_t(\gamma_{\rm SR} + 1)\gamma}{(\gamma_{\rm SR} - \gamma)\bar{\gamma}_{\rm RD}}\right),\tag{143}$$

where  $\mathcal{P}_m(x)$  is given in (8). For a system with antenna selection at the RN and MRC at the UE, the CDF of the SNR is presented as

$$F_{\rm AS}(\gamma) = \left(1 - \mathcal{P}_{N_r}\left(\frac{(\gamma_{\rm SR} + 1)\gamma}{(\gamma_{\rm SR} - \gamma)\bar{\gamma}_{\rm RD}}\right)\right)^{N_t}.$$
 (144)



Fig 31. Downlink multiuser communications through fixed-infrastructure AF relay node.

### 5.2 Resource block wise one bit feedback scheme

In this section, the capacity derivation follows straightforwardly the same principles as presented in Section 3.4, but now the PDF and CDF of the E2E SNR have to be used. Only one bit quantization is considered for the relay enhanced link. The average capacity of the kth user in the allocation queue is expressed as

$$C(k) = \frac{q_{1}(k, p_{b})}{2p_{1}^{Q}} \underbrace{\int_{\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}}^{\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{SR}}} f_{\mathrm{RB}}(\gamma) \log_{2}(1+\gamma) d\gamma}_{C_{1}(\gamma_{\mathrm{T}})} + \frac{q_{0}(k, p_{b})}{2p_{0}^{Q}} \underbrace{\int_{0}^{\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}} f_{\mathrm{RB}}(\gamma) \log_{2}(1+\gamma) d\gamma}_{C_{0}(\gamma_{\mathrm{T}})},$$
(145)

where the factor  $\frac{1}{2}$  comes from the half duplex relaying assumption. The expression in (145) is valid for the STBC scheme and for antenna selection with perfect antenna selection.

#### Space-Time Block Coding

Applying integration by parts to  $C_1(\gamma_{\rm T})$  in (145), it becomes  $C_{\rm STBC1}(\gamma_{\rm T}) = \log_2(e)[p_1^Q \ln(1+\gamma_{\rm T}) + \int_{\gamma_{\rm T}}^{\bar{\gamma}_{\rm SR}} (1-F_{\rm STBC}(\gamma))/(1+\gamma)d\gamma]$ . Similarly as in Appendix 2, we apply the substitution  $t = \frac{\alpha(\gamma_{\rm SR}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{\rm SR}-\gamma}$ ,  $\alpha = N_t/\bar{\gamma}_{\rm RD}$  and partial fraction decomposition, resulting in the expression

$$C_{\text{STBC1}}(\gamma_{\text{T}}) = \log_{2}(e) \left[ p_{1}^{Q} \ln(1 + \gamma_{\text{T}}) + \int_{\gamma_{\text{T}}^{\prime}}^{\infty} \sum_{i=1}^{\mathcal{K}-1} \frac{t^{i}e^{-t}}{i!} \left( \frac{1}{\alpha + t} - \frac{1}{\alpha(\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}} + 1) + t} \right) dt \right]$$
  
$$= \log_{2}(e) \left[ p_{1}^{Q} \ln(1 + \gamma_{\text{T}}) + \sum_{i=1}^{\mathcal{K}-1} \left( \mathcal{I}_{6}(\gamma_{\text{T}}^{\prime}, i, 1, \alpha) - \mathcal{I}_{6}(\gamma_{\text{T}}^{\prime}, i, 1, \alpha(\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}} + 1)) \right) \right],$$
(146)

where  $\gamma'_{\rm T} = \frac{\alpha(\gamma_{\rm SR}+1)\gamma_{\rm T}}{\gamma_{\rm SR}-\gamma_{\rm T}}$ ,  $\alpha = N_t/\bar{\gamma}_{\rm RD}$  and  $\mathcal{I}_6$  is given by (174). The capacity  $C_0(\gamma_{\rm T})$  can be derived using (146) so that  $C_{\rm STBC0}(\gamma_{\rm T}) = C_{\rm STBC1}(0) - C_{\rm STBC1}(\gamma_{\rm T})$ .

#### Antenna Selection

The capacity with optimal rate adaptation can be expressed as

$$C(k) = \frac{q_1(k, p_b)}{2} ((1 - p_{ASE})C_{AS1}(\gamma_1) + p_{ASE}C_{ASE1}(\gamma_1)) + \frac{q_0(k, p_b)}{2} ((1 - p_{ASE})C_{AS0}(\gamma_1) + p_{ASE}C_{ASE0}(\gamma_1))$$
(147)

where  $p_{ASE}$  is the probability of antenna selection error (ASE),

$$C_{\rm AS1}(\gamma_{\rm T}) = \int_{\gamma_{\rm T}}^{\infty} f_{\rm AS}(\gamma) / p_1^{\rm Q} \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma, \qquad (148)$$

$$C_{\rm ASE1}(\gamma_{\rm T}) = \int_0^\infty f_{\rm ASE1}(\gamma | \gamma_{\rm AS} > \gamma_{\rm T}) \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma, \qquad (149)$$

$$C_{\rm AS0}(\gamma_{\rm T}) = \int_0^{\gamma_{\rm T}} f_{\rm AS}(\gamma) / p_0^{\rm Q} \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma, \qquad (150)$$

$$C_{\rm ASE0}(\gamma_{\rm T}) = \int_0^{\gamma_{\rm T}} f_{\rm ASE0}(\gamma | \gamma_{\rm AS} < \gamma_{\rm T}) \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma, \qquad (151)$$

and  $\gamma_{\rm AS}$  is the SNR at the best antenna.

The capacity  $C_{\rm AS1}(\gamma_{\rm T})$  provides the average spectral efficiency for the channel whose SNR exceeds the threshold when the antenna selection is correct. The closed form capacity can be derived by applying integration by parts to (148) and substituting (144) to the resulting integrals. Thus, the capacity is now of the form

$$C_{\rm AS1}(\gamma_{\rm T}) = \log_2(e) \left[ p_1^Q \ln(1+\gamma_{\rm T}) + \int_{\gamma_{\rm T}}^{\infty} \frac{2\mathcal{P}_2\left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma_{\rm SR}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{\rm SR}-\gamma}\right) - \left(\mathcal{P}_2\left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma_{\rm SR}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{\rm SR}-\gamma}\right)\right)^2}{1+\gamma} d\gamma \right]$$
$$= \log_2(e) \left[ p_1^Q \ln(1+\gamma_{\rm T}) + 2\mathcal{I}_5(\gamma_{\rm T},1) - \mathcal{I}_5(\gamma_{\rm T},2) \right], \qquad (152)$$

where the integral  $\mathcal{I}_5$  is derived in the Appendix 2.

The capacity in (150) corresponds to a best antenna whose SNR is below the threshold. It can be easily derived as  $C_{\rm AS0}(\gamma_{\rm T}) = (C_{\rm AS1}(0) - p_1^Q C_{\rm AS1}(\gamma_{\rm T}))/p_0^Q$ .

For erroneous antenna selection, the capacity is given by  $C_{\text{ASE1}}(\gamma_{\text{T}})$  in the case where  $\gamma_{\text{AS}} > \gamma_{\text{T}}$ . This integral is also derived using integration by parts. Thus, we need to know the CDF of the SNR for the ASE case which is determined in (64) to be of the form

$$F_{\text{ASE1}}(\gamma_*|\gamma_{\text{AS}}) = \begin{cases} \frac{2F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_*)}{1+F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_1)} & \gamma_* < \gamma_{\text{T}}, \gamma_{\text{AS}} > \gamma_{\text{T}} \\ \frac{2F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_*)}{1+F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_*)} & \gamma_* > \gamma_{\text{T}}, \gamma_{\text{AS}} > \gamma_*, \end{cases}$$
(153)

where  $F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma_*) = 1 - \mathcal{P}_{N_r}\left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma_{\text{SR}}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{\text{SR}}-\gamma}\right)$  is now the E2E CDF of the system with single antenna AF relaying and the MRC receiver. The integral has to be integrated in two parts so that  $C_{\text{ASE1}}(\gamma_{\text{T}}) = \int_0^{\gamma_{\text{T}}} \frac{1-F_{\text{ASE1}}(\gamma_*|\gamma_{\text{AS}})}{1+\gamma} d\gamma + \int_{\gamma_{\text{T}}}^{\infty} \frac{1-F_{\text{ASE1}}(\gamma_*|\gamma_{\text{AS}})}{1+\gamma} d\gamma = \log_2(e)(\mathcal{I}_{\text{P0}}(\gamma_{\text{T}}) + \mathcal{I}_{\text{P1}}(\gamma_{\text{T}}))$ . The closed form solution can be easily found for the integral  $\mathcal{I}_{\text{P0}}(\gamma_{\text{T}})$  and it can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{I}_{P0}(\gamma_{T}) = \int_{0}^{\gamma_{T}} \frac{-\mathcal{P}_{2}\left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma_{SR}+1)\gamma_{T}}{\gamma_{SR}-\gamma_{T}}\right) + 2\mathcal{P}_{2}\left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma_{SR}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{SR}-\gamma}\right)}{\left(2 - \mathcal{P}_{2}\left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma_{SR}+1)\gamma_{T}}{\gamma_{SR}-\gamma_{T}}\right)\right)(1+\gamma)} d\gamma \\
= -\frac{-\mathcal{P}_{2}\left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma_{SR}+1)\gamma_{T}}{\gamma_{SR}-\gamma_{T}}\right)\ln(1+\gamma_{T}) + 2\mathcal{I}_{5}(\gamma_{T},1)}{2 - \mathcal{P}_{2}\left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma_{SR}+1)\gamma_{T}}{\gamma_{SR}-\gamma_{T}}\right)}, \quad (154)$$

where  $\mathcal{I}_5$  is derived in Appendix 2. The closed form solution for the integral  $\mathcal{I}_{P1}(\gamma_T)$ ) does not exist, but we can expand the term  $1 - F_{ASE1}(\gamma|\gamma_{AS}), \gamma > \gamma_T$ , using a geometric series as follows  $\frac{\mathcal{P}_2(b)}{2-\mathcal{P}_2(b)} = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{P}_2(b)\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{P}_2(b)\right)^i = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^i}\mathcal{P}_2(b)^i$  because  $\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{P}_2(b) < 1$ . Thus, now we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{P1}(\gamma_{T}) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^{i}} \int_{\gamma_{T}}^{\bar{\gamma}_{SR}} \frac{\left(\mathcal{P}_{2}\left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma_{SR}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{SR}-\gamma}\right)\right)^{i}}{1+\gamma} d\gamma,$$

$$= \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^{i}} \mathcal{I}_{5}(\gamma_{T}, i),$$
(155)

where  $\mathcal{I}_5$  is derived in the Appendix 2.

The capacity in (151) refers to the case where the antenna selection is erroneous and  $\gamma_{AS} < \gamma_{T}$ . The CDF for this case is given by

$$F_{\rm ASE0}(\gamma_*|\gamma_{\rm AS}) = \frac{2F_{\rm MRC}(\gamma_*)}{F_{\rm MRC}(\gamma_{\rm T}) + F_{\rm MRC}(\gamma_*)},\tag{156}$$

where  $\gamma_* < \gamma_{\rm T}$  and  $\gamma_* < \gamma_{\rm AS} < \gamma_{\rm T}$ . Applying integration by parts and geometric series similarly as in (155), after some derivations, the capacity (151) can be rewritten as

$$C_{\text{ASE}_{0}}(\gamma_{\text{T}}) = \log(1+\gamma_{\text{T}}) \left(1-\frac{2}{B}\right) - 2\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{B^{i+1}} - \frac{1}{B^{i}}\right) \underbrace{\int_{0}^{\gamma_{\text{T}}} \frac{\left(\mathcal{P}_{2}\left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma_{\text{SR}}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{\text{SR}}-\gamma}\right)\right)^{i}}{1+\gamma}}_{\mathcal{I}_{5}(0,i)-\mathcal{I}_{5}(\gamma_{\text{T}},i)} d\gamma}$$
(157)

where  $B = 2 - \mathcal{P}_2\left(\frac{\alpha(\gamma_{\text{SR}}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{\text{SR}}-\gamma}\right)$  and  $\mathcal{I}_5$  is derived in the Appendix 2.

# 5.3 Best-*M* feedback scheme

#### Space-Time Block Coding

In the case of half duplex AF relaying, the expected capacity for the kth user can be derived as

$$C(k) = \frac{Nq(k, p_b) - M}{2M(N - M)} \sum_{n=1}^{M} C_n^{\text{STBC}} + \frac{N(1 - q(k, p_b))}{2(N - M)} C_{\text{STBC}},$$
 (158)

where  $C_n^{\text{STBC}} = \int_0^\infty f_n^{\text{STBC}}(\gamma) \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma$  refers to the capacity of the *n*th best RB and  $C_{\text{STBC}} = \int_0^\infty f_{\text{STBC}}(\gamma) \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma$  is the capacity of a RB over fading.

Applying integration by parts to  $C_n^{\text{STBC}}$ , the capacity of the *n*th best channel can be derived as

$$C_n^{\text{STBC}} = \log_2(1 + \bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}) - \int_0^{\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}} \frac{\log_2(e) F_n^{\text{STBC}}(\gamma)}{1 + \gamma} d\gamma.$$
(159)

Now we need to define the CDF of the *n*th best RB for the system with STBC transmission at the RN and MRC at the UE. Substituting (143) into (80), this CDF can be expressed

$$F_n^{\text{STBC}}(\gamma) = \sum_{j=N-n+1}^N {\binom{N}{j}} \left( 1 - \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}} \left( \frac{\alpha(\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{\text{SR}}-\gamma} \right) \right)^j$$
$$\left( \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{K}} \left( \frac{\alpha(\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}+1)\gamma}{(\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}-\gamma)} \right) \right)^{N-j}$$
$$= \sum_{j=N-n+1}^N {\binom{N}{j}} \sum_{l=0}^j {\binom{j}{l}} (-1)^l e^{-(l+N-j)\frac{\alpha(\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}+1)\gamma}{(\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}-\gamma)}}$$
$$\frac{(\mathcal{K}-1)l+N-j}{\sum_{r=0}} \beta_{r,l+N-j} \left( \frac{\alpha(\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}+1)\gamma}{(\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}-\gamma)} \right)^r, \tag{160}$$

where  $\alpha = N_t / \bar{\gamma}_{\text{RD}}$  and the coefficient  $\beta_{l,j}$  is given in 128. The second expression in (160) is obtained using binomial expansion. Substituting (160) into (159) and using the substitution  $t = \frac{\alpha(\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}+1)\gamma}{(\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}-\gamma)}$  similarly as in the Appendix 2, after some derivations we end up with the result

$$C_{n}^{\text{STBC}}(\gamma) = \sum_{j=N-n+1}^{N} {\binom{N}{j}} \sum_{l=0}^{j} {\binom{j}{l}} (-1)^{l} \\ \sum_{r=0}^{(\mathcal{K}-1)l+N-j} \beta_{r,l+N-j} (\mathcal{I}_{6}(0,r,l+N-j,\alpha) - \mathcal{I}_{6}(0,r,l+N-j,\alpha(\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}+1))),$$
(161)

where  $\mathcal{I}_6$  is given in (174).

#### **Antenna Selection**

In the case of perfect antenna selection, the closed form solution can be derived. When the antenna selection is erroneous, the exact PDF or CDF of the SNR for the system with the best-M feedback method is tedious to determine. Based on the capacity formula in (131), the capacity for the antenna selection is well approximated by

$$C(k) \approx (1 - p_{ASE}) \left( \frac{Nq(k, p_b) - M}{2M(N - M)} \sum_{n=1}^{M} C_n^{AS} + \frac{N(1 - q(k, p_b))}{2(N - M)} C_{AS} \right) + p_{ASE} \left( \frac{q(k, p_b)}{2M} \sum_{l=1}^{M} C_{l+}^{MRC} + (1 - q(k, p_b)) C_{ASE} \right),$$
(162)

where  $p_{ASE}$  is the probability of antenna selection error given in (43). Furthermore,  $C_{l+}^{\text{MRC}} = \frac{1}{NN_t - l} \sum_{n=l+1}^{NN_t} C_n^{\text{MRC}} = \frac{NN_t}{NN_t - 1} C_{\text{MRC}} - \frac{1}{NN_t} \sum_{n=1}^{l} C_n^{\text{MRC}}$ , where the capacity of the *n*th best RB is denoted as  $C_n^{\text{MRC}}$  when the MRC is applied. The capacity  $C_n^{\text{AS}}$  refers to the *n*th best RB with correct antenna selection.

It can be derived as

$$C_n^{\rm AS} = \log_2(1+\bar{\gamma}_{\rm SR}) - \int_0^{\bar{\gamma}_{\rm SR}} \log_2(e) \frac{F_n^{\rm AS}(\gamma)}{1+\gamma} d\gamma, \tag{163}$$

where we have applied integration by parts and  $F_n^{\rm AS}(\gamma)$  refers to the CDF of the nth best channel of the best antenna. For the RN with  $N_t = 2$  and the MRC receiver with  $N_r = 2$ , the CDF  $F_n^{AS}(\gamma)$  can be expressed as

$$F_n^{AS}(\gamma) = \sum_{j=N-n+1}^{N} {N \choose j} \left( 1 - \mathcal{P}_2 \left( \frac{\alpha(\gamma_{SR}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{SR}-\gamma} \right) \right)^{2j} \\ \left( 2\mathcal{P}_2 \left( \frac{\alpha(\gamma_{SR}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{SR}-\gamma} \right) - \left( \mathcal{P}_2 \left( \frac{\alpha(\gamma_{SR}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{SR}-\gamma} \right) \right)^2 \right)^{N-j} \\ = \sum_{j=N-n+1}^{N} {N \choose j} \sum_{l=0}^{2j} {2j \choose l} (-1)^l \sum_{m=0}^{N-j} {N-j \choose m} \\ 2^{N-j-m} (-1)^m \left( \mathcal{P}_2 \left( \frac{\alpha(\gamma_{SR}+1)\gamma}{\gamma_{SR}-\gamma} \right) \right)^{l+m+N-j}$$
(164)

With the aid of the results in Appendix 2, the capacity in (163) can be rewritten as

$$C_n^{\text{AS}} = \log_2(1 + \bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}) - \log_2(e) \sum_{j=N-n+1}^N \binom{N}{j} \sum_{l=0}^{2j} \binom{2j}{l}$$
$$(-1)^l \sum_{m=0}^{N-j} \binom{N-j}{m} 2^{N-j-m} (-1)^m \mathcal{I}_5(0, l+m+N-j)$$
(165)

The average capacity of AS over fading, i.e.,  $C_{\rm AS}$  in (162) is given by  $C_{\rm AS} = C_{\rm AS1}(0) = 2\mathcal{I}_5(0,1) - \mathcal{I}_5(0,2)$ , where  $C_{\rm AS1}$  is presented in (152). The capacity  $C_n^{\text{MRC}}$  is given by (161) with the parameters  $\mathcal{K} = N_r$ ,  $N = NN_t$  and  $\alpha = 1/N_t$ . The average capacity for the MRC is derived as  $C_{\text{MRC}} = C_1(0)$ , where  $C_1(0)$  is presented in (146) with the parameters  $\mathcal{K} = N_r$  and  $\alpha = 1/N_t$ .

The term  $C_{\text{ASE}}$  in (162) refers to the case where both the best-M feedback word and the antenna selection are erroneous. The CDF of the SNR for the ASE case is given as  $F_{\text{ASE}}(\gamma) = 2F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma) - F_{\text{MRC}}(\gamma)^2$  for  $N_t = 2$ . Applying integration by parts into  $C_{\text{ASE}} = \int_0^{\bar{\gamma}_{\text{SR}}} f_{\text{ASE}}(\gamma) \log_2(1+\gamma) d\gamma$ , we have

$$C_{\text{ASE}} = \log_2(e) \underbrace{\int_0^\infty \frac{\left(\mathcal{P}_2\left(\frac{(\gamma_{\text{SR}}+1)\gamma}{(\gamma_{\text{SR}}-\gamma)\bar{\gamma}_{\text{RD}}}\right)\right)^2}{1+\gamma}}_{\mathcal{I}_5(0,2)} d\gamma}_{\mathcal{I}_5(0,2)}$$
(166)

where  $\mathcal{I}_5$  is derived in the appendix 2 with  $\alpha = 1/\bar{\gamma}_{RD}$ .

# 5.4 Numerical examples

In numerical examples, it is assumed that  $N_t = N_r = 2$  and there are eight RBs and users, i.e, N = K = 8. The SNR at the first hop is  $\bar{\gamma}_{SR} = 20$  dB for each RB. The threshold for one bit quantization was set so that  $P(\gamma > \gamma_{\rm T}) = 0.3125$ . This threshold was determined numerically to provide the best average performance over allocation queue positions when  $p_b = 0.05$  and  $\gamma_{\rm RD} = 15$  dB. Fig. 32 illustrates the performance of the expected capacity versus user position in the allocation queue when the feedback BEP is 0.05 and  $\bar{\gamma}_{RD} = 10$  dB. The performance of the last user is the same as that in random allocation (RA) whereas the first users gets a good channel with a high probability. However, the capacity variation between users is smaller than in the system in [123] with optimal pairing where the worst SR channel is paired with the worst RD channel, resulting in performance for the last user that is remarkably lower than that in RA. As already demonstrated in Sections 3.5.3 and 4.5.3, AS outperforms STBC also with an imperfect feedback link. On the other hand, AS requires feedback information. If the index of the best antenna is requested separately for the assigned channel, one bit of information is enough for AS (with two transmit antennas). In the case of the fast AS, N bits of RB-wise feedback information for AS have been sent together with the feedback information dedicated for RB allocation.

Relatively high SNR values  $\bar{\gamma}_{\text{RD}}$  are needed to provide high data rate communications through the half duplex relay protocol. Fig. 33 illustrates the  $\bar{\gamma}_{\text{RD}}$  values that are needed to provide 2 b/s/Hz E2E spectral efficiency in queue position fair allocation, in which each user gets each queue position with equal probability. The performance differences between the feedback schemes are relatively small in the case of AS. Otherwise, RB allocation with different feedback schemes behaves similarly as the one presented in Sections 3.5 and 4.5. AS with RA provides performance close to that of the STBC scheme. All the considered feedback schemes provide substantial performance enhancement also with imperfect feedback. The tradeoff between feedback overhead, system performance, and robustness against feedback errors is promising in the SBB-1 method with  $N_b = 4$  and 2 sub-blocks. In a partially loaded case, i.e., when K < N, the allocation gain would be larger.



Fig 32. Average spectral efficiency vs. user position in the allocation queue with  $N_t = N_r = 2$ ,  $\bar{\gamma}_{SR} = 20$ dB,  $\bar{\gamma}_{RD} = 10$ dB, N = K = 8 and  $p_b = 0.05$ . Solid curves illustrate the performance of the AS scheme and dashed curves present the performance of the STBC scheme.



Fig 33. Required  $\bar{\gamma}_{RD}$  to achieve spectral efficiency of 2 b/s/Hz vs. feedback BEP when  $N_t = N_r = 2$ ,  $\bar{\gamma}_{SR} = 20$ dB and N = K = 8. Allocation queue position fair channel assignment is applied. Solid curves illustrate the performance of the AS scheme and dashed curves present the performance of the STBC scheme.

### 5.5 Summary

System average capacity results were investigated for a system with dynamic OFDMA and a wireless AF relay node. The presented analysis was straightforward extension of the analysis presented for single-hop systems previously. Multiple antennae were assumed for each end. RBs were allocated according to the limited feedback information which was based on the best-*M* information or RB-wise one bit quantization. In particular, STBC and AS multi-antenna schemes were studied. Optimal rate adaptation was assumed for the assigned channels. The results indicated that simple and practical round robin allocation provides significant performance gain over random allocation with very limited feedback information. In particular, the SBB-1 feedback method provided substantial performance gain with low feedback overhead in the case where a single RB per user was allocated. The RB-wise one bit feedback strategy achieved the best performance as well as robustness against feedback bit errors.

# 6 Comparisons

The basic properties of RB allocation based on the best-M feedback strategies and RB-wise one bit quantization were studied in Sections 3.5 and 4.5, respectively, when IID fading for each RB was assumed. The purpose of this chapter is two-fold. The first aim is to compare the best-M feedback strategies and the RB-wise one bit feedback schemes through further numerical examples, since the best choice of the combination of feedback scheme for RB allocation and MIMO scheme depends on the number of users, the number of RBs and feedback channel reliability, and performance measure. The combinations of feedback strategies and multiple antenna schemes are compared in Section 6.1.

The seventh assumption in Section 2.1 enabled the proposed analytical approach. Furthermore, it was explained that the IID channel condition can be approximately achieved when feedback is only formed from few uncorrelated RBs. The second purpose is to show the validity of this RB selection method. Thus, the analytical results with an idealized channel model are compared to those obtained from the simulation results with practical frequency selective fading in Section 6.2.

### 6.1 Best-*M* versus RB-wise one bit SNR quantization

Fig. 34 illustrates the average outage capacity of fair allocation versus N when K = N,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB,  $p_b = 0$ , and  $p_b = 0.05$ . Table 2 illustrates the feedback word length for each feedback method. The feedback schemes are not fair in the sense of feedback overhead. The performance of the allocation based on the 1-bit/RB feedback method improves with increasing N, while the performance of both best-M schemes slightly degrades with imperfect feedback. The feedback word error probability of the best-M scheme increases with N and M. However, the best-2 and best-3 feedback methods provide significant allocation gain with a low feedback overhead. On the other hand, some redundancy could be inserted for the set best-M feedback to improve performance so that the overhead would be the same as that for the 1-bit/RB feedback method.

$\overline{N}$	Best-1	OBest-2	OBest-3	Best-2	Best-3	1-bit/RB
6	3	6	9	4	5	6
8	3	6	9	5	6	8
12	4	8	12	7	9	12
16	4	8	12	7	10	16
24	5	10	15	9	11	24

Antenna selection is an attractive method to enhance spectral efficiency when optimal rate adaptation is applied. The SNR gain of fair allocation with different feedback methods and antenna selection schemes is illustrated in Fig. 35, which depicts the SNR which is required to achieve spectral efficiency of 4 b/s/Hzwith a given  $p_b$ . Note that the partially loaded case is considered in Fig. 35 so that N = 8 and K = 6. In the TBAS scheme, the feedback word emphasizes resource block allocation. Only one bit is used for the antenna selection and about 1 dB SNR of gain can be achieved against random allocation. The SBB-1 method provides more performance gain than the TBAS scheme does. In the SBB-1 method, four bits are used for frequency allocation and four bits are used for antenna selection. More precisely, N = 8 resource blocks are divided into four sub-blocks. A sub-block includes two resource blocks, and one bit is needed to indicate the best one. In addition, one bit is used to refer to the best antenna of the indicated frequency resource block for each sub-block. The performance can be further improved by using RBAS at the cost of the increased feedback overhead. In the RBAS schemes, the antenna selection is emphasized in the feedback word. Resource block allocation on top of the antenna selection enables to finding spectrally efficient channels. The three bit best-1 feedback word significantly enhances the performance when RBAS is applied. If the best channel is allocated and the antenna selection is correct, the peak rate out of the  $NN_t$  potential channels is obtained. The SBB-1 feedback principle is the most promising one when RBAS is applied. The combination of the RBAS and SBB-1 is based on the two sub-blocks in Fig. 35. Thus, four feedback bits are needed to indicate the best resource blocks of the sub-blocks. On the other hand, if the rate adaptation follows only the large scale fading and outage capacity constraint, the RB-wise one bit scheme with STBC provides attractive outage capacity as illustrated in Fig. 36. The RB-wise one bit scheme with an optimized threshold value would provide even more performance gain over random or fixed allocation.



Fig 34. Average outage capacity of fair allocation vs. the number of RBs with constant rate transmission, K = N,  $P_{\text{out}} = 0.1$ , and  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB. Solid curves represent performance with  $p_b = 0.05$  and dash dotted curves with  $p_b = 0$ . Cross marked dash dotted curve shows the performance of the optimal allocation with  $p_b = 0$ .



Fig 35. Required mean SNR to support 4 b/s/Hz/user vs. feedback bit error probability with fair RB allocation, N = 8, K = 6,  $N_t = N_r = 2$ .



Fig 36. Outage capacity vs. feedback BEP in fair OFDMA with variable rate transmission N = K = 8,  $P_{out} = 0.1$ ,  $N_t = 2$ ,  $N_r = 1$ .

The results for the SDMA systems are basically similar as those for the MIMO schemes with a single user per RB. The RB-wise one bit feedback scheme is advantageous when outage capacity is examined whereas the SBB-1 feedback method is attractive when optimal rate adaptation is applied at the BS. The SNR gain of the fair OFDMA-SDMA RB allocation is illustrated in Fig. 37 with N = K = 16. Resource block allocation based on the best-1 feedback method improves the average capacity significantly, since only a single resource block is allocated for each user. If more resource blocks are allocated per user, the best-1 feedback method, the space-time-frequency resource blocks are divided into four sub-blocks, i.e., it recommends four channels out of 16 alternatives. The tradeoff between the average capacity and the feedback overhead provided by the SBB-1 feedback strategy is advantageous.



Fig 37. Required mean SNR to support 2 b/s/Hz/user vs. feedback bit error probability with fair OFDMA-SDMA,  $N_t = 4$  for DZF,  $N_t = 2$  for ZF,  $N_r = 2$ , N = K = 16.

# 6.2 Analysis versus practical fading channel

In order to show that analytical results provide suitable approximations of the performance in a practical environment, spectral efficiency results are simulated with the RB selection described in Section 2.1. The size of FFT is 2048 and 1728 subcarriers are used. A RB consists of 12 adjacent subcarriers. Users form feedback information from 8 selected RBs so that there are 18 RBs between the used RBs.

Figs. 38 and 39 illustrate the capacity versus user position in the allocation queue with  $p_b = 0.05$ ,  $N_t = N_r = 2$ , N = K = 8 and  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB. A single sample SNR is taken from each RB. An exponentially decaying channel with 20 MHz bandwidth and a 0.5 microsecond root mean square value of delay are used in the simulations. We can see that the analytical results are close to those obtained in simulations.



Fig 38. Average spectral efficiency vs. user position in the allocation queue with best-M feedback,  $p_b = 0.05$ ,  $N_t = N_r = 2$ , N = K = 8,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB. Solid curves present analytical results and dotted curves illustrate simulation results.



Fig 39. Average spectral efficiency vs. user position in the allocation queue with RB-wise one bit feedback,  $p_b = 0.05$ ,  $N_t = N_r = 2$ , N = K = 8,  $\bar{\gamma} = 10$  dB. Solid curves present analytical results and dotted curves illustrate simulation results.

Further example results are simulated using an extended typical urban (ETU) channel, which represents high frequency selectivity [141]. Analytical and simulated outage capacity results are collected into Table 3 when  $\bar{\gamma} = 6$  dB and  $P_{\rm out} = 0.1$ . The performance was evaluated based on the average SNR over subcarriers at the RB. Note that in the ETU channel the subcarriers in the RB are not fully correlated. Thus, averaging removes the effect of the peak and the most faded subcarriers. Consequently, the performances of the last users are better in the simulations than in analytical results. If a RB consists of one subcarrier, the performance of the last user would be the same as that in random allocation.

method / user	Best-1	Best-2	Best-3	1-b/RB	optimum
analysis / $k = 1$	2.70	2.70	2.70	2.06	2.70
simulation / $k = 1$	2.49	2.49	2.49	2.03	2.49
analysis / $k = 4$	1.04	2.07	2.30	2.02	2.31
simulation / $k = 4$	1.21	1.97	2.17	2.00	2.19
analysis / $k = 6$	0.68	0.96	1.40	1.60	1.80
simulation / $k = 6$	0.88	1.12	1.46	1.56	1.78
analysis / $k = 8$	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51	0.51
simulation / $k = 8$	0.73	0.74	0.75	0.75	0.75

Table 3. Outage capacity (b/s/Hz) of the  $k{\rm th}$  user,  $P_{\rm out}=0.1\;\bar{\gamma}=6$  dB.
# 7 Conclusion

## 7.1 Summary

The analysis of a MIMO-OFDMA system with limited feedback was considered in this thesis. The study focused particularly on MIMO-OFDMA resource block (RB) allocation based on the best-*M* feedback strategies and on RB-wise quantized SNR information. The first chapter included background for the system model and a literature review of the prior work related to the topic in consideration. The system model was presented in Chapter 2. The mobile terminals were assumed to send feedback information only from a few uncorrelated resource blocks in order to achieve a reasonable feedback overhead also with a large number of resource blocks in the frequency domain. Consequently, the fading of the resource blocks was modelled to be IID. This assumption enabled a communication theoretic approach for the performance evaluation of OFDMA systems. The allocation was based on the practical round robin principle, which is suitable for delay critical communications such as VoIP or video streaming.

Chapter 3 addressed the analysis of the OFDMA system with the feedback information based on SNR quantization. The analysis concentrated on RB-wise one bit quantization which generates feasible feedback overhead for practical systems. However, many performance expression were also valid for more general quantizations with an arbitrary number of bits. The BEP performance was analyzed for a SISO link when uncoded BPSK was assumed. The analytical expressions for outage capacity and system average capacity with optimal rate adaptation were derived for several MIMO methods. AS and STBC were used at the transmitter and MRC was applied at the receiver when each RB was allocated exclusively to a single user. Simple OFDMA-SDMA schemes were also analyzed when zero forcing (ZF) detection was assumed at the receiver. The RB-wise one bit feedback method provided significant allocation gain with regard to the random or fixed allocation and robustness against feedback bit errors with suboptimal quantization and simple RR RB allocation. The combination of STBC and RB-wise one bit feedback turned out to be promising when the feedback channel was erroneous and the outage capacity was used to measure the performance. The combination of RBAS and RB-wise one bit feedback provided good average capacity with optimal rate adaptation at the cost of increased feedback overhead. TBAS yielded AS gain over single antenna transmission with low feedback overhead, provided that the feedback channel was reliable. SDMA-OFDMA without diversity transmission and with optimal rate adaptation provided the highest system spectral efficiency for moderate and high SNR values. On the other hand, the spectral efficiency per user was lower in SDMA than that provided by AS.

The performance of OFDMA RB allocation with the best-M feedback

strategies was characterized in Chapter 4. The BEP performance and the outage capacity provided by three different best-M methods were investigated when a SISO link was assumed. The outage capacity and the average capacity with optimal rate adaptation were investigated for the same MIMO methods as those considered for the RB-wise SNR quantization scheme. The best-M feedback strategies provided substantial allocation gain provided that the feedback channel was reliable. On the other hand, RB allocation based on the conventional best-M feedback information was sensitive to feedback bit errors. The modified best-M method, namely, the SBB-1 feedback strategy, was relatively robust against feedback errors and it also reduced the feedback overhead of the best-M method. The combination of the SBB-1 method and AS or SDMA turned out to provide promising spectral efficiency gain with an imperfect feedback channel too when compared to random allocation.

Chapter 5 investigated the average capacity of a system with dynamic OFDMA and a wireless infrastructure AF relay node. Multiple antennas were assumed for each end. Frequency were allocated according to the limited feedback information which was based on the best-*M* information or RB-wise one bit quantization. STBC and AS multi-antenna schemes were studied. Optimal rate adaptation was assumed for the assigned channels. The results indicated that simple and practical RR allocation provides significant performance gain with very limited feedback information. The SBB-1 feedback method provided substantial performance improvement over random allocation with low feedback overhead in the case where a single RB per user was allocated. The RB-wise one bit feedback strategy achieved the best performance as well as robustness against feedback bit errors.

The results demonstrated that the best feedback method for the resource block allocation and multiple antenna transmission is not always the same, but it depends on the employed performance measure and several system parameters. Thus, the introduced analytical expressions offer useful tools to compare the feedback reduction schemes with desired parameters. One of the purposes of Chapter 6 was to compare the combinations of feedback and multiple antenna schemes. The results indicated that RB-wise SNR based quantization is more robust against feedback bit errors than the best-M feedback methods are. On the other hand, the SBB-1 method turned out to provide good robustness. When the outage capacity was considered with an unreliable feedback channel, the STBC or SDMA and RB-wise one bit feedback scheme was a good choice, whereas in the case of optimal rate adaptation, the SBB-1 method with AS or SDMA provided an attractive tradeoff between feedback overhead and performance.

The analytical expressions were derived based on the assumption of IID fading. The other purpose of Chapter 6 was to show that the analytical results with an idealized channel model provide a suitable performance benchmark when the RBs are selected properly. In the simulations, the receivers conveyed feedback information to the transmitter only from a few RBs which were as

far from each in the frequency domain as possible. The results in Section 6.2 illustrated that the analytical results are close to those obtained via computer simulations in a practical frequency selective fading channel.

## 7.2 Future work

There are several open research issues related to RB allocation with limited feedback. In this thesis, RB allocation was based on the RR allocation in which a single RB was assigned per user. In addition, the number of users was limited to be equal or less than the number of RBs. The results could be different when several RBs per user are assigned. Based on the results proposed in this thesis, the analysis could be straightforwardly extended for RR allocation assigning several RBs per user. In the best-M feedback schemes, the parameter M should be equal or larger than the number of the allocated channels to obtain good performance. Similarly, the number of the indicated channels or sub-blocks should be large enough in SBB-M methods.

The average capacity results were presented for optimal rate adaptation, which is not the most suitable performance measure for practical systems. There is a separate feedback word for the modulation and code rates in practical systems. For example, the same transmission rate could be used for each RBs above the threshold in the RB-wise one bit quantization case [104]. Only a single transmission rate is needed to be indicated from the receiver to the transmitter. The analytical expressions could be straightforwardly extended to cover such practical rate adaptation. In the best-M feedback methods, several feedback methods for the instantaneous transmission rate could be studied. If the transmission rate was indicated for all the M best channels, the performance would be improved at the cost of increased feedback overhead

In this thesis, the threshold value in the RB-wise one bit feedback scheme was suboptimal. One could study threshold optimization in the RB-wise one feedback scheme. It would be interesting to see the impact that the number of required channels per user has on the threshold value. Practical rate adaptation might also need threshold optimization [104].

The used RR allocation is simple and practical, but the performance of more sophisticated RB allocation methods could also be worthy of further study. The allocation gain could also be studied in the case where the number of users is larger than the number of RBs and only the preferable users according to the received feedback information are allocated. In such allocation the fairness issue is important to consider using, e.g., proportional fair allocation.

Yet, another important future research topic is to extend the results for transmit beamforming with limited feedback. In an OFDMA system the feedback design for beamforming is a difficult problem due to the increasing feedback overhead. Beamforming based on a similar principle as TBAS could be interesting to analyze. Relay based OFDMA networks also includes several open research problems. The presented results could be extended for the case of the practical rate adaptation. The feedback methods and analytical results could be extended for a selection between the RN and BS when UEs receive a strong signal from both nodes. It would be interesting to compare RB-wise node selection and node selection where the UE is connected only to a single node. Furthermore, the optimization of the RB allocation and feedback design for multiuser relay networks includes open problems.

Since the most suitable combination of feedback method and multiple antenna scheme depends on several parameters, the design of adaptive feedback through system level simulations could be an important research issue to find a practical feedback protocol which provides good performance for several services with different QoS. The feedback form could be adapted according to user location, i.e., average performance and QoS. Adaptive and opportunistic feedback protocols could be combined with the RB selection method considered in the thesis. Moreover, the interference limited multicell environment could have on impact on the feedback design.

# References

- 1. Leinonen J, Hämäläinen J & Juntti M (accepted) Performance analysis of downlink OFDMA resource allocation with limited feedback. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications.
- 2. Leinonen J, Hämäläinen J & Juntti M (2008) Performance analysis of downlink OFDMA frequency scheduling with limited feedback. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Communications. Beijing, China, 3318–3322.
- Leinonen J, Hämäläinen J & Juntti M (2008) Outage capacity analysis of downlink ODFMA resource allocation with limited feedback. Proceedings of the IEEE Information Theory Workshop. Porto, Portugal, 61–65.
   Leinonen J, Hämäläinen J & Juntti M (2008) Outage capacity analysis of downlink
- Leinonen J, Hämäläinen J & Juntti M (2008) Outage capacity analysis of downlink OFDMA resource allocation with multiple transmit antennae and limited feedback. Proceedings of the IEEE Global Telecommunication Conference. New Orleans, USA, 1–5.
- Leinonen J, Hämäläinen J & Juntti M (2008) Capacity analysis of downlink OFDMA resource allocation with limited feedback and antenna selection. Proceedings of the International Symposium on Wireless Personal Multimedia Communications. Lapland, Finland, 1–5.
- 6. Leinonen J, Hämäläinen J & Juntti M (to be submitted) Capacity analysis of downlink MIMO-OFDMA resource allocation with limited feedback. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology.
- Leinonen J, Hämäläinen J & Juntti M (2009) Capacity analysis of downlink MIMO-OFDMA resource allocation with resource wise 1-bit feedback. Proc. IEEE International Workshop on Multiple Access Communuications. Dresden, Germany, 1–5.
- 8. Leinonen J, Hämäläinen J & Juntti M (2009) Capacity analysis of downlink MIMO-OFDMA frequency allocation with imperfect feedback information. Proceedings of the IEEE Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications. Perugia, Italy, 1–5.
- Leinonen J, Hämäläinen J & Juntti M (2009) Outage capacity analysis of resource allocation in downlink MIMO-OFDMA systems with the best-M feedback method. Proceedings of the IEEE Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications. Perugia, Italy, 1–5.
- Leinonen J, Riihonen T, Hämäläinen J & Juntti M (2009, accepted) Subchannel allocation in relay-enhanced OFDMA downlink with imperfect feedback. Proceedings of the IEEE Global Telecommunication Conference. Hawaii, USA, 1–5.
- 11. Molisch AF (2005) Wireless Communications. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, England.
- 12. Proakis JG (1995) Digital Communications. McGraw-Hill, Inc., New York, USA, 3rd edition.
- 13. Tse D & Viswanath P (2005) Fundamentals of Wireless Communication. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- 14. Vriendt J, Laine P, Lerouge C & Xu X (2002) Mobile network evolution: a revolution on the move. IEEE Transactions on Magnetics 40(4): 104–111.
- Goldsmith A (2005) Wireless Communications. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA.
- 16. Holma H & Toskala A (2000) WCDMA for UMTS Radio Access for Third Generation Mobile Communications. John Wiley & Sons, first edition.
- 17. Parkvall S, Englund E, Lundevall M & Torsner J (2006) Evolving 3G mobile systems: broadband and broadcast services in WCDMA. IEEE Transactions on Magnetics 44(2): 30-36.
- 18. ANŠI/IEEE (2003) Standard 802.11, 1999 Edition (R2003): Information technology – telecommunications and information exchange between systems – local

and metropolitan area networks – specific requirements part 11: Wireless LAN medium access control (MAC) and physical layer (PHY) specifications. Technical report.

- 19. ETSI (TS 101 683 V1.1.1 (2000-02), 2000) Broadband radio access networks (BRAN); HIPERLAN type 2; system overview. Technical report, European Telecommunications Standards Institute (ETSI).
- 20. Ekström H, Furuskär A, Karlsson J, Meyer M, Parkvall S, Torsner J & Wahlqvist M (2006) Technical solutions for the 3G long-term evolution. IEEE Communications Magazine 44(3): 38-45.
- 21. 3rd Generation Partnership Project (3GPP) (2006) Physical layer aspect for evolved universal terrestrial radio access (UTRA). Technical report, 3rd Generation Partnership Project (3GPP).
- 22. on Broadband Wireless Access Standards TIWG (2005) IEEE 802.16e-2005 standard for local and metropolitan area networks, part 16: Air interface for fixed and mobile broadband wireless access systems. Technical report, IEEE 802.16 Working Group.
- 23. So-In C, Jain R & Tamimi A (2009) Scheduling in IEEE 802.16e mobile WiMAX networks: key issues and a survey. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications 27(2): 156–171.
- 24. Sternad M, Svensson T, Ottoson T, Ahlen A, Svensson A & Brunstrom A (2007) Towards systems beyond 3G based on adaptive OFDMA transmission. Proceedings of the IEEE 95(12): 2432–2455.
- 25. 3rd Generation Partnership Project (3GPP); Technical Specification Group Radio Access Network (2009) Requirements for further advancements for evolved universal terrestrial radio access (e-utra) (lte-advanced) (release 8). Technical report, 3rd Generation Partnership Project (3GPP).
- 26. Soldani D & Dixit S (2008) Wireless relays for broadband access. IEEE Communications Magazine 46(3): 58–66.
- 27. Peters S & Heath R (2009) The future of WiMAX: Multihop relaying with IEEE 802.16j. IEEE Communications Magazine 47(1): 104–111.
- Hayes JF (1968) Adaptive feedback communications. IEEE Transactions on Communication Technology COM-16(1): 29–34.
- 29. Hanzo L, Wong C & Yee M (2002) Adaptive Wireless Transceivers. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- 30. Goldsmith A & Varaiva P (1997) Capacity of fading channels with channel side information. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 43(6): 1986–1992.
- 31. Goldsmith A & Chua SG (1997) Variable-rate variable-power MQAM for fading channels. IEEE Transactions on Communications 45(10): 1218–1230.
- Chung S & Goldsmith AJ (2001) Degrees of freedom in adaptive modulation: A 32.unified view. IEEE Transactions on Communications 49(9): 1561–1571. Webb WT & Steele R (1995) Variable rate QAM for mobile radio. IEEE
- 33. Transactions on Communications 43(7): 2223–2230.
- 34. Hanzo L, Webb W & Keller T (2000) Single- and Multi-carrier Quadrature Amplitude Modulation. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- 35. Bingham JAC (1990) Multicarrier modulation for data transmission: an idea whose time has come. IEEE Communications Magazine 28(5): 5–14. Telebit Corporation, USA.
- 36. van Nee R & Prasad R (2000) OFDM Wireless Multimedia Communications. Artech House, London.
- 37. Czylwik A (1996) Adaptive OFDM for wideband radio channels. Proceedings of the IEEE Global Telecommunication Conference. London, England, vol. 1, 713-718.
- 38. Keller T & Hanzo L (2000) Adaptive multicarrier modulation: A convenient framework for time-frequency processing in wireless communications. Proceedings of the IEEE 88(5): 611-640.
- 39. Keller T & Hanzo L (2000) Adaptive modulation techniques for duplex OFDM transmission. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology 49(5): 1893–1906.

- 40. Paulraj AJ & Papadias CB (1997) Space-time processing for wireless communications. IEEE Signal Processing Magazine 14(6): 49–83.
- 41. Gesbert D, Shafi M, Shiu D, Smith PJ & Naguib A (2003) From theory to practice: An overview of MIMO space-time coded wireless systems. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications 21(3): 281–302.
- 42. Telatar IE (1999) Capacity of multi-antenna gaussian channels. European Transactions on Telecommunications 10(6): 585–595.
- Foschini G (Aug. 1996) Layered space-time architecture for wireless communication in a fading environment when using multi-element antennas. Bell Labs Technical Journal : 41–59.
- 44. Foschini GJ & Gans MJ (1998) On limits of wireless communications in a fading environment when using multiple antennas. Wireless Personal Communications, Kluwer Academic Publishers 6: 311–335.
- 45. Alamouti S (1998) A simple transmit diversity technique for wireless communications. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications 16(8): 1451–1458.
- 46. Tarokh V, Seshadri N & Calderbank AR (1998) Space-time codes for high data rate wireless communication: Performance criterion and code construction. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 44(2): 744–765.
- 47. Tarokh V, Jafarkhani H & Calderbank AR (1999) Space-time block codes from orthogonal designs. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 45(5): 1456–1467.
- Zheng L & Tse DNC (2003) Diversity and multiplexing: A fundamental tradeoff in multiple-antenna channels. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 49(5): 1073–1096.
- Raleigh GG & Cioffi JM (1998) Spatio-temporal coding for wireless communication. IEEE Transactions on Communications 46(3): 357–366.
- Paulraj AJ, Gore DA, Nabar RU & Bolcskei H (2004) An overview of MIMO communications — A key to gigabit wireless. Proceedings of the IEEE 92(2): 198–218.
- Codreanu M, Tujkovic D & Latva-aho M (2004) Adaptive MIMO-OFDM with low signalling overhead for unbalanced antenna systems. Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor, and Mobile Radio Communications. Barcelona, Spain, vol. 4, 2382–2386.
- 52. Love DJ, Heath RW, Lau V, Gesbert D, Rao B & Andrews M (2008) An overview of limited feedback in wireless communication systems. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications 26(8): 1341 – 1365.
- 53. Blum RS & Winters JH (2002) An optimum MIMO with antenna selection. IEEE Communications Letters 6(8): 322–324.
- Sanayei S & Nosratinia A (2004) Antenna selection in MIMO systems. IEEE Transactions on Magnetics 42(10): 68 – 73.
   Chen Z, Yuan J & Vucetic B (2007) Analysis of transmit antenna
- Chen Z, Yuan J & Vucetic B (2007) Analysis of transmit antenna selection/maximal-ratio combining in Rayleigh fading channels. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology 6(1): 46–49.
- 56. Sanayei S & Nosratinia A (2007) Capacity of MIMO channels with antenna selection. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 53(11): 4356–4362.
- Love DJ, Heath RW & Strohmer T (2003) Grassmannian beamforming for multipleinput multiple-output wireless systems. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 49(10): 2735–2747.
- 58. Sanayei S & Nosratinia A (2007) Opportunistic beamforming with limited feedback. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications 6(8): 2765 2771.
- Choi J, Mondal B & Heath R (2006) Interpolation based unitary precoding for spatial multiplexing MIMO-OFDM with limited feedback. IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing 54(12): 4730 – 4740.
- 60. Cover T & Gamal À (1979) Capacity theorems for the relay channel. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 25(5): 572Ũ–584.
- 61. Sendonaris A, Erkip E & Aazhang B (2003) User cooperation diversity-part I: System description. IEEE Transactions on Communications 51(11): 1927–1938.
- 62. Sendonaris A, Erkip E & Aazhang B (2003) User cooperation diversity-part

II: Implementation aspects and performance analysis. IEEE Transactions on Communications 51(11): 1939–1948. 63. Nosratinia A, Hunter T & Hedayat A (2004) Cooperative communication in

- wireless networks. IEEE Communications Magazine 42(10): 74-80.
- 64. Laneman JN, Tse DNC & Wornell GW (2004) Cooperative diversity in wireless networks: Efficient protocals and outage behavior. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 50(12): 3062–3080.
- 65. Ng M & Yu W (2007) Joint optimization of relay strategies and resource allocations in cooperative cellular networks. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications 25(2): 328 - 339.
- 66. Li G & Liu H (2006) Resource allocation for OFDMA relay networks with fairness constraints. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications 24(11): 2061 – 2069.
- 67. Knopp R & Humblet P (1995) Information capacity and power control in single cell multiuser communications. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Communications. Seattle, Washington, vol. 1, 331 – 335.
- 68. Wong C, Cheng R, Letaief K & Murch R (1999) Multiuser OFDM with adaptive subcarrier, bit, and power allocation. IEEÉ Journal on Selected Areas in Communications 17(10): 1747-1758.
- 69. Svedman P, Wilson SK, Cimini LJ & Ottersten B (2007) Opportunistic beamforming and scheduling for OFDMA systems. IEEE Transactions on Communications 55(5): 941-952.
- 70. Ergen M, Coleri S & Varaiya P (2003) QoS aware adaptive resource allocation techniques for fair scheduling in OFDMA based broadband wireless access systems. IEEE Transactions on Broadcasting 49(4): 362–370.
- 71. Kim H & Han Y (2005) A proportional fair scheduling for multicarrier transmission systems. IEEE Communications Letters 9(3): 210–212.
- Nguyen TD & Han Y (2007) A proportional fairness algorithm wit QoS provision in downlink OFDMA systems. IEEE Communications Letters 10(11): 760 762.
   Gross J, Geerdes HF, Karl H & Wolisz A (2006) Performance analysis of dynamic
- OFDMA systems with inband signaling. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications 24(3): 427-436.
- 74. Eriksson T & Ottoson T (2007) Compression of feedback for adaptive transmission and scheduling. Proceedings of the  $\hat{I} \in \mathbb{E} = 95(12)$ : 2314 - 2321.
- 75. Al-Harthi Y, Tewfik AH & Alouini MS (2007) Multiuser diversity with quantized feedback. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications 6(1): 330–337.
- 76. Lau APT & Kschischang FR (2007) Feedback quantization strategies for multiuser diversity systems. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 53(4): 1386–1400.
- Sanayei S & Nosratinia A (2005) Exploiting multiuser diversity with only 1-bit 77. feedback. Proceedings of the IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference. New Orleans LA, USA, 978 – 983.
- 78. Somekh O, Simeone O, Haimovich AM & Bar-Ness Y (2007) Sum-rate analysis of downlink channels with 1-bit feedback. IEEE Communications Letters 11(2): 137 - 139.
- 79. Sanayei S & Nosratinia A (2007) Opportunistic downlink transmission with limited feedback. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 53(11): 4363 - 4372.
- 80. Xue Y & Kaiser T (2007) Exploiting multiuser diversity with imperfect one-bit channel state feedback. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology 56(1): 183 - 193.
- 81. Gesbert D & Alouini MS (2004) How much feedback is multi-user diversity really worth. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Communications. Paris, France, 234 – 238.
- 82. Gesbert D & Alouini MS (2003) Selective multi-user diversity. Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory. Yokohama, Japan, 162 – 165.
- 83. Hassel V, Gesbert D, Alouini M & Oien G (2007) A threshold-based channel state feedback algorithm for modern cellular systems. IEEE Transactions on

Wireless Communications 6(7): 2422–2426.

- 84. Tang T & Heath R (2005) Opportunistic feedback for downlink multiuser diversity. IEEE Communications Letters 9(10): 948 950.
- 85. Park SY, Park D & Love D (2007) On scheduling for multiple-antenna wireless networks using contention-based feedbacks. IEEE Transactions on Communications 55(6): 1174 1190.
- Tang T, Heath R, Cho S & Yun S (2007) Opportunistic feedback for multiuser MIMO systems with linear receivers. IEEE Transactions on Communications 55(5): 1020 – 1032.
- Viswanath P, Tse DNC & Laroia R (2002) Opportunistic beamforming using dumb antennas. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 48(6): 1277–1294.
- 88. Kobayashi M, Gaire G & Gesbert D (2007) Transmit diversity versus opportunistic beamforming in data packet mobile downlink transmission. IEEE Transactions on Communications 55(1): 151 157.
- 89. Sharma N & Ozarow LH (2005) A study of opportunism for multiple antenna systems. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 51(5): 1804–1814.
- 90. Žhang X, Lv Z & Wang W (2008) Performance analysis of multiuser diversity in MIMO systems with antenna selection. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications 7(1): 15–21.
- 91. Wei N, Pokhariyal A, Sorensen T, Kolding T & Mogensen P (2008) Performance of spatial division multiplexing MIMO with frequency domain packet scheduling: From theory to practice. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications 26(6): 890–900.
- 92. Sharif M & Hassibi B (2005) On the capacity of MIMO broadcast channels with partial side information. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 51(2): 506–522.
- 93. Wei N, Pokhariyal A, Sorensen TB, Kolding TE & Mogensen PE (2007) Mitigating signaling requirements for MIMO with frequency domain scheduling. Proceedings of the IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference. Dublin, Ireland, 2771–2775.
- of the IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference. Dublin, Ireland, 2771–2775. 94. Heath R, Airy M & Paulraj A (2001) Multiuser diversity for MIMO wireless systems with linear receivers. Proceedings of the Annual Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems and Computers. Asilomar, USA, vol. 2, 1194–1199.
- 95. Ma Q & Tepedelenlioglu C (2005) Practical multiuser diversity with outdated channel feedback. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology 54(4): 1334–1345.
- 96. Ko Y, Ma Q & Tepedelenlioglu C (2007) Comparison of adaptive beamforming and orthogonal STBC with outdated feedback. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications 6(1): 20 25.
- 97. Hämäläinen J & Wichman R (2004) Performance of multiuser diversity in the presence of feedback errors. Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor, and Mobile Radio Communications. Barcelona, Spain, 599 – 603.
- Hämäläinen J & Wichman R (2006) Capacities of physical layer scheduling strategies on a shared link. Wireless Personal Communications, Kluwer Academic Publishers 39(1): 115 – 134.
- Toufik I & Kim H (2006) MIMO-OFDMA opportunistic beamforming with partial channel state information. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Communications. Istanbul, Turkey, vol. 12, 5389 – 5394.
- 100. Somekh O, Simeone O, Haimovich AM & Bar-Ness Y (2006) Sum-rate analysis of general OFDM downlink channels with 1-bit feedback per sub-carrier. Proceedings of the Conference on Information Sciences and Systems. Princeton, NJ, USA, 306–311.
- 101. Chen J, Berry RA & Honig ML (2006) Large system performance of downlink OFDMA with limited feedback. Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory. Seattle, Washington, USA, 1399–1403.
- 102. Kühne A & Klein A (2008) Throughput analysis of multi-user OFDMA-systems using imperfect CQI feedback and diversity techniques. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications 26(8): 1440–1450.

- 103. Jung BC, Ban TW, Choi W & Sung DK (2007) Capacity analysis of simple and opportunistic feedback schemes in OFDMA systems. Proc. IEEE International Symposium on Communications and Information Technologies. Sydney, Australia, 203–208.
- 104. Pedersen KI & et al (2007) Frequency domain scheduling for OFDMA with limited and noisy channel feedback. Proceedings of the IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference. Baltimore, USA, 1792 – 1796.
- 105. Agarwal R, Majjigi V, Han Z, Vannithamby R & Cioffi J (2008) Low complexity resource allocation with opportunistic feedback over downlink OFDMA networks. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications 26(8): 1462–1472.
- 106. Chen J, Berry R & Honig M (2008) Limited feedback schemes for downlink OFDMA based on sub-channel groups. IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications 26(8): 1451–1461.
- 107. Seo W, Cho M, Yu T & Hong D (2008) A new full-band feedback scheme using the adaptive grouping method in OFDMA systems. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications 7(2): 611-617.
- 108. Marques A, Giannakis GB, Digham F & Ramos FJ (2008) Power-efficient wireless OFDMA using limited-rate feedback. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications 7(2): 685–696.
- 109. Marques A, Giannakis GB, Digham F & Ramos FJ (2007) Minimizing power in wireless OFDMA with limited feedback. Proceedings of the IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference. Hong Kong, 1368–1372.
- 110. Chen J, Berry RA & Honig ML (2007) Performance of limited feedback schemes for downlink OFDMA with finite coherence time. Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory. Nice, France, 2751–2755.
- 111. Toufik I & Kountouris M (2006) Power allocation and feedback reduction for MIMO-OFDMA opportunistic beamforming. Proceedings of the IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference. Melbourne, Australia, vol. 5, 2568 – 2572.
- 112. Kovács IŽ, Pedersen KI, Kolding TÉ, Pokhariyal A & Kuusela M (2007) Effects of non-ideal channel feedback on dual-stream MIMO-OFDMA system performance. Proceedings of the IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference. Baltimore, USA, 1852 – 1856.
- 113. Agarwal R, Vannithamby R & Cioffi J (2008) Optimal allocation of feedback bits for downlink OFDMA systems. Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory. 1686–1690.
- 114. Agarwal R, Abhishek V, Vannithamby R & Cioffi J (2007) Opportunistic feedback in OFDMA downlink. Proceedings of the IEEE Global Telecommunication Conference. 3220–3224.
- 115. 3rd Generation Partnership Project (3GPP); Technical Specification Group Radio Access Network (2006) Overhead reduction of best-M based CQI reporting (R1-063086). Technical report, 3rd Generation Partnership Project (3GPP).
- 116. Choi YJ, Kim J & Bahk S (2006) QoS-aware selective feedback and optimal channel allocation in multiple shared channel environments. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications 5(11): 3278–3286.
- 117. Cho M, Seo W & Hong D (2007) A joint feedback reduction scheme using delta modulation for dynamic channel allocation in OFDMA systems. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications 6(1): 46–49.
- Svedman P, Hammarwall D & Ottersten B (2006) Sub-carrier SNR estimation at the transmitter for reduced feedback OFDMA. Proceedings of the European Signal Processing Conference. Florence, Italy, 1–5.
- Kim JB & Lee D (2008) Comparison of two SNR-based feedback schemes in multiuser dual-hop amplify-and-forward relaying networks. IEEE Communications Letters 12(8): 557–559.
- Siriwongpairat S, Sadek A & Liu K (2007) Cooperative communications protocol for multiuser ofdm networks. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications 7(7): 2430–2435.
- 121. Kaneko M & Popovski P (2007) Radio resource allocation algorithm for relay-aided

cellular OFDMA system. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Communications. Glasgow, Scotland, 4831–4836.

- 122. Kaneko M & Hayashi PPK (2009) Throughput-guaranteed resource-allocation algorithms for relay-aided cellular OFDMA system. IEEE Transactions on Communications 58(4): 1951–1964.
- 123. Riihonen T, Wichman R, Hämäläinen J & Hottinen A (2008) Analysis of subcarrier pairing in cellular OFDMA relay link. Proceedings of the ITG Workshop on Smart Antennas. Darmstadt, Germany, 104 111.
- 124. Sanayei S, Nosratinia A & Aldhahir N (2004) Opportunistic dynamic subchannel allocation in multiuser OFDM networks with limited feedback. Proceedings of the IEEE Information Theory Workshop. San Antonio, USA, 182 186.
- 125. Biglieri E, Proakis J & Shamai S (1998) Fading channels: Information-theoretic and communications aspects. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 44(6): 2619–2692.
- 126. Alouini MS & Goldsmith A (1999) Capacity of Rayleigh fading channels under different adaptive transmission and diversity-combining techniques. IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology 48(4): 1165–1181.
- 127. Maaref A & Aissa S (2004) Shannon capacity of STBC in Rayleigh fading channels. IEE Electronics Letters 40(13): 817 819.
- 128. Pande T, Love D & Krogmeier J (2007) Reduced feedback MIMO-OFDM precoding and antenna selection. IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing 55(5): 2284 – 2293.
- 129. Zhang H & Nabar R (2008) Transmit antenna selection in MIMO-OFDM systems: Bulk versus per-tone selection. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Communications. Beijing, China, vol. 1, 4371 – 4375.
- 130. Li P, Paul D & Cioffi RNJ (2006) On the distribution of SINR of the MMSE MIMO receiver and performance analysis. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory 52(1): 271–2286.
- 131. Vehkaperä M & Juntti M (2007) Analysis of space-time coded and spatially multiplexed MIMO systems with ZF receivers. Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Communications. Glasgow, Scotland, 738–743.
  132. Hämäläinen J & Wichman R (2004) Quantization of channel quality indicator in
- 132. Hämäläinen J & Wichman R (2004) Quantization of channel quality indicator in maximum SNR scheduling. Proceedings of the Nordic Radio Symposium. Oulu, Finland, 1–5.
- 133. Abramowitz M & Stegun I (1972) Handbook of Mathematical Functions. National Bureau of Standards, Washington DC.
- 134. Viswanath H & Venkatesan S (2004) The impact of antenna diversity in packet data systems with scheduling. IEEE Transactions on Communications 52(4): 546-549.
- 135. David HA (1970) Order Statistics. John Wiley & Sons, New York, USA.
- 136. Annalamai A & Tellambura C (2001) Error rates for Nakagami-m fading multichannel reception of binary and m-ary signals. IEEE Transactions on Communications 49(1): 58-68.
- 137. Hahn PM (1962) Theoretical diversity improvement in multiple frequency shift keying. IEEE Transactions on Communications 12(2): 177 184.
- 138. Irmer R & Diehm F (2008) On coverage and capacity of relaying in LTE-advanced in example deployments. Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor, and Mobile Radio Communications. Cannes, France, 1–5.
- 139. Parkvall S & et al (2008) LTE-advanced evolving LTE towards IMT-advanced. Proceedings of the IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference. Calgary, Canada, 1 – 5.
- 140. Hasna MO & Alouini MS (2004) A performance study of dual-hop transmissions with fixed gain relays. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications 4(6): 1963–1968.
- 141. 3rd Generation Partnership Project (3GPP); Technical Specification Group Radio Access Network (2007) LTE channel models draft (R4-070573 TP (36.803). Technical report, 3rd Generation Partnership Project (3GPP).

# Appendix 1 Useful integrals

In this Appendix, the closed-form expressions of useful integrals are derived in terms of the exponential integral  $E_1(a) = \int_a^\infty \frac{e^{-u}du}{u}$  and the complementary incomplete gamma function defined as  $\Gamma(t, x) = \int_x^\infty s^{t-1} e^{-s} ds$ ,  $x \ge 0$  [133].

An integral needed to derive capacity results in single hop systems is expressed as  $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma_n^{n}(x_n)$ 

$$\mathcal{I}_{1}(i,\gamma_{\mathrm{T}},\alpha) = \int_{\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}}^{\infty} \frac{\mathcal{P}_{2}^{i}(\alpha\gamma)}{1+\gamma} d\gamma, \qquad (167)$$

when the rate adaptation is based on the quantized SNR information and the MRC receiver with  $N_r = 2$  is applied. The capacity for the STBC scheme which is  $\mathcal{I}_1(1,0,N_t/\bar{\gamma})$  can be found in [127]. The function  $\mathcal{P}_2(\alpha x)$  can be expressed as  $(1 + \alpha \gamma)^i e^{-i\alpha \gamma} = \sum_{l=0}^i {i \choose l} (\alpha \gamma)^i e^{-i\alpha x}$  after the binomial expansion. It remains to integrate the formula

$$\mathcal{I}_{2}(i,\theta,\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}) = \int_{\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}}^{\infty} \frac{\gamma^{i} e^{-\theta\gamma}}{1+\gamma} d\gamma$$

$$= \int_{1+\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}}^{\infty} \frac{(t-1)^{i} e^{-\theta(t-1)}}{t} dt$$

$$= e^{\theta} \sum_{m=0}^{i} {i \choose m} (-1)^{i-m} \int_{1+\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}}^{\infty} t^{m-1} e^{-\theta t} dt,$$
(168)

where we have substituted  $t = 1 + \gamma$  for the first expression and then the binomial expansion. Using substitution  $s = \theta t$  we obtain

$$\mathcal{I}_2(i,\theta,\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}) = e^{\theta}(-1)^i E_1(\theta(1+\gamma_{\mathrm{T}})) + e^{\theta} \sum_{m=1}^i \binom{i}{m} (-1)^{i-m} \theta^{-m} \Gamma(m,\theta(1+\gamma_{\mathrm{T}})).$$
(169)

The capacity in (167) can be rewritten as

$$\mathcal{I}_1(i,\gamma_{\rm T},\alpha) = \sum_{l=0}^i \binom{i}{l} \alpha^i \mathcal{I}_2(i,i\alpha,\gamma_{\rm T}).$$
(170)

In several capacity derivations, we need the integral expressed as

$$\mathcal{I}_3(\alpha, a) = \int_a^\infty \frac{e^{-\alpha\gamma} d\gamma}{1+\gamma} = e^\alpha \int_{\alpha(1+a)}^\infty \frac{e^{-\gamma} d\gamma}{\gamma} = e^\alpha E_1(\alpha(1+a)).$$
(171)

119

# Appendix 2 Integrals for the analysis of relay enhanced link

Integrals needed in the capacity analysis of a relay enhanced link is derived in this appendix. We need to derive to integral expressed as

$$\mathcal{I}_{5}(\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}, i) = \int_{\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}}^{\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{SR}}} \frac{\left(\mathcal{P}_{2}\left(\frac{\alpha(\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{SR}}+1)\gamma}{\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{SR}}-\gamma}\right)\right)^{i}}{1+\gamma} ds.$$
(172)

Applying binomial expansion, the substitution  $t = \frac{\alpha(\tilde{\gamma}_{SR}+1)\gamma}{(\tilde{\gamma}_{SR}-\gamma)}$  and partial fraction decomposition to (172), after some calculus we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{5} = \int_{\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}}^{\infty} \sum_{j=0}^{i} {i \choose j} t^{j} e^{-it} \left( \frac{1}{\alpha+t} - \frac{1}{\alpha(\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{SR}}+1)+t} \right) dt$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{i} {i \choose j} \left( \mathcal{I}_{6}(\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}', j, i, \alpha) - \mathcal{I}_{6}(\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}', j, i, \alpha(\bar{\gamma}_{\mathrm{SR}}+1)) \right), \quad (173)$$

where  $\gamma'_{\rm T} = \frac{(\bar{\gamma}_{\rm SR}+1)\gamma_{\rm T}}{(\bar{\gamma}_{\rm SR}-\gamma_{\rm T})}$  and  $\mathcal{I}_6(\gamma'_{\rm T}, j, i, \alpha) = \int_{\gamma'_{\rm T}}^{\infty} t^j e^{-it} / (\alpha + t) dt$ . The second required integral  $\mathcal{I}_6$  can be expressed as

$$\mathcal{I}_{6}(\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}', j, i, \alpha) = e^{i\alpha}(-\alpha)^{j} E_{1}(i(\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}' + \alpha)) + e^{i\alpha} \sum_{m=1}^{i} {i \choose m} i^{-m} (-\alpha)^{i-m} \Gamma(m, i(\gamma_{\mathrm{T}}' + \alpha)),$$
(174)

after the substitution  $\gamma = \alpha + t$ , binomial expansion and the substitution  $x = \alpha \gamma$ .

- 319. Saari, Seppo (2009) Knowledge transfer to product development processes. A multiple case study in two small technology parks
- 320. Komulainen, Mikko (2009) Bandwidth enhanced antennas for mobile terminals and multilayer ceramic packages
- 321. Ronkanen, Anna-Kaisa (2009) Hydrologic and hydraulic processes in northern treatment peatlands and the significance for phosphorus and nitrogen removal
- 322. Liedes, Toni (2009) Improving the performance of the semi-active tuned mass damper
- 323. Marina Tyunina & Orest Vendik (Eds.) (2009) Proceedings of the 16th International Student Seminar "Microwave and optical applications of novel phenomena and technologies", June 8–9, Oulu, Finland
- 324. Belt, Pekka (2009) Improving verification and validation activities in ICT companies—product development management approach
- 325. Harri Haapasalo & Hanna Kropsu-Vehkaperä (Eds.) (2009) The 3rd Nordic Innovation Research Conference - NIR 2008—IEM Arctic Workshop
- 326. Selek, István (2009) Novel evolutionary methods in engineering optimizationtowards robustness and efficiency
- 327. Härkönen, Janne (2009) Improving product development process through verification and validation
- 328. Peiponen, Kai-Erik (2009) Optical spectra analysis of turbid liquids
- 329. Kettunen, Juha (2009) Essays on strategic management and quality assurance
- 330. Ahonen, Timo (2009) Face and texture image analysis with quantized filter response statistics
- 331. Uusipaavalniemi, Sari (2009) Framework for analysing and developing information integration. A study on steel industry maintenance service supply chain
- 332. Risikko, Tanja (2009) Safety, health and productivity of cold work. A management model, implementation and effects
- 334. Liimatainen, Henrikki (2009) Interactions between fibres, fines and fillers in papermaking. Influence on dewatering and retention of pulp suspensions
- 336. Möttönen, Matti (2009) Requirements engineering. Linking design and manufacturing in ICT companies

Book orders: OULU UNIVERSITY PRESS P.O. Box 8200, FI-90014 University of Oulu, Finland Distributed by OULU UNIVERSITY LIBRARY P.O. Box 7500, FI-90014 University of Oulu, Finland

### UNIVERSITY OF OULU P.O.B. 7500 FI-90014 UNIVERSITY OF OULU FINLAND

## ACTA UNIVERSITATIS OULUENSIS

#### SERIES EDITORS

# SCIENTIAE RERUM NATURALIUM

Professor Mikko Siponen

# HUMANIORA

University Lecturer Elise Kärkkäinen

# TECHNICA

Professor Hannu Heusala

MEDICA

Professor Helvi Kyngäs

## SCIENTIAE RERUM SOCIALIUM

Senior Researcher Eila Estola

### SCRIPTA ACADEMICA

Information officer Tiina Pistokoski

## OECONOMICA

University Lecturer Seppo Eriksson

### EDITOR IN CHIEF

University Lecturer Seppo Eriksson PUBLICATIONS EDITOR

Publications Editor Kirsti Nurkkala

ISBN 978-951-42-9245-3 (Paperback) ISBN 978-951-42-9246-0 (PDF) ISSN 0355-3213 (Print) ISSN 1796-2226 (Online)



